# The effect of dairy consumption with exercise and healthy eating on the metabolic profile in overweight/obese adolescent girls

by

Natalie Caetano Feitoza, BSc

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Applied Health Sciences (Kinesiology)

> Faculty of Applied Health Sciences Brock University St. Catharines, Ontario

> > © January, 2018

#### ABSTRACT

Childhood obesity is a major health concern. Strategies to reduce this condition, including lifestyle modification with exercise and healthy nutrition, can reduce disease risk. Canada's Food Guide (CFG) recommends a well balanced and healthy diet, however, children and adolescents are not meeting these recommendations, and this too is associated with poorer health. It has been proposed that the intake of dairy products can improve cardiometabolic risk factors in adults. However, research findings are inconsistent for dairy and cardiometabolic variables among adolescents. Therefore, this study aimed to determine the effect of dairy consumption, as part of a 12-week exercise and nutrition program, on fasting serum lipids (total cholesterol, LDL-c, HDL-c, triglycerides), insulin and glucose in overweight (OW) and obese (OB) adolescent girls. Twenty adolescents (10-18 years) were randomly assigned to two groups: recommended dairy (RDa, n=9) or low dairy (LDa, n=11). The RDa group consumed CFG's recommended servings of dairy (4 servings/d), and the LDa group consumed  $\leq$ 1 serving/d (reflecting habitual intakes). All participants followed an exercise program (three 60-minute sessions/wk) and a eucaloric weight management diet. There were no changes in the metabolic profile following the intervention, and no differences were seen between groups. Waist circumference (p=0.003) and fat mass (p<0.001) decreased and lean mass (p=0.01) increased after 12 weeks, with no differences between groups. Significant correlations were seen between body mass change and insulin change, waist circumference change and total cholesterol, insulin and HOMA-IR changes, and QUICKI change and body fat percent change. Further analysis with a larger sample size is required to determine the effect of increased dairy consumption as part of a lifestyle intervention on metabolic variables in OW/OB adolescent populations.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	vii
CHAPTER 1	1
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2	5
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	5
2.1 CHILDHOOD OVERWEIGHT AND OBESITY	5
2.1.1 Definition of Overweight and Obesity	5
2.1.2 Prevalence of Childhood Overweight and Obesity	7
2.1.3 Indicators of Overweight/Obesity and Health-Related Factors	9
2.1.4 Childhood Health Concerns related to Overweight and Obesity	12
2.1.5 Factors Leading to Childhood Overweight and Obesity	14
2.2 LIFESTYLE MODIFICATION DURING CHILDHOOD	15
2.2.1 The Role of Physical Activity and Health in Overweight/Obese (	hildren
	17
2.2.1.1 Physical Activity Guidelines	17
2.2.1.1. Physical Activity and Health	17
2.2.1.2. The Bole of Diet in Health	17
2.2.2 The Kole of Diet in Health 2.2.2.1 Distany Guidelines	10
2.2.2.1. Dietary Guidelines	10
2.2.2.2. Lijestyle Intervention	20
2.2.5 KUTS using Diet and Exercise to Improve Metadolic Variables	22
	27
2.3.1 Dairy Consumption and Nutrient Intake in Childhood	27
2.3.2 Milk and Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption	29
2.3.3 Dairy consumption and Cardiometabolic Variables	30
2.3.4 Mechanisms of Dairy consumption effects on Cardiometabolic V	ariables
	35
2.3.4.1 Calcium	36
2.3.4.2 Fatty Acids	38
2.3.4.3 Protein Bioactive Peptides	39
2.4 GLUCOSE	40
2.4.1 Hyperglycemia	42
2.4.2 Glucose Transporters	43
2.5 INSULIN	44
2.5.1 Insulin Resistance	45
2.5.2 Insulin and Lipid Metabolism	47
2.5.3 Assessing Insulin Resistance and Insulin Sensitivity	50
2.6 LIPIDS	51
2.6.1 Lipid Transport and Delivery	52
2.6.2 The Role of Dyslinidemia. Obesity and Development of CVD	53
2.7 ORIECTIVES AND HYPOTHESES	56
	_
CHAPTER 3	58

METHODS	58
3.1 Study Design	58
3.2 Participants, Recruitment, Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria	58
3.3 Procedures and Consent Process	59
3.4 Diet and Exercise Intervention for 12 Weeks	60
3.4.1. Diet Intervention	60
3.4.2. Exercise Training Intervention	62
3.5 Measurements	62
3.5.1 Anthropometry and Body Composition	62
3.5.2 Biochemical Analysis	63
3.5.3 Calculations	64
3.6 Statistical Analysis	65
3.6.1 Sample size justification	65
CHAPTER 4	67
RESULTS	67
4.1 Descriptive Characteristics	67
4.2 Anthropometrics, Body Composition and Nutrition	69
4.3 Metabolic Variables	71
4.4 Correlations	72
CHAPTER 5	74
DISCUSSION	74
5.1 Insulin & Glucose	78
5.2 Insulin Sensitivity & Resistance	84
5.3 Lipids	85
5.4 Anthropometric and Body Composition Changes	88
5.5 Strengths & Limitations	91
5.6 Implications and Future Directions	93
5.7 Conclusion	95
REFERENCES	96
APPENDICES	114
Appendix A – Ethics Clearance	114

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. BMI percentile classification for children aged 5 to 19 (39)
Table 2.Tabulated body fat percentile values by exact age (58)10
Table 3. LMS Parameters for waist circumference and waist:height ratio for 5-19 years
children (67)12
Table 4. Canada's Food Guide recommendations for children and teenagers in servings
per day. Retrieved from (13)19
Table 5. RCTs using lifestyle modification with lipid and glucose homeostasis
outcomes25
Table 6. Studies examining Dairy consumption and Cardiometabolic Health in Children
and Adolescents. Note: Kelishadi et al., (2009) is the only RCT
Table 7. Fasting blood glucose for children and adolescents. Retrieved from (166)41
Table 8. Acceptable, borderline, and high plasma lipid concentrations (mmol/L) for
children and adolescents. Adapted from (115)55
Table 9. Baseline Characteristics of the two intervention groups presented as mean $\pm$
standard deviation
Table 10. Anthropometrics, body composition measures and dietary intake in both
groups pre-intervention and post-intervention70
Table 11. Fasting blood values in both groups pre-intervention and post-intervention.
Table 12. Correlations between the change values in all study participants (n=20)72

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. BMI-for-age percentile. 2 to 19 years for girls (25)6
Figure 2. BMI-for-age percentile. 2 to 19 years for boys (26)7
Figure 3. Complications associated with childhood obesity. Image obtained by dual
energy x-ray absorptiometry from an obese teenage girl. Adapted from (1)13
Figure 4. The effect of low dietary calcium on the modulation of adiposity. Adapted
from (136)
Figure 5. Blood-glucose regulation. Blood-glucose levels are regulated by insulin and
glucagon (47)42
Figure 6. Development of Type 2 Diabetes. Adapted from (47)46
Figure 7. Storing and recovering energy from fat. Insulin mediate the action of the
enzymes lipoprotein lipase and hormone-sensitive lipase to store and remove
triglycerides in adipose tissue, respectively. Retrieved from (47)48
Figure 8. Lipid transport. Retrieved from (47)53
Figure 9. Relationship between HOMA-IR change and body mass change of study
participants, r = 0.53, p = 0.02 (n=20)73
Figure 10. Relationship between HOMA-IR change and waist circumference change of
study participants, $r = 0.46$ , $p = 0.04$ (n=20)73
Figure 11. Fasting insulin concentrations at baseline and at week 12 for each participant
in the RDa group (numbers in x-axis represent the individual participant numbers).
Each bar corresponds to a participant at baseline and at week 12. Baseline in light
bars and post-study in dark bars79
Figure 12. Fasting insulin concentrations at baseline and at week 12 for each participant
in the LDa group (numbers in x-axis represent the individual participant numbers).
Each bar corresponds to a participant at baseline and at week 12. Baseline in light
bars and post-study in dark bars80

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALA - Alpha Linoleic Acid BMI - Body Mass Index CCHS - Canadian Community Health Survey CDA - Canadian Diabetes Association CDC – Centers for Disease and Control CLA - Conjugated Linoleic Acid CSEP – Canadian Society of Exercise and Physiology CSFII - Continuing Survey of Food Intake by Individuals CVD - Cardiovascular Disease FAS – Fatty Acid Synthase FFAs - Free Fatty Acids FM – Fat Mass FR – Food Record GLUT - Glucose Transporter Protein HDL-c - High Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol HOMA-IR - Homeostatic Model Assessment - Insulin Resistance HSL - Hormone Sensitive Lipase IDF - International Diabetes Federation LDa – Low Dairy Group LDL-c – Low Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol LPL - Lipoprotein Lipase MetS - Metabolic Syndrome NCHS - National Center for Health Statistics NHANES - National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey OB – Obese OW - Overweight PTH - Parathyroid Hormone RCT - Randomized Controlled Trial RDa - Recommended Dairy Group Sd-LDL - Small Density Low Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol SSB - Sugar Sweetened Beverages Svgs/d - Servings/day T2D – Type 2 Diabetes TC - Total Cholesterol TGs - Triglycerides VLDL - Very Low Density Lipoprotein TV – Television

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Excess weight in children and adolescents is a growing concern across the world. This is mostly due to the comorbidities (e.g., type 2 diabetes, hypertension, metabolic syndrome) which may develop during this time, and may remain into adulthood (1). Some overweight (OW) and obese (OB) children/adolescents present with cardiometabolic risk factors such as reduced high-density-lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c), and increased triglycerides (TGs), total cholesterol (TC) and low-density-lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-c), as well as impaired glucose control (imbalance between insulin and glucose) (2).

Lifestyle modification has been shown to be an appropriate approach to reduce childhood obesity and related disorders (1,3,4). It includes the implementation of regular physical activity, healthy dietary patterns and behavioural change for the child and, preferably, for the entire family (5). A healthy dietary pattern is the consumption of a nutritious, balanced diet containing all food groups in the appropriate amounts according to Canadian Pediatric Guidelines (6), the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (7) and Canada's Food Guide (8). Multidisciplinary interventions (combining physical activity, healthy diet and behavioural support) for childhood obesity treatment have been shown to improve cardiometabolic risk factors, such as dyslipidemia, insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome (2,5,9–11).

Dairy foods are excellent sources of macronutrients (protein, carbohydrates, fat) and micronutrients (e.g. calcium and vitamin D) that are important for childhood nutrition because they have been shown to improve several facets of growth and development (12). However, consumption of dairy products is generally low among Canadian youth, with 83% of girls' age 10-16 years not consuming the recommended minimum intake of 3 servings/day (svgs/d) (13). Different studies have suggested that milk and/or dairy product intake is associated with a lower risk of central adiposity in children, adolescents and adults (14,15). However, only a few studies have investigated the relationship between dairy intake and cardiometabolic variables, including cross-sectional studies (16–20) and one randomized controlled trial (RCT) (21), in OW and OB children/adolescents. Kelishadi et al. investigated dairy and cardiometabolic risk factors in young, OB children in a RCT (21). They examined different levels of dairy intake in 120 pre-pubertal, OB children (5-6 years old) for 3 years, with the first 6 months involving monthly family-centered educations sessions about healthy lifestyle for all participants, and the remaining 30 months being observational. The participants were assigned to three groups, a dairy-rich diet (>800mg calcium/d) with no change in macronutrient intake (children were advised to consume low-fat and regular milk, yogurt, cheese, solid and liquid curd), a calorierestricted diet (-500kcal/d; with habitual/no added dairy intake), and a control group (no additional recommendations other than the educational sessions). In all groups, TGs, fasting insulin, HDL-c and homeostatic assessment model insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) improved after the 6-month trial without significant differences between groups (21).

Evidence in adults suggests that dairy foods have a protective effect on cardiometabolic biomarkers mediated by natural dietary components and nutrients

found in dairy such as calcium (22–28), bioactive peptides derived from milk protein (29), and the unsaturated fatty acids present in milk fat (30). These nutrients may improve or, at least, not increase cardiometabolic risk *via* mechanisms relating to the improved satiety response, reduction of body fat and regulation of glucose homeostasis (22,29,30).

It is currently unknown whether exercise training and high dairy consumption, as part of a healthy eating and exercise program can positively affect glucose, insulin and blood lipids in OW/OB adolescent females. It is known that exercise increases energy expenditure and improves cardiometabolic variables in children and adolescents (31,32). However, it is not known whether dairy consumption can affect these metabolic variables in adolescents. Insofar as other variables are concerned, only two studies, in normal weight youth, have investigated dairy consumption (33) or calcium supplementation (34) plus exercise, demonstrating a positive effect on bone mineral density in boys and girls, respectively (33,34), and no effect on body composition (33).

The Improving Diet, Exercise and Lifestyle (IDEAL) for Adolescents Study forms the basis of this thesis. It is a RCT in OW/OB adolescent girls designed to assess the effect of adequate levels of dairy consumption on a background of healthy dietary advice and exercise, with the primary outcomes of bone turnover and body composition. It is similar to a study by Volek et al., who investigated the effects of exercise along with dairy consumption on body composition and bone in male adolescents (13-17 years) (33). Volek et al demonstrated that after 12 weeks of resistance training (3x/week) and milk intake (3 svgs/d), male adolescents had significant improvements in whole body bone mineral density, but not body composition. In addition, the IDEAL Study was also modeled from previous research

by Josse et al., in which increased dairy and protein consumption was investigated along with energy restriction and exercise in OW/OB young women for 16 weeks (35). Participants were divided in three groups, low dairy, medium dairy and high dairy (high protein). They found that the combination of dairy plus a mixed exercise program plus energy restriction induced weight loss and showed significant positive effects on bone health biomarkers and body composition compared to the group without dairy. Cardiometabolic variables were also investigated in this study showing that TGs, TC and LDL-c were significantly reduced in the low dairy and high dairy groups (not in the medium dairy group), and insulin levels were decreased in the medium dairy group. Thus, the IDEAL for Adolescents Study was designed to start to fill the gaps in the literature, and investigate the benefits of exercise with increased dairy primarily on bone health and body composition, and secondarily on cardiometabolic variables. No previous studies have investigated different intakes of dairy as part of a lifestyle modification intervention in OW/OB youth. Therefore, the purpose of this thesis was to investigate whether increased consumption of dairy, as part of a lifestyle modification program including exercise training and healthy eating (diet based on weight maintenance), would affect the metabolic variables in OW/OB adolescent girls after 12 weeks. The current study is the first to use such an approach of lifestyle modification with different quantities of dairy consumption to assess the effect on blood lipids and glucose homeostasis in OW and OB adolescent girls.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### 2.1 CHILDHOOD OVERWEIGHT AND OBESITY

#### 2.1.1 Definition of Overweight and Obesity

The basis for a general definition and diagnosis of OW and obesity is the body mass index (BMI), defined by the calculation of weight in kilograms divided by the height in meters squared (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (36). Specific for children, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention established growth charts based on sex and BMI-for-age (37); where the child's calculated BMI (kg/m2) is plotted onto the chart with the child's age. The point located on the chart where BMI and age meet is the child's BMI percentile (Figure 1 and Figure 2). The score on the growth chart indicates whether the child is underweight, healthy weight, OW or OB (Table 1)(38). School-aged children and youth (aged 5-19 years) whose BMI is greater than the 85<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered OW, and those whose BMI is above the 97<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered OB; younger children (aged 2-5 years) must be over the 97<sup>th</sup> percentile to be considered OW, and more than the 99.9<sup>th</sup> percentile to be considered OB (38).

Classification	BMI percentile
Risk for underweight	Below 3 <sup>rd</sup>
Normal weight	$3^{th} - 84.9^{th}$
Overweight	$85^{th} - 96.9^{th}$
Obese	$97^{th} - 99.8^{th}$
Severely obese	Above 99.9 <sup>th</sup>

*Table 1. BMI percentile classification for children aged 5 to 19 (39)* 

#### WHO GROWTH CHARTS FOR CANADA

#### 🛉 GIRLS



Figure 1. BMI-for-age percentile. 2 to 19 years for girls (25)

WHO GROWTH CHARTS FOR CANADA

#### BOYS

2 TO 19 YEARS: BOYS NAME Body mass index-for-age percentiles DOB: RECORD # WEIGHT AGE HEIGHT COMMENTS MTE BMI 99 9 olos/calculator available at www.whogrowthoharts.sa BMI: Weight (kg) + Height (cm) + Height (cm) × 10,000 OR Weight (lb) + Height (in) + Height (in) × 703 "To C BMI 3 = BMI BMI AGE (YEARS Figure 2. BMI-for-age percentile. 2 to 19 years for boys (26)

#### 2.1.2 Prevalence of Childhood Overweight and Obesity

The prevalence of OW and obesity among children, adolescents and adults worldwide has risen dramatically over the last decade (39). More than 1.9 billion adults (aged 18 years and older) worldwide were classified as OW in 2014. Among these, 600 million adults were classified as OB. According to the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), one quarter of Canadian adults are OB, while in the United States, the number is up to one third of the adult population being OB (40). The recent Canadian Health Measures Survey (2009-2013) reported obesity prevalence among children and adolescents aged 3 to 19 years at 13%. In the United States, the prevalence of obesity among 3 to 19 year olds was reported as 17.5% from 2009 to 2012 (40). According to Peirson et al., almost one-third (31.5%) of the elementary and secondary school-aged children in Canada are OW or OB, indicating that treatment and prevention of childhood obesity should be high priority for Canadian Public Health (41).

Childhood OW/OB prevalence is alarming because metabolic changes and their consequences, normally observed only in the adults, are now observed in younger individuals (42). Its impact on morbidity, mortality and quality of life has made childhood obesity a great public health concern (10). In children and adolescents, obesity is the most common cause of increased cardiovascular risk factors, including dyslipidemia (high plasma TGs and low levels of HDL-c), insulin resistance (impaired insulin-mediated glucose uptake in peripheral tissues) and hypertension (1). Metabolic syndrome (MetS) has also been observed in children, which is characterized by the presence of different combinations of cardiometabolic risk factors including hypertension, impaired fasting glucose, increased TGs, low HDL-c and increased waist circumference (43). The prevalence of MetS among Canadian children and adolescents is 2.1%, which corresponds to approximately 64,832 individuals (44). The prevalence of one or more of these risk factors among Canadian youth is 37.7% (44). The probability of MetS occurrence increases with obesity, and age is one of the most important predictors (45). Thus, children and adolescents with one or more risk factor may be at an increased risk for the development of MetS, thus, increasing their risk for chronic disease as adults (45). According to Johnson et al., the most prevalent risk factors for MetS among youth are abdominal obesity, increased TGs and decreased HDL-c (46). The International Diabetes Federation (IDF) considers abdominal obesity as a definite prerequisite for MetS given that it is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and an independent predictor of insulin resistance, abnormal lipid concentrations and high blood pressure (47,48).

Childhood obesity, low physical activity, poor fitness level, poor quality diet and cardiometabolic complications are known to track into adulthood and predict premature death (49,50). Thus, successful prevention and treatment of obesity in childhood could reduce the incidence of metabolic disorders in adulthood, thus improving long-term health outcomes in our population (51,52).

#### 2.1.3 Indicators of Overweight/Obesity and Health-Related Factors

Although BMI has been widely used as a screening tool and risk factor for several metabolic conditions that arise because of excess body mass, it should only be considered as an approximate reflection of adiposity (53). BMI is only a calculation of total body mass and height, and it does not distinguish the difference between body fat, muscle and water content (54). Thus, it may be misleading in the classification of children with above-average lean muscle mass, above-average height or with excess body fat leading to obesity (55,56). Childhood health risks can also be assessed by examining body composition. Generally, body composition measures are percent total body fat (%BF), fat mass (FM) (kg) and lean mass (LM) (kg). Body fat for children and adolescents may vary depending on age, sex and pubertal development (57). There is no clear cut-off point of %BF in this age group, however, Rodriguez et al. suggested a range for excess %BF between 30-35% for females and 25-30% for male adolescents aged 10-15 years, and 20-25% for 16-18 years (58). McCarthy proposed a chart for body fat percentile values by age based on 1,985 Caucasian children aged 5-18 years in the UK showed in Table 2 (57).

	Centile								
Years	2	9	25	50	75	85	91	95	98
Boys									
5.0	12.2	13.1	14.2	15.6	17.4	18.6	19.8	21.4	23.6
6.0	12.4	13.3	14.5	16.0	18.0	19.5	20.9	22.7	25.3
7.0	12.6	13.6	14.9	16.5	18.8	20.4	22.0	24.1	27.2
8.0	12.7	13.8	15.2	17.0	19.5	21.3	23.1	25.5	29.1
9.0	12.8	14.0	15.5	17.5	21.2	22.2	24.2	26.8	31.0
10.0	12.8	14.1	15.7	17.8	20.7	22.8	25.0	27.9	32.4
11.0	12.6	13.9	15.4	17.7	20.8	23.0	25.3	28.3	32.9
12.0	12.1	13.4	15.1	17.4	20.4	22.7	25.0	27.9	32.2
13.0	11.5	12.8	14.5	16.8	19.8	22.0	24.2	27.0	31.0
14.0	10.9	12.3	14.0	16.2	19.2	21.3	23.3	25.9	29.5
15.0	10.4	11.8	13.6	15.8	18.7	20.7	22.6	25.0	28.2
16.0	10.1	11.5	13.3	15.5	18.4	20.3	22.1	24.3	27.2
17.0	9.8	11.3	13.1	15.4	18.3	20.1	21.8	23.9	26.5
18.0	9.6	11.2	13.1	15.4	18.3	20.1	21.7	23.6	25.9
Girls									
5.0	13.8	15.0	16.4	18.0	20.1	21.5	22.8	24.3	26.3
6.0	14.4	15.7	17.2	19.1	21.5	23.0	24.5	26.2	28.4
7.0	14.9	16.3	18.1	20.2	22.8	24.5	26.1	28.0	30.5
8.0	15.3	16.9	18.9	21.2	24.1	26.0	27.7	29.7	32.4
9.0	15.7	17.5	19.6	22.1	25.2	27.2	29.0	31.2	33.9
10.0	16.0	17.9	20.1	22.8	26.0	28.2	30.1	32.2	35.0
11.0	16.1	18.1	20.4	23.3	26.6	28.8	30.7	32.8	35.6
12.0	16.1	18.2	20.7	23.5	27.0	29.1	31.0	33.1	35.8
13.0	16.1	18.3	20.8	23.8	27.2	29.4	31.2	33.3	25.9
14.0	16.0	18.3	20.9	24.0	27.5	29.6	31.5	33.6	36.1
15.0	15.7	18.2	21.0	24.1	27.7	29.9	31.7	33.8	36.3
16.0	15.5	18.1	21.0	24.3	27.9	30.1	32.0	34.1	36.5
17.0	15.1	17.9	21.0	24.4	28.2	30.4	32.3	34.4	36.8
18.0	14.7	17.7	21.0	24.6	28.5	30.8	32.7	34.8	37.2

*Table 2.Tabulated body fat percentile values by exact age (58)* 

The 2nd, 85th and 95th centiles define the cutoffs for underfat, overfat and obese.

Other assessments have been used to predict disease risk in children and adolescents, such as waist circumference and waist-to-height ratio (waist:height ratio). In recent years, waist circumference has markedly risen among youth (14), and has been seen as a strong risk factor for insulin resistance, high blood pressure, CVD, dyslipidemia and MetS in this population (14,57,59). Thus, increased waist circumference is related with these disorders because it is associated with increased visceral adiposity (VAT) and subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT). VAT surrounds the internal organs in the abdomen (i.e. liver, kidneys, heart, intestines, etc.), while SAT is located externally to the organs (i.e. around the appendages and over the muscles) (60). The rate at which free fatty acids (FFAs) are released in the circulation is increased with the greater amount of adipose tissue in men and women (61). VAT is more metabolically adverse than SAT. This is because VAT secretes more proinflammatory cells and disturbs organ function to a greater extent than SAT (60). Thus, both SAT and VAT, but mainly VAT contribute to the delivery of FFAs to the liver, which are then synthesized into TGs and secreted into the circulation as very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) and taken up by other tissues or stored in the liver (62). The increased levels of FFAs in the systemic circulation lead to a variety of metabolic disorders, such as obesity, insulin resistance and hypertension (62).

Studies have shown that increased body mass and central (or abdominal) adiposity is associated with cardiometabolic conditions, such as type 2 diabetes (T2D) and CVD (59,63,64). BMI is used as an assessment of body mass relative to height, and waist circumference or related indexes (such as waist: height or waist:hip ratios) as a surrogate measure of abdominal obesity (63,65). Freedman et al. compared the relationship of BMI-for-age and waist:height ratio to lipids, fasting insulin and blood pressure in 2,498 youths 5-17 years from the Bogalusa Heart Study (63). They concluded that the ability to identify children and adolescents with disease risk factors is similar whether you use BMI-for-age or waist:height ratio (63). Freedman et al. also observed that children with high waist:height ratio had higher levels of LDL-c and TC:HDL-c, and those with a greater BMI-for-age had higher levels of fasting insulin (63), which indicates that these measures are associated with cardiometabolic parameters and disease risk. Therefore, there is consistent evidence that BMI and waist circumference are related to CVD risk factors among children and adolescents (59,63,66,67). However, there are no determined cut-offs for waist circumference to predict health risk in children and adolescents. Sharma et al. proposed a table with

cut-offs for waist circumference and waist:height ratio by age for children and adolescents based on data from the US National Health and Nutrition Survey, cycle III (NHANES III, n=11,930 aged 2-24 years 1988-1994) (Table 3) (66). Other authors also proposed to choose a high waist circumference cut-off, such as  $90^{th} - 95^{th}$ percentile (female > 80cm and male >94cm) (67–69) to signify increased risk, based on waist circumference measures taken from the midpoint between the lowest rib and iliac crest or just above the uppermost lateral borders of the right ilium (68).

	Waist circumference							Waist-	height			
		Boys			Girls			Boys			Girls	
Age	L	M (cm)	S	L	м	S	L	М	S	L	м	S
5	-2.96	52.3	0.080	-2.52	52.3	0.090	-2.88	0.483	0.078	-2.16	0.486	0.087
6	-3.07	54.2	0.087	-2.53	54.2	0.097	-2.91	0.474	0.084	-2.13	0.477	0.094
7	-3.14	56.1	0.093	-2.53	56.2	0.103	-2.94	0.466	0.091	-2.09	0.470	0.100
8	-3.20	58.1	0.099	-2.51	58.2	0.109	-2.97	0.460	0.096	-2.06	0.464	0.106
9	-3.23	60.0	0.104	-2.48	60.2	0.115	-2.99	0.454	0.101	-2.03	0.459	0.112
10	-3.23	62.0	0.109	-2.44	62.2	0.120	-3.01	0.450	0.106	-2.01	0.456	0.117
11	-3.21	64.0	0.113	-2.40	64.2	0.124	-3.02	0.447	0.110	-2.00	0.454	0.121
12	-3.17	66.0	0.117	-2.35	66.2	0.128	-3.02	0.444	0.114	-2.00	0.453	0.125
13	-3.11	68.0	0.119	-2.29	68.2	0.132	-3.00	0.443	0.116	-2.00	0.454	0.129
14	-3.03	69.9	0.122	-2.22	70.1	0.135	-2.97	0.443	0.118	-2.01	0.455	0.132
15	-2.94	71.9	0.123	-2.15	71.9	0.138	-2.93	0.443	0.120	-2.02	0.457	0.135
16	-2.83	73.8	0.125	-2.07	73.6	0.141	-2.87	0.444	0.121	-2.03	0.460	0.137
17	-2.71	75.6	0.126	-1.98	75.3	0.144	-2.80	0.446	0.122	-2.03	0.464	0.139
18	-2.58	77.5	0.127	-1.87	77.0	0.147	-2.73	0.448	0.122	-2.03	0.468	0.142
19	-2.43	79.3	0.128	-1.76	78.6	0.150	-2.66	0.451	0.123	-2.02	0.472	0.144

*Table 3. LMS Parameters for waist circumference and waist:height ratio for 5-19 years children (67).* 

More detailed tables with monthly intervals are available in the electronic supplement. L, skew; M, median; S, coefficient of variation.

#### 2.1.4 Childhood Health Concerns related to Overweight and Obesity

The obesity epidemic has extensive negative implications, especially when the condition is observed at an early age. Childhood obesity can adversely affect almost every organ system and often cause serious consequences (Figure 3), including affecting psychological and physiological health (42,70,71). For example, OB children are up to six times more likely than normal weight children to have

obstructive sleep apnea, which is independently related to the development of behavioural disorders, poor school performance, and poor quality of life later as adults (4).



Figure 3. Complications associated with childhood obesity. Image obtained by dual energy x-ray absorptiometry from an obese teenage girl. Adapted from (1)

Many studies have focused on the long-term consequences of being OB from childhood to adulthood (52,72). A study from Bjorge and colleagues has shown that being OW or OB between the ages of 14 to 19 years was associated with increased adult mortality (after age 30) from a wide variety of systemic diseases (73).

Additionally, most pre-adolescent OB children will probably remain OB as an adolescent, and over 70% will remain OB into adulthood (64,74) with a greater prevalence of risk factors for CVD (75).

#### 2.1.5 Factors Leading to Childhood Overweight and Obesity

Youth obesity and its related disorders are a consequence of a chronic imbalance between energy intake and energy expenditure, with social, environmental, genetic and biological factors involved (76). Today's children have a tendency towards sedentary behaviour including excessive television viewing, computer use and video games (which may either reduce energy expenditure, increase energy intake, or both). They also tend to have low physical activity levels; and poorer nutrition, characterized by increased consumption of energy-dense foods including sugar sweetened beverages (SSB), larger portion sizes and eating many meals outside the home (e.g. fast food, take out, etc.) (77).

Other risk factors for childhood obesity are having OB parents (i.e. genetics), and parents not being aware of their children becoming OW (78). A qualitative study in the United States found that obstacles to a healthy lifestyle in a family involve time, practicality, high cost of healthy food, reluctance to modify habits and family preferences for non-healthy foods (79). Sylvetsky and colleagues have found that OW youth believe that obesity is an issue, however they did not link their behaviours to the cause of obesity (80). That is, the children in the study associated being OW with non-modifiable factors like genetics and slow metabolism rather than modifiable factors such as lifestyle (physical activity and diet). Additionally, the youth did not consider lifestyle changes desirable or even achievable. The study suggested that

education of healthy habits would be beneficial to children so their desirability and knowledge for healthy foods/choices would increase (80).

Canadian epidemiological evidence shows that physical activity among children aged 7 to 11 is negatively associated with OW and obesity, while TV viewing and video game playing increase the risk of excess weight gain (81). Therefore, chronic exposure to these obesogenic factors may stimulate weight gain over the years (5). Modifying these behaviours should be regarded as a high priority for interventions aimed at the prevention of childhood obesity (80).

#### 2.2 LIFESTYLE MODIFICATION DURING CHILDHOOD

High levels of inactivity (e.g. tv watching, using computers, playing video games), low levels of physical activity and inappropriate diet are typical in children's routines today (82), and these behaviours may be established at an early age (41). Introduction of habitual healthy behaviours that can be adopted by the young population can have a significant effect in correcting the early stages of metabolic abnormalities. This will contribute to reducing obesity and related comorbidities (83). For that reason, the promotion of lifestyle change should be implemented among all pediatric populations, not just for those currently defined as OW/OB, as it will help build a strong foundation of childhood healthy living that can be carried on into adulthood (84).

It is widely accepted that treating childhood OW/OB is an important step in responding to the obesity epidemic (85). Management interventions involving family support, behaviour modifications, and lifestyle changes are difficult to put into practice, and in some cases, may require the input of multidisciplinary professional

teams (86,87). As a matter of fact, lifestyle changes require a high level of motivation and active involvement from the children/adolescents and their families to achieve positive outcomes, such as fat loss and improved metabolic health (76). Weightmanagement programs for youth, including isolated programs (diet or physical activity or behaviour) and combined programs (combination of exercise, diet, and/or behavioural modification) have been investigated. A systematic review in OW/OB participants  $\leq 18$  years reported that lifestyle interventions (diet plus exercise) were more effective in improving risk factors, such as HDL-c, fasting glucose and insulin, in interventions that lasted over 6 months, than in programs with diet only and/or exercise only interventions (88), which highlights the need to promote healthy eating coupled with frequent physical activity to improve the overall health of OW/OB children. Similarly, a Cochrane systematic review suggested that the best approach to reduce FM of OB children and improve metabolic markers is to implement a lifestyle modification, family-based intervention, focused on combining changes in behaviour, dietary and physical activity patterns for the children and their families (89). Therefore, combined programs tend to be more effective in children and adolescents for obesity management because the beneficial changes are usually kept for a longer period, since their lifestyle was modified and likely implemented for the entire family, and they were educated about a healthy living (88). For OW children and adolescents, the goal is to reduce the rate of fat gain while achieving normal growth and development (90).

#### 2.2.1 The Role of Physical Activity and Health in Overweight/Obese Children

#### 2.2.1.1. Physical Activity Guidelines

In order to encourage children and adolescents (5-17 years) to achieve high levels of physical activity the Canadian Society of Exercise and Physiology (CSEP) has developed the Canadian 24-hour Movement Guidelines for Children and Youth (91). According to the guidelines, children and adolescents should accumulate at least 60 min/day of moderate to vigorous exercise combined with several hours of a variety of structured and unstructured light physical activities, sufficient hours of sleep (9-11h/night for 5-13 year olds and 8-10h/night for 14-17 year olds), and low levels of sedentary behaviour daily (no more than 2 h/day of screen time and limited sitting for long hours) (91). Despite the promotion of the physical activity guidelines, most Canadian school-aged children and youth (5 to 17 years) do not achieve the minimum recommendation of physical activity, with only 13% of boys and 6% of girls getting an average of at least 60 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous daily physical activity as recommended. Thus, our pediatric population spends the majority of their time being inactive (92).

#### 2.2.1.2. Physical Activity and Health

Regular participation in different types of physical activity is essential for healthy growth and development (93). Evidence shows that physical activity can improve body composition, cardiometabolic parameters, aerobic fitness, muscular strength, movement skills, and bone health in children (94,95). Regular physical activity can also improve academic performance and promote feelings of well-being (96). The positive lifestyle behaviours such as participating in daily physical activity that begin during childhood and adolescence tend to carry over into adulthood (97). Thus, daily participation in fitness activities, recreational sports and outdoor games would help to improve the well-being and health of children and adolescents (97).

Regular physical activity increases energy expenditure and metabolic rate at rest; decreases fat storage; increases tolerance to glucose and improves insulin sensitivity; and decreases inflammatory state in children and adolescents (97–99). There is an inverse relationship between physical activity levels and the development of obesity in children (98,100–102). In this sense, increasing physical activity during childhood may be protective against future weight gain and metabolic diseases (10).

#### 2.2.2 The Role of Diet in Health

Childhood and adolescence is an important period for growth and development (103). However, a poorer diet leading to an insufficient intake of essential nutrients, higher levels of inactivity leading to body fat accumulation leads the pediatric population towards a state of poorer metabolic health (104). Most cardiometabolic risk factors are potentially reversible with lifestyle change during childhood (105).

#### 2.2.2.1. Dietary Guidelines

Canada's Food Guide recommendations of servings per day in the 4 food groups for children and adolescents is shown in Table 4 (13). The Canadian Community Health Survey, Cycle 2.2 Nutrition (CCHS 2.2), conducted in 2004, indicated that 7 out of 10 children age 4-8 years had less than 5 svgs/d of vegetables and fruits.

		Childre	า	Teens	
Gender	G	irls and B	Females	Males	
Age in Years	2-3 4-8 9-13			14-18	
Vegetables and Fruit	4	5	6	7	8
Grain Products	3	4	6	6	7
Milk and Alternatives	2	2	3-4	3-4	3-4
Meat and Alternatives	1	1	1-2	2	3

Table 4. Canada's Food Guide recommendations for children and teenagers in servings per day. Retrieved from (13).

At age 9-13 years, 68% of boys and 62% of girls did not meet the minimum intake of vegetables and fruits. Regarding the dairy food group, 61% of boys and 83% of girls age 10 to 16 years did not meet their recommended minimum of 3 svgs/d. Additionally, more than a quarter of children age 4-8 years did not meet the recommendations for grains, with the same pattern for meat and alternatives (13). The survey indicated that Canadian children are not consuming enough nutrients for their development and growth. This is also shown in another part of the survey, where it indicates that Canadian youth have inadequate intakes of fibre; vitamin A; vitamin D; magnesium; phosphorus; potassium and calcium (106). A lot of these nutrients are directly related to bone health, and are required during adolescence when bone mineral accrual rate is the highest (107). In 2010, the Institute of Medicine Dietary Reference Intake committee set the Recommended Dietary Allowances at 1,300 mg/day of calcium and 600 IU/day of vitamin D for children ages 9–18 years in an effort to achieve greater amounts of nutrients essential for bone health; while Canada's Food Guide recommends 3 to 4 servings of dairy/day (13). However, as shown above, a high percentage of Canadian youth do not achieve the minimal recommended consumption of these nutrients necessary for optimal health (108). In fact, children and adolescents are eating more empty calorie foods (energy-dense,

nutrient-poor foods), which contributes to this populations' risk of OW/OB and poor metabolic health.

The CCHS 2.2 survey showed that children and adolescents aged 4 to 18 years had 31% of their daily calories derived from the "other foods group", which includes: sugar, jam, honey, candies; chips (potato, corn, etc.); butter, cooking oils and salad dressings; soft-drinks, tea and coffee; and condiments such as ketchup, mustard and pickles (13). This greatly affects the overall quality of their diets. This survey shows that youth are choosing energy-dense/nutrient-poor foods instead of nutrient-dense foods daily. Children/adolescents and their parents should be aware of the health consequences of eating poor quality food that include low levels of important nutrients, as these dietary practices can lead to serious health problems (e.g., T2D, hypertension, and MetS) in childhood and eventually in adulthood (109).

#### 2.2.2.2. Lifestyle Intervention

Lifestyle interventions for obesity treatment in children and adolescents have presented improvements in body composition, anthropometrics, cardiorespiratory fitness, muscle strength and/or cardiovascular risk factors (e.g. dyslipidemia and insulin resistance) (5,9–11,110). Bianchini et al. examined the effects of a 16-week, multidisciplinary intervention based on cognitive behavioural therapy on 86 OB adolescents (10-18 years). The participants were divided into a control group (maintained the routine) and an intervention group, which had weekly meetings and lectures with a psychologist, nutritionist, exercise professional and pediatrician. After 16 weeks, the intervention group showed improved waist circumference, TC, blood pressure and a reduced number of risk factors for MetS compared to the control group (110). This study indicates that behavioural therapy including a multidisciplinary

approach (psychological, nutritional and physical activity) can improve metabolic profiles in OB adolescents.

Dietary modification, such as decreasing the consumption of certain types of fats and simple sugars, and increasing consumption of omega-3 fats (e.g. fish oil, flaxseed oil), helps to decrease TGs levels, decrease weight gain and improve blood lipids (111). An intervention with 42 boys and 43 girls, aged 6 to 15 years, evaluated the effects of a eucaloric diet (not intended for weight loss and appropriate for the children's height, body mass and age) and physical activity on metabolic parameters and BMI during a 1-year nutritional-behavioral intervention in OB children (5). The intervention was to consume a eucaloric diet consisting of 12-15% protein, 55-60% carbohydrates, 25-30% fat, and perform a minimum of 60 minutes of moderate-tovigorous-intensity physical activity daily tailored to individual preferences. The participants and their parents received nutritional, exercise and behavioral advice at baseline with written educational materials. At the end of the study, children showed increased HDL-c (p=0.034), decreased TGs (p=0.024) and a decreased TGs:HDL-c (p= 0.018). BMI percentile was lower post-study than at baseline (p < 0.0001), and so was triceps skinfold thickness (p <0.038). No difference was found for waist circumference (p = 0.150). Prevalence of MetS was reduced by 71.4% and prevalence of insulin resistance decreased by 30%. This study showed that longer term interventions where youth participants consume a eucaloric diet with healthy foods (i.e. with no energy restriction), and perform physical activity can result in improvements of blood lipids markers, insulin sensitivity and a reduction of BMI thus achieving a greater metabolic health profile (5). A multi-cohort study used data from the 'Project HeartBeat!' of children and adolescents in the United States to assess multiple profiles for lipids, anthropometrics and blood pressure to identify high risk

groups of children and youth for CVD (72). The cohort analysis showed that high risk groups had greater BMI, percent body fat, waist circumference as well as higher TGs and LDL-c, and lower HDL-c. Thus, these findings help prove the effectiveness of measuring these variables in order to implement early interventions for decreasing or delaying unfavorable metabolic changes and improving cardiovascular outcomes (112). Another study with similar findings was 'The Princeton Lipid Research Clinics Follow-up Study', where participants were followed for 25 years (72). Between 6-19 years old, 4% of 771 youth had pediatric MetS. Of these 4% with pediatric MetS, 68% continued to have MetS as adults and 19.4% had CVD as adults (72). Hence, treating and preventing MetS risk factors during childhood could prevent future CVD, making targeted interventions in youth even more important.

The success of obesity treatment should be measured according to health benefits and well-being, instead of just the amount of body mass/fat lost, according to the Canadian Obesity Network (113). For this reason, studies in a youth population should focus on improving metabolic health and facilitating lifestyle change through healthy dietary intakes, improvement of fitness and strength, and implementation of daily physical activity, along with family-based support.

#### 2.2.3 RCTs using Diet and Exercise to Improve Metabolic Variables

A systematic review by Ho and colleagues presented several meta-analyses of RCTs involving the effects of lifestyle interventions (diet, exercise, and/or behavioural change) on cardiometabolic outcomes in OW children (88). The details are listed below in Table 5. One meta-analysis of 5 studies including 440 OW and OB participants, age 8 to 16 years old showed that lifestyle intervention improved TC compared to no treatment in the short-term (-0.40mmol/L, 95%CI: -0.51 to -0.30; length: 4 to 6 months) and long-term (-0.24mmol/L, 95%CI: -0.30 to -0.17; length: 1 to 2 years) (88). The TGs levels for the same 5 studies also improved with lifestyle intervention (short term: -0.20mmol/L, 95%CI: -0.35 to -0.05; and long term: -0.09mmol/L, 95%CI: -0.11 to -0.07). Another meta-analysis of 4 studies including 372 participants during a period of 4 to 12 months showed improvements in LDL-c levels (-0.30mmol/L, 95%CI: -0.45 to -0.15) with a lifestyle intervention. But, no differences were found for HDL-c levels (p = 0.22) (88).

Another intervention study by Saavedra et al. determined the effects of diet and/or exercise on body composition and metabolic parameters of OB children (8-11 years) during 6 months (10). The 42 participants (27 boys, 15 girls) were divided into three groups, exercise only (3x90min/week), low calorie diet only (~1500kcal/d, 57% carbohydrates, 17% proteins and 26% fats), and exercise+diet group. With respect to the metabolic markers, while the exercise group presented no change in any parameter (possibly because the participants maintained their poor eating habits), the diet group presented reduced levels of TGs (p=0.046), glucose (p=0.007) and HOMA-IR (p<0.001), while the exercise+diet group showed improvements in HDL-c (p=0.038), LDL-c (p=0.050), LDL-c:HDL-c (p=0.009) and TC:HDL-c (p=0.004). For the body composition parameters, there were no significant changes for the diet group, in the exercise group there were reductions in FM (p<0.001), and in the exercise+diet group there were reductions in body mass (p=0.024), FM (p=0.002), waist circumference (p<0.001) and hip circumference (p<0.001). Overall, the results from the combined intervention presented more positive changes than exercise alone or diet alone when comparing the metabolic and body composition results. Also, there were no

significant differences between the diet and exercise alone groups, highlighting the need to combine the two to improve overall health of OB children (10,88).

Evidence has shown that the main approach to decreasing MetS and related disorders is to implement a lifestyle change in children and adolescents' routine to suppress the gain of body fat. This population needs to increase physical activity and improve their eating habits (114). The Obeldicks study examined the implementation of lifestyle interventions to modify MetS risk factors in OB children (2). It was a 1-year outpatient program involving nutritional education, physical activity and behaviour therapy. The study had 288 OB children aged 10-16 years being part of the intervention arm, and 186 participants in the control group. The lifestyle intervention group improved waist circumference, LDL-c and blood pressure, while TGs, HDL-c and fasting glucose did not change significantly. In addition, the decrease in prevalence of MetS was associated with the reduction in body mass in the majority of OB participants (2). Therefore, this study reaffirms the importance of long-term multidisciplinary lifestyle change for OB children, as MetS and its components significantly decrease with physical activity and healthy eating.

Likewise, even a short-term intensive intervention by Luo et al. resulted in significant changes in MetS risk factors in 167 OB Chinese children aged 11 to 13 years (9). They analyzed body composition and anthropometrics, blood pressure, and fasting blood samples for insulin, glucose, TC, TGs, LDL-c and HDL-c. In addition, ten children in the intervention arm were diagnosed with MetS, and all participants had at least one MetS risk factor before commencing the study. After 6 weeks of high volume aerobic exercise (6 days/week, twice daily, for 3h each session) and a controlled calorie diet (1600-2000 kcal/day based on each participant basal metabolic rate), they found significant decreases in TGs, LDL-c, TC and fasting insulin (p

<0.05) in boys and girls, except for fasting blood glucose in boys (p=0.09), compared to controls. After the trial, none of the children were diagnosed with MetS in the intervention group (9).

Citation & Participants	Intervention	Results
Verduci et al. 2015 (5)	1-year (1 group)	↔ fasting insulin, glucose & HOMA-IR
Italy	Normocaloric diet and physical activity for all participants	$\leftrightarrow$ TC, LDL-c
42 boys and 43 girls (n=85)		↓TGs ↓TGs:HDL-c ratio
OB 6-15 years		↑HDL-c
		↓ BMI ↔ waist circumference
Ho et al 2013 – Systematic Review, meta-analysis (3)	3 to 6-months intervention (2 groups)	$ \begin{array}{l} \downarrow TGs \Rightarrow D > E+D \\ \uparrow HDL-c \Rightarrow E+D > D \\ \downarrow DL c \Rightarrow D = E+D \end{array} $
Australia	Exercise+Diet vs Diet	↓ Easting Clucose $\Rightarrow$ E+D > D
N=519	<b>Dietary interventions:</b> calorie restriction approach, Traffic	$\checkmark$ Fasting Olucose $\rightarrow$ E+D > D
OW/OB 5-18 years	Light*, general dietary advice. Exercise interventions: aerobic exercise, resistant training and combination of	
	aerobic plus resistant training.	
Ho et al 2012 –	4 to 12-month intervention (2	↓ LDL-c
Systematic Review, meta-analysis (88)	groups)	$\leftrightarrow$ HDL-c
Australia	Exercise+Diet vs Control	↔ Fasting Glucose ↓ Fasting Insulin (over 12
N=372	Dietary intervention: Traffic	months)
OW/OB 8-16 years	Light*, hypocaloric or a calorie restriction approach. <b>Exercise intervention:</b> Supervised physical activity sessions or exercise training	↓ HOMA-IR (over 12 months)
Saavedra et al. 2011	6-months intervention (3	$E = \leftrightarrow$ metabolic markers
(10) Spain	groups)	↓ BMI, ↓ body fat
-	Exercise vs Diet vs	. couj in
	Exercise+Diet	$D = \downarrow glucose$

*Table 5. RCTs using lifestyle modification with lipid and glucose homeostasis outcomes.* 

27 boys and 15 girls		↓HOMA-IR
(n=42)	<b>Exercise</b> : 3x/w 90min exercise	↓TGs
OB 8-11 years	(n=11) <b>Diet:</b> low calorie diet (n=16)	$\leftrightarrow$ body composition
	<b>Exercise+Diet</b> : 3x/w 90min	F+D – ↑HDI -c
	exercise + low calorie diet	$\downarrow I DI - c$
	(n=15)	↓ BMI
		$\downarrow$ Body fat and weight
		$\downarrow$ Waist circumference
Reinehr et al 2009 (2)	1-year intervention (2 groups)	$F_{\perp}D = 4 \rightarrow F_{asting} Glucose$
'Obeldicks' Study	r year mer tendon (2 groups)	$\frac{1}{2}$ h glucose in oGTT
Germany	Exercise+Diet vs Control	J DL-c
5		$\leftrightarrow$ HDL-c
N=474 (boys and	Exercise+Diet: 1x/w of	$\leftrightarrow$ TGs
girls)	exercises + nutritional course +	(7103
	behaviour therapy (n=288)	↓ BMI
OB 10-16 years	Control: maintained regular	$\downarrow$ Waist Circumference
	activities (n=186)	• Wast chedinerence
		$C = \leftrightarrow$ metabolic markers
		↑ BMI
		↑ waist circumference
Luo et al. 2013 (9)	6-weeks intervention (2	$E+D = \downarrow$ Fasting insulin both
China	groups)	genders
		$\downarrow$ Fasting glucose only in girls
77 girls and 90 boys	Exercise+Diet vs Control	$\downarrow$ HOMA-IR both genders
(n=167)		$\downarrow$ TC both genders
OD 11 12	Exercise+Diet: 2x/d 3h	$\downarrow$ LDL-c both genders
OB 11-13 years	exercise $(6x/w)$ + low calories dist $(n=05)$	↓TGs both genders
	<b>Control</b> : maintained regular	↑HDL-c both genders
	activities $(n=72)$	
	det vities (i=+2)	↓BMI
		$\downarrow$ Body fat and weight
		↓Waist Circumference
		C = + fasting insulin and
		nowia-in
		$\leftrightarrow$ fasting glucose
		↑ IC, LDL-c and IGs
Chap at al. $2005(11)$	2 weeks residential program (1	body mass/fat
	2-weeks residential program (1	$\downarrow$ Fasting insulin
10 boys and 6 girls	group)	↓ HOMA-IK
(n=16)	Food provided at ad libitum	
<pre>&lt; /</pre>	with high-fiber and low-fat	
OW 10-17 years	diet and daily aerobic exercises	
•	of ~ 2h30 for all participants	$\leftrightarrow$ IIDL-C
	(n=16)	
		$\downarrow$ Body mass/fat
OW - overweight OR	- obese TC - Total Cholesterol	$\frac{1}{1000} = \frac{1}{1000} = 1$

OW = overweight, OB = obese, TC = Total Cholesterol, HDL-c = High Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol, LDL-c = Low Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol, TGs = triglycerides, HOMA-IR = Homeostatic Model Assessment Insulin Resistance, E = Exercise Group Intervention, D = Diet Group Intervention, D+E = Diet and Exercise Group Intervention, C = Control Group Intervention \* Traffic Light diet is a calorie-controlled approach in which foods in each category are colour-coded according to their calorie density per average serving: green for low-calorie foods that can be eaten freely; yellow for moderate-calorie foods that can be eaten occasionally; and red for high-calorie foods that should be eaten rarely.

#### **2.3 DAIRY**

#### 2.3.1 Dairy Consumption and Nutrient Intake in Childhood

Milk and other dairy foods are great sources of macronutrients and micronutrients that are important in children's diets. Dairy in the diet plays a role in meeting numerous nutrient intake recommendations affecting several facets of growth and development (12). Dairy macronutrients include: carbohydrates (lactose and other sugars); Fat (saturated and unsaturated fat including essential [alpha linolenic acid and linoleic acid] and non-essential fatty acids [butyric acid and palmitoleic acid]); and high-quality protein (whey, casein and other peptides and bioactive factors that have specific effects on growth). Milk also contains micronutrients such as phosphorus, magnesium, zinc, potassium, vitamin A, calcium and vitamin D, which are essential for children's growth (12,115). Fulgoni *et al.* suggested that the micronutrients found in a serving of dairy are difficult to replace with other foods in the American diet (116).

Calcium benefits the growth and maintenance of healthy bones and teeth, as well as aiding in the regulation of blood pressure, muscle contraction and blood clotting (115). Dairy calcium is highly bioavailable and can account for more than 50% of children's total calcium intake per day. A longitudinal study by Moore et al. collected data in children in the United States and showed that consuming at least two cups of milk (473 mL) per day was associated with significantly higher mean calcium intake (p < 0.0001) compared to children who did not consume milk regularly (117). However, calcium intakes among children and adolescents generally falls below recommendations because they do not consume adequate amounts of dairy or calcium-fortified foods (13). Another essential nutrient that is fortified in some dairy products is vitamin D, which is responsible for several functions in the body, and has a direct relationship with calcium balance (118). A systematic review in youth showed that dairy consumption was positively associated with improvements of bone structure (119). Milk only has traces of natural vitamin D, for that reason milk is fortified in some countries (108,120). In Canada, vitamin D is added to milk with 35-40 IU/100g by law (121).

Volek et al. investigated the effects of increased milk intake and resistance training on body composition and bone mineral density in 28 healthy boys (13-17 years) for 12 weeks (33). The adolescents were divided into 2 groups, one group consumed 3 servings of 1% milk (708 mL) (n=14) and the other consumed unfortified apple or grape juice (n=14). Participants from both groups exercised for 1h 3 days/week for 12 weeks, milk and juice were provided on these days and participants were instructed to maintain their usual diet. Significant changes in body composition, bone and maximal strength was observed after the 12-week intervention in both groups. The only variable that significantly differed between the milk and juice groups was whole-body bone mineral density, which increased to a greater extent in the milk group. Therefore, this study indicates that the increased intake of milk (including calcium and vitamin D) may lead to improvements in whole-body bone mineral density, optimizing bone development in adolescent boys. Additionally, the milk group presented with higher intakes of protein, vitamins A, D and B<sub>2</sub>, calcium, magnesium, and phosphorus, indicating a higher intake of nutrients compared to the

juice group (33). Similar results were seen in a study by Stear et al., who investigated the effects of calcium supplementation and exercise intervention on the bone mineral status of 144 adolescent girls (16-18 years) for 15.5 months (34).

#### 2.3.2 Milk and Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption

Milk is a great source of essential nutrients for adolescents, who experience dynamic growth changes and puberty (122). Several studies have demonstrated that when milk is excluded from adolescent diets, it is difficult for them to achieve the daily requirements for calcium and other essential nutrients (123,124). For this reason, consumption of the recommended amounts of dairy foods may help adolescents meet their nutritional requirements and improve their diet quality (122).

A recent review by Dror and Allen showed that the consumption of milk declines as children get older (125). Other authors indicated that males consume more dairy than females (126–129), possibly influenced by the misperception that dairy foods are fattening (130). The frequency of dieting by adolescent girls has been associated with insufficient intakes of milk and related foods possibly due to the restriction of calories and fat to lose weight (126,131). In addition, the decrease of milk consumption has been correlated to the increase of sugar-sweetened beverage (SSB) and fruit juice intake (132–136). Thus, the concomitant increase in childhood obesity and decrease in dairy intake have led researchers to hypothesize that the two may be related (137). Indeed, SSB consumption has been positively associated with increased body mass and risk of obesity (138), and negatively associated with micronutrient intake (139) in children and adolescents. According to Forshee and colleagues, US adolescents drink more SSB per day than milk (140). Adolescent
males drink an average of 22 ounces (650mL)/day of SSB; more than twice their intake of fluid milk (10 ounces), and females drink an average of 14 ounces/day of SSB and only 6 ounces/day of fluid milk (140). Another study demonstrated that a small sample of children (aged 6 to 13) at a 4- to 8-week summer day camp were offered both milk and fruit-flavored SSB. Children and adolescents chose SSB instead of healthier choices, like milk, even when both options were available for them (136).

According to data from the Continuing Survey of Food Intake by Individuals (CSFII) in the United States, for each 30mL decrease in milk intake by children and adolescents (aged 5-18 years), there is an increase of approximately 126mL in SSB intake. This corresponds to an increase of 31 kcal and a reduction of 34 mg of calcium, for every 30mL of milk substituted (132). While milk is a nutrient-dense beverage that is directly related to increased energy intake, when removed from the diet it is usually substituted by other energy-dense foods and beverages that are not nutrient-dense (141,142). This has been said to partly explain the increases in childhood obesity. To improve the health of our youth, the consumption of SSB should be drastically reduced, in addition to promoting nutritional education to encourage youth (and their parents) to change their dietary habits. Children, adolescents and their parents should be aware of the health consequences of energy dense nutrient poor foods that include low levels of important nutrients, as these dietary practices can lead to serious health problems (e.g., T2D, hypertension, and MetS) in childhood and eventually in adulthood (109).

### 2.3.3 Dairy consumption and Cardiometabolic Variables

Several observational studies have indicated that the consumption of dairy

products was inversely associated with CVD risk factors in children and adolescents (Table 6) (16–21). In adults, intervention studies have suggested that increased intake of dairy was inversely associated with incidence of diabetes, hypertension, poor cardiovascular health, MetS and increased inflammation (119,143–145). However, a recent comprehensive review by Drouin-Chartier et al. did not confirm these same findings, showing a null association, although not deleterious, between dairy and cardiometabolic health in adults (146). The authors examined the impacts of dairy foods and dairy fat on cardiometabolic risk in adults based on data from RCTs (146). This review suggested that total dairy consumption, irrespective of fat content, has no detrimental impact on a large array of cardiometabolic variables, including lipid-related cardiometabolic disease disk factors, low-grade systemic inflammation, blood pressure and vascular function. Same trend is observed for glucose and insulin resistance in the short-term, but may be beneficial in the long-term (146). Thus, this comprehensive review indicates that dairy intake has no risk of potential harmful effects on cardiometabolic health of adults.

Abreu et al. examined the association between milk consumption, exercise and abdominal obesity in 1,209 adolescents aged 15-18 years in a cross-sectional study (14). The study shows that the group of adolescents with higher milk intake ( $\geq 2$  svgs/d) who were active had a lower proportion of abdominal obesity than the other groups analyzed. Thus, this cross-sectional study suggests that higher milk intakes may contribute to the reduction of abdominal obesity in youth, possibly due to the beneficial effects of calcium on weight and body fat loss (23–25). Dairy consumption has been associated with lower insulin resistance in two cross-sectional studies, Hirschler et al. (19) and Zhu et al. (17). The former examined the effects of milk intake on insulin resistance and components of MetS in 365 school children (5-14).

years) in Buenos Aires. Children were divided into 3 categories of frequency of whole milk consumption per day, group I ( $\leq 1$  glass, n=143), group II (2-3 glasses, n=197) and group III ( $\geq 4$  glasses, n=24). They found that a higher intake of milk was associated with a healthier lifestyle, and increased consumption of milk was inversely correlated with HOMA-IR, but no significant associations were found among the groups for HDL-c, TGs and BMI. The authors performed a linear multiple regression analysis to investigate whether the association between milk consumption and insulin resistance was due to milk or other aspects of a healthy diet, such as fruits and vegetables intake. They found that milk consumption was inversely and significantly associated with HOMA-IR ( $\beta = -0.28$ ; p = 0.026), but fruit and vegetable consumption was not significantly associated ( $\beta = 0.008$ ; p = 0.903) (19). Therefore, increased milk consumption was associated with a greater insulin sensitivity. Zhu et al, had similar findings to Hirschler et al., where higher yogurt intake was correlated with lower insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), but not with blood lipids, fasting glucose or body composition (17).

Bel-Serrat et al., in another cross-sectional study with adolescents from 8 European cities (HELENA study), investigated the food groups that best discriminate adolescents as high and low CVD risk, and the relationship between dairy consumption and these risk factors (16). The study found an inverse relationship between milk consumption and TGs (-0.17, p = 0.02), and milk consumption and CVD risk score (-0.14, p = 0.04) in girls. Yogurt and milk- and yogurt-based beverages consumption was negatively associated with waist circumference in boys and girls (-0.17, p = 0.04; -0.21, p = 0.004, boys and girls respectively), and a positive correlation with cardiorespiratory fitness (0.15, p = 0.03; 0.18, p = 0.01, boys and girls respectively).

Kelishadi et al. conducted a RCT to determine the long-term effects of a dairyrich diet on abdominal obesity and MetS risk factors in 120 OB pre-pubertal children (21). All participants attended 6 consecutive monthly family-centered education sessions about healthy lifestyle (increasing physical activity and healthy nutrition) that were conducted by a nutritionist and pediatrician. The participants were randomly assigned to 3 groups: a dairy-rich diet (>800 mg calcium/d), a calorie-restricted diet (-500 kcal/d); and a control group that received no dietary recommendation other than what was discussed in the healthy lifestyle education sessions. The 3 groups were then followed-up twice a year for 3 years (for a total of 36 months). In all groups, TGs, fasting insulin, HDL-c and HOMA-IR improved after the 6-month trial without a significant difference between groups. During the follow-up (remaining 30 months), TGs, fasting insulin and HOMA-IR had risen, and HDL-c had fallen in all 3 groups, but in the dairy-rich group, these markers were significantly better compared to the other groups. BMI percentile and waist circumference significantly decreased after the 6-month trial in all groups. During the follow-up period, there was a sustained rise in BMI and waist circumference until the end of the study, however it was significantly lower in the dairy-rich group compared to the other groups. The study suggested that in addition to lifestyle changes and improvement of physical activity and dietary habits, a diet rich in dairy products with no change in energy or macronutrient intake may be an acceptable regimen, and can be a safe and practical strategy for weight management in this population. It may also be a way to improve insulin resistance and other components of the MetS (TGs and HDL-c) in OW children without the restriction of calories (21).

There is a lack of consistent evidence for the effects of dairy consumption on cardiometabolic markers in children and adolescents. Therefore, this thesis may start

to answer a few questions regarding the effects of dairy consumption, combined with healthy eating and regular exercise on metabolic health of OW and OB adolescent girls.

<b>Citation &amp; Participants</b>	Study Design	Results
<b>Bel-Serrat et al. 2013</b> (16)	Cross-sectional	↑ Milk, Yogurt, milk- and yogurt- based beverages
Data from HELENA Study (2006-2007)	24-hour recall at 2 time	Associated with
Study (2000-2007)	points of study	Associatea wan
N=3,528 (~50% males)		$\downarrow$ TGs (only in girls)
12.5 – 17.5 years		↑ Cardiorespiratory Fitness (both genders)
		$\downarrow$ waist circumference (both genders)
		$\downarrow$ Body fat/weight (both genders)
<b>Zhu et al. 2015</b> (17)	Cross-sectional	↑ Yogurt intake
Data from NHANES (2003-2006)	24-hour recall and FFQ	Associated with
N=5,124 (2,498 males) 2 – 18 years		$\downarrow$ fasting insulin, HOMA-IR and $\uparrow$ QUICKI
		$\leftrightarrow$ fasting glucose, lipids, blood pressure or body composition
<b>Abreu et al. 2014</b> (18) Data from a longitudinal	Cross-sectional	↑ Milk intake only
school-based study $(n=1,515)$ (2008)	FFQ	Associated with
$N_{1} = 404 (208 \text{ moles})$		$\downarrow$ CVD risk score
OW/OB 15 - 18 years		yogurt, cheese and total dairy Associated with
		$\leftrightarrow$ CVD risk score
<b>Hirschler et al. 2009</b> (19)	Cross-sectional	↑ Dairy intake
N=365 (175 males)	Mothers completed	Associated with
normal weight/OW/OB	questionnaires about	$\downarrow$ HOMA-IR
5-14 years	their children's lifestyle	$\downarrow$ Waist circumference
		$\leftrightarrow$ HDL, TGs, BMI

*Table 6. Studies examining Dairy consumption and Cardiometabolic Health in Children and Adolescents. Note: Kelishadi et al., (2009) is the only RCT.* 

Kelishadi et al 2008 (20)	Cross-sectional	↑ Dairy intake + fruits &			
Data from CASPIAN		vegetables			
Study (2003-2004)	FFQ				
		Associated with			
N=4,811 (2,248 males)		$\downarrow$ MetS and CVD in			
6 – 18 years		children/adolescents of both			
		genders			
Kelishadi et al. 2009 (21)	Randomized Controlled	After 6 months of education			
	Trial	sessions, all groups:			
N=120 obese children		↑ HDL			
5-6 years	3-day dietary record was	↓ TGs			
	filled in by the parents	$\downarrow$ Fasting insulin			
		$\downarrow$ Waist circumference			
	36 months (6-months				
	active intervention)	During follow-up waist			
	6 consecutive monthly	circumference, TGs, insulin and HOMA-IR increased and HDL			
	sessions about healthy	decreased in all 3 groups. But in			
	lifestyle education and	the dairy-rich group these markers			
	30-months follow-up for	were significantly better compared			
	all 3 groups	to the other groups, as well as			
	1) Define with dist	waist circumference.			
	1) Dairy rich diet $(200mg, galaxies)$				
	(>800mg calcium/d)				
	with no change in				
	macronutrient make				
	2) Calorie restriction				
	diet (-500kcal) with				
	dairy intake				
	recommended				
	3) Control group (no				
	dietary recommendation				
	other than the healthy				
	lifestyle education)				
<b>FFO</b> = Food Frequency Ou	estionnaire: <b>OW/OR</b> = $Ove$	erweight/Obese: <b>NHANES</b> = Third			
$r_{T}Q = r_{T}Q$ and $r_{T}Q$					
<b>risk score</b> = a continuous risk score was computed using total cholesterol/high density					
lipoprotein-cholesterol ratio, triglycerides, homeostatic model assessment insulin resistance					
( <b>HOMA-IR</b> ), systolic blood pressure, percentage body fat, and cardiorespiratory fitness.					
For each variable, age- and sex-adjusted z scores were computed. The CVD risk score was					

# 2.3.4 Mechanisms of Dairy consumption effects on Cardiometabolic Variables

constructed by summing the z scores of all risk factors; **MetS** = metabolic syndrome.

Milk components have been studied for their effects on cardiometabolic health

and adiposity, especially calcium. It has been proposed that calcium increases fecal

lipid excretion (137), thermogenesis and lipid oxidation (23–27). In addition, it has been proposed that dairy bioactive peptides and fatty acids have impacts on body mass/fat and the metabolic profile (29,30). Thus, most of their effects on the cardiometabolic variables are indirect, and are mediated through body mass/composition change.

# 2.3.4.1 Calcium

The plausible mechanism most frequently cited for the effect of dietary calcium on the regulation of adipose tissue mass is its direct action on parathyroid hormone (PTH) and 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D (calcitriol); the active metabolite of vitamin D. Low serum calcium (due to a reduced dietary calcium intake) activates PTH release from the parathyroid gland. PTH stimulates renal hydroxylation of 25(OH)D to 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D. Then, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D directly affects the adipocyte by allowing calcium channels to open, increasing intracellular calcium levels. The increase of intracellular calcium promotes the activation of the enzyme responsible for intracellular lipogenesis; fatty acid synthase (FAS). FAS also inhibits lipolysis (breakdown of fat), which stimulates TGs storage. Thus, suppression of calcitriol and PTH levels via increased dietary calcium may be one potential mechanism to prevent and manage obesity, as it will diminish the stimulation of *de novo* lipogenesis (23–27). This mechanism is illustrated in Figure 4.



*Figure 4. The effect of low dietary calcium on the modulation of adiposity. Adapted from (136).* 

Evidence also suggests that calcium reduces fat absorption from the gastrointestinal tract (28,147,148). This mechanism is associated with the capability of calcium to increase fecal fat excretion via the production of insoluble calcium-fatty acid soaps in the gut, and by binding to bile acids, which weakens the formation of micelles. Consequently, there is an increased level of fecal fat elimination. No studies have specifically examined these mechanisms in children and adolescents. It is possible that the dynamic metabolic changes occurring during growth and puberty may limit the applicability of these mechanisms to pediatrics (137).

# 2.3.4.2 Fatty Acids

Dairy fat contains fatty acids with suspected health benefits such as conjugated linoleic acid (CLA), alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), *cis* and *trans* palmitoleic acid and butyric acid. One potential mechanism by which dairy fat may have beneficial effects on cardiometabolic risk is by decreasing chronic inflammation (30).

In a cross-sectional study conducted with 494 adolescents aged 15 to 18 years, Abreu et al. examined the association between dairy products consumption and cardiometabolic risk factors (18). They assessed fasting glucose and insulin, TC, HDL-c, TGs, systolic blood pressure, body fat, and cardiorespiratory fitness. Adolescents with high milk intake (but not cheese, yogurt or total dairy products which includes the combined consumption of milk, cheese and yogurt) had lower cardiometabolic risk components score (TGs, HOMA-IR, systolic blood pressure, %BF and cardiorespiratory fitness), compared with those with low milk intake (10.6% vs 18.1% combined risk score, p = 0.026). This outcome may be explained by the effects of calcium on body fat metabolism as described above, but likely also because of the location of the study, the Azores Islands, which has a constant temperate Atlantic climate. In terms of the latter, the weather allows for milk production from grazing cows all year long (149). It has been proposed that the milk fat produced from these cows is richer in unsaturated fatty acids, including conjugated isomers of linoleic acid, trans-octadecenoic acids and butyric acid (30). CLA has been associated with improving dyslipidemia and the proinflammatory state related to obesity and MetS (150-152). Butyric acid may also have relevant effects on metabolic health and body mass (153), and chronic inflammatory disorders in the gastrointestinal tract (154), as it plays an important role in gut health (155).

### 2.3.4.3 Protein Bioactive Peptides

Protein bioactive peptides may positively affect the cardiometabolic variables by improving the satiety response, regulating insulinemia, blood pressure and body composition (29). In regards to the satiety response, it has been suggested that the consumption of whey protein leads to appetite suppression by, a) the bioactive peptides (primarily glycomacropeptide [GMP]); b) the release of amino acids (primarily branched-chain amino acids, especially L-leucine) after digestion; and c) a combined action of these two mechanisms (29). Some studies have reported that GMP stimulates the release of cholecystokinin (CCK), which may enhance the satiety response in rats (156). Additionally,  $\alpha$ -lactoalbumin may promote the synthesis of glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP). These effects, concomitant with the suppression of ghrelin secretion, may contribute to the appetite suppressing effect of dairy protein, thus promoting weight control (157).

Some observational studies in men and women from the U.S. have suggested that dairy consumption may lower the incidence of T2D (143,158). These effects can be explained by the increased insulin response, decreased glycemic fluctuations, increased secretion of GIP and GLP-1 triggered by milk proteins (described above), and by fatty acids such as tans-palmitoleic acid (trans-16:1n-7) found in dairy fat (157).

It is also suggested that dairy consumption may improve blood pressure through bioactive peptides made from proteins in fermented dairy foods (produced by the microbiota in the foods) (159). Pal and Ellis showed that the intake of 54g/d of whey protein for 12 weeks leads to a reduction in systolic and diastolic blood pressure in OW/OB adults (160). Xu et al published a meta-analysis of RCT of milk tripeptides

on blood pressure in prehypertensive and hypertensive participants (161), with similar results as Pal and Ellis (160). Two such bioactive peptides include valine-prolineproline (Val-Pro-Pro) and isoleucine-proline-proline (Ile-Pro-Pro). They have angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibiting activity, which may lead to the normalization of blood pressure and reductions in arterial stiffness and endothelial dysfunction (159). However, also as explained above, there is no evidence of these mechanisms in children and adolescents. More research is needed addressing the mechanistic effects of dairy on cardiometabolic parameters in pediatric populations.

## **2.4 GLUCOSE**

Maintenance of a normal plasma glucose concentration requires glucose uptake and utilization by tissues, and endogenous glucose production or dietary glucose delivery (162). Circulating glucose is derived from three sources: intestinal absorption of glucose in the fed state, glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis. Glucose is stored as glycogen in some tissues (e.g. muscle, liver), it also undergoes glycolysis to pyruvate, and in the liver and kidneys, glucose is released into circulation by glucose-6-phosphatase (163).

In the fasted state, plasma glucose concentrations are relatively stable and rates of glucose production and utilization are equal. Differently, after a meal (the post-prandial state), glucose absorption is enhanced which promotes exogenous glucose delivery to the circulation. As glucose is absorbed, muscle, liver and fat tissues accelerate its usage, and endogenous glucose production is decreased. As exogenous glucose is delivered to the tissues, plasma glucose concentration returns to fasting levels (the post-absorptive state) (164) (Figure 6).

Insulin is responsible for the regulation of blood glucose utilization and glucagon is the main regulator of glucose release from the liver into circulation (162). Both hormones act to maintain glucose homeostasis. Glucagon is a hormone produced by pancreatic alpha cells, and it partially controls glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis. During the first 6-8 hours in the post-absorptive state, glucose is initially available by glycogenolysis, which is the breakdown of glycogen in the liver. But after longer periods of fasting, gluconeogenesis is then activated in the liver to produce and release glucose into the bloodstream (165). Then, ingestion of carbohydrates elicits a prompt rise in glucose and insulin concentrations, and a decrease in glucagon concentration. After reaching a post-prandial peak, circulating glucose slowly decreases during the next several hours, eventually returning to fasting levels where insulin is suppressed and glucagon is stimulated (163) (Figure 5). Fasting glucose cut-off concentrations for children and adolescents are shown in Table 7.

Table 7. Fasting blood glucose for children and adolescents. Retrieved from (166).

Normal	Prediabetes	Diabetes
<5.6 mmol/L	5.6 - 6.9 mmol/L	>7 mmol/L



*Figure 5. Blood-glucose regulation. Blood-glucose levels are regulated by insulin and glucagon (47).* 

# 2.4.1 Hyperglycemia

Hyperglycemia is a metabolic condition characterized by abnormally high levels of glucose in circulating blood (62). Hyperglycemia can occur from the consumption of carbohydrates, the absence of insulin or the delay of its action, or overstimulation of glucagon to produce glucose (62,166). An accumulation of abdominal fat contributes to the desensitization of tissues to insulin, known as peripheral tissue insulin resistance (167). Insulin resistance inhibits the uptake of glucose by insulin sensitive tissues (e.g. skeletal muscle). Increased abdominal fat also impairs the ability to suppress endogenous glucose production (168,169). Additionally, while tissues are less responsive to insulin, the body secretes more of it to try to overcome this desensitization. In doing so, it stimulates an increased anabolic state which increases lipogenesis and storage (170). These physiological alterations may lead to exacerbations of fat deposition, hyperglycemia as well as hyperinsulinemia (168,171). The relationship between hyperglycemia, insulin resistance and diabetes will be discussed further in section 2.5.1.

### 2.4.2 Glucose Transporters

Glucose can enter cells in both an ATP-independent and dependent manner by glucose transporter proteins (GLUT). The transporter proteins enable different cell types to utilize glucose according to their functions (172). For instance, most brain cells have GLUT-1 as the main transporter, and can move glucose intracellularly without requiring insulin, and at very low levels of circulating glucose (172). On the other hand, muscle cells and adipose cells have GLUT-4 as their principal transporter, which is insulin and/or contraction (in muscle) dependent. This enables adipose tissue cells, whose function is to store excess energy, to respond to the higher glucose levels characteristic of the fed state, via insulin, by taking up glucose (and fat) increasing lipogenesis and suppressing lipolysis. However, when glucose and insulin levels fall to fasting levels, glucose no longer enters the cells. Lipolysis is then promoted and fatty acids and glycerol are released into circulation for fuel or gluconeogenesis (172).

GLUT 4 transporters are also stimulated to take up glucose in the skeletal muscle by exercise. Davis et al. conducted a RCT in OW/OB children and showed that a regular schedule of 20-40 min of aerobic exercise 5 day/week for 13 weeks significantly improved insulin sensitivity (p = 0.01) (measured by insulin area under

the curve using an oral glucose tolerance test) and decreased visceral fat (p < 0.001) (173). Similarly, Alberga et al. demonstrated in a systematic review that resistance training has many beneficial metabolic benefits, including improved insulin sensitivity, increased glucose utilization and improved lipid profiles; processes that may be impaired in childhood obesity (96). Researchers attribute improvements in insulin sensitivity through increased glucose utilization as resistance exercise enhance the level of localized muscle contraction and provide a further stimulus to glucose transporter proteins into the cell (174,175).

# **2.5 INSULIN**

Insulin is the principal hormone responsible for glucose homeostasis and it is secreted by pancreatic beta cells (62). It is an anabolic hormone that stimulates glucose influx into body cells, and promotes other anabolic processes including muscle protein synthesis, glycogen synthesis and storage in liver and muscle, and fat storage in adipocytes (62,71). Insulin has a major role in the development of diabetes and obesity (62,170,174). Obesity contributes to the development of T2D by perpetuating insulin resistance which can lead to pancreatic beta cell failure (see section 2.5.2 for further explanation). T2D can also contribute to the development of obesity as a result of metabolic changes in adipose tissue (176,177). To understand the relationship between insulin and T2D, it is necessary to explain insulin resistance first, and its role in the development of metabolic disorders.

## 2.5.1 Insulin Resistance

Insulin Resistance represents an insensitivity of peripheral tissues (e.g. muscle, liver, fat) to the effects of insulin, that is, when tissues that normally respond to insulin become less responsive and do not take up glucose as readily. Consequently, glucose is left in circulation and blood glucose levels rise (hyperglycemia) (62). Wellfunctioning pancreatic beta cells have a normal capacity to produce insulin. However, as insulin resistance worsens, beta cells continually stimulate insulin production and release in an attempt to decrease hyperglycemia, but remain ineffective (178,179). This also leads to an additional state called hyperinsulinemia (high concentration of blood insulin) (180). The constant demand on the beta cells to secrete high levels of insulin can eventually lead to beta cell dysfunction. The combination of beta cell dysfunction and peripheral tissue insulin resistance perpetuates the state of T2D (181). As this process continues, progressive failure of the beta cell compensatory response in the presence of insulin resistance, leads blood glucose concentrations to rise, first to pre-diabetes levels (impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glucose) and eventually to levels consistent with T2D (62,163). The progression from normal blood glucose to diabetes is illustrated in Figure 6. T2D develops as a result of insulin resistance and beta cell failure. When the pancreas is able to fully compensate its secretion of insulin, normal glucose levels are restored. However, insulin secretion in the blood is high, in a *hyperinsulinemia state* (Figure 6, phase A). Insulin release may not fully compensate for increases in blood glucose concentration if peripheral tissues become insensitive to the effects of insulin. In this case, blood glucose levels go up, first to pre-diabetic levels (Figure 6, phase B) and lastly to levels that are suggestive of T2D (Figure 6, phase C). When beta-cells fail, there will not be enough cells to maintain insulin release, which leads insulin to drop to levels below normal, in a state

of *hypoinsulinemia* accompanied by a state of hyperglycemia (Figure 6, phase C) (62).



Figure 6. Development of Type 2 Diabetes. Adapted from (47).

According to the Canadian Diabetes Association (CDA), about 11 million people had diabetes in 2016, and it is expected to increase to 13.9 million by 2026 (182). Among children and adolescents, the incidence of T2D has increased in the last twenty years, with over 95% of diabetic children being OW/OB (183). It is shown that insulin resistance can already develop with weight gain in children within the normal range of body mass (184). This shows that insulin resistance starts early in life and can precede other metabolic issues, like pre-diabetes, T2D and MetS. Thus, identification of insulin resistance in the early stages of life is a strategy to target high risk children and prevent various metabolic disorders associated with progressive obesity such as early atherosclerosis, hypertension, fatty liver disease, dyslipidemia and polycystic ovarian syndrome from occurring during childhood and adulthood (184,185). Obesity has been associated with insulin resistance and related complications (170). A cross-sectional study from Srivasan et al. using data from the Bogalusa Heart Study showed that a higher BMI was associated with higher fasting insulin levels in childhood and youth, and with higher fasting glucose levels in young adulthood (186). Other authors have suggested that a higher BMI-percentile is associated with increased insulin resistance in children, which is an initial step in the pathogenesis of T2D (71,184). In a representative subsample of adolescents from the United States aged 12–19 years who participated in the NHANES, obesity was by far the most significant determinant of insulin resistance, independent of sex, age, or race/ethnicity (184). Strategies to manage childhood obesity are necessary to avoid future development of insulin resistance, T2D and other associated metabolic disorders worldwide.

# 2.5.2 Insulin and Lipid Metabolism

The relationship between insulin and glucose is well known, however insulin also plays an important role in the regulation of lipid metabolism. When blood glucose is high (i.e. post-prandial state), insulin is also increased. Insulin stimulates the enzyme lipoprotein lipase (LPL). LPL breaks down the TGs in chylomicrons (which come from the small intestine) and in VLDLs (produced by the liver), so that fatty acids can enter the adipocytes, where they reassemble into TGs and are stored in adipose tissue (62). When fat is needed for use (i.e. in the post-absorptive state), adipose tissue releases free fatty acids (FFAs) into the circulation where they can be taken up by cells throughout the body to produce ATP (62). This process is stimulated by another enzyme called hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) (Figure 7). The liver can also take up the FFAs and glycerol from circulation and package them back into VLDL, which is then secreted by the liver again into the blood.



Figure 7. Storing and recovering energy from fat. Insulin mediate the action of the enzymes lipoprotein lipase and hormone-sensitive lipase to store and remove triglycerides in adipose tissue, respectively. Retrieved from (47).

Overall, when insulin is activated it promotes anabolic processes such as: a) stimulating LPL for storage of TGs in adipose tissue: lipogenesis, and b) suppressing HSL, which in turn restrains the release of FFAs from adipose tissue: preventing lipolysis. Once blood glucose is normalized and insulin is low, the following processes predominate such as: a) inhibition of LPL causing TGs to not be taken up for storage in the adipose tissue: inhibition of lipogenesis, and b) stimulation of HSL causing a release of FFAs into circulation: lipolysis. Liver and muscle cells then take up the FFAs and use them as fuel (62,170,187).

Individuals with insulin resistance have higher levels of circulating FFAs than people who are insulin sensitive because the usual suppressive effect that insulin has on HSL is diminished at the adipose tissue, thus allowing HSL to breakdown TGs and release them into the blood in the presence of high insulin levels (62,170). Normally, in the liver, insulin stimulates the uptake of glucose (for glycogenesis) and inhibits gluconeogenesis (synthesis of glucose from non-glucose precursors). However, in the insulin resistance state glycogenesis is impeded (because glucose cannot enter the liver cells) and gluconeogenesis occurs excessively, both of which lead to hyperglycemia (165). The liver also synthesizes TGs and VLDL from FFAs. Insulin inhibits the release of VLDL, but in the insulin resistance state this effect is decreased and circulating VLDL increases (170,188). Normally, muscle cells take up glucose (in the fed state – high insulin) and fatty acids (in the fasting state – low insulin) for energy. If the individual is insulin resistant, the uptake of glucose in muscle cells is decreased which contributes to hyperglycemia, and there is an increased storage of TGs in this tissue (170,188,189)

Excessive amounts of adipose tissue throughout the body (obesity) promotes a greater release of FFAs in the circulation (62,167). The liver and muscle take up and oxidize some of these FFAs to produce energy and some are stored as TGs. In some inactive, OB individuals, the amount of FFAs taken up may be excessive. In this case, the excess is channelled into different metabolic pathways, producing products that can cause insulin resistance. This effect of excess uptake leading to alternative metabolic pathways is known as lipotoxicity. Similar effects occur in the liver and the beta-cell of the pancreas which can lead to beta-cell dysregulation and eventually insulin resistance (62,167). Obesity also produces an inflammatory effect by inducing an increase in the number and size of adipocytes, which causes an infiltration of macrophages into this tissue that release proinflammatory cytokines. This chronic systemic inflammation interferes with insulin homeostasis, eventually promoting insulin resistance (62,167). These imbalances together result in metabolic

impairments that may start in childhood and progress into adulthood (1). Early identification of children with greater cardiometabolic risk is vital to prevent future complications.

## 2.5.3 Assessing Insulin Resistance and Insulin Sensitivity

The standard technique for assessment of insulin sensitivity/resistance is the hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp. Although this method has been used to study insulin sensitivity/resistance and insulin secretion during childhood, it is complicated, quite invasive and expensive, as it requires 3-hours of continuous administration of both glucose and insulin intravenously (190). For this reason, using minimally invasive, simple and reliable measures of insulin resistance are important to monitor disease risk in youth. Indices such as the quantitative insulin sensitivity check index (QUICKI) and the homeostatic model assessment - insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR) have been used in large studies (179,191) and clinically (178,192) to determine the degree of insulin sensitivity and resistance, respectively, in children and adolescents. HOMA-IR is calculated using the product of fasting concentrations of glucose (mmol/L) and insulin (mU/L) and divided by a constant of 22.5. This method has been well correlated with the euglycemic clamp technique in the seminal study by Matthews et al., (193). The values of insulin resistance obtained from HOMA-IR were well correlated with the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp in 12 normal weight men (r = 0.83, p<0.01), in 11 diabetic men (r = 0.92, p < 0.0001) and in both groups together (r = 0.88, p < 0.0001) (193).

QUICKI has been used to determine insulin sensitivity in clinical investigations. The index is derived by calculating the inverse sum of logarithmically

expressed fasting glucose and insulin concentrations. As fasting insulin levels decrease, QUICKI values increase (194). Keskin et al. compared the HOMA-IR and QUICKI methods using results from oral glucose tolerance tests (OGTT) in 57 OB children and adolescents (195). The OGTT consists of blood draws at 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes after oral glucose administration to measure insulin and glucose. The participants were divided in 2 groups, insulin resistant (n=25) and non-insulin resistant (n=32). They found significant differences between HOMA-IR and QUICKI between the 2 groups (p < 0.05 for both). The authors performed a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) scatter plot based on insulin resistance and sensitivity to analyze sensitivity and specificity of HOMA-IR and QUICKI. HOMA-IR was shown to be more sensitive and specific as a measure of insulin resistance compared to QUICKI as a measure of insulin sensitivity in children and adolescents (195). In addition, this study confirmed a HOMA-IR cut-off point to determine insulin resistance in children and adolescents. The cut-off of 3.16 yielded a sensitivity of 76% and a specificity of 66% (195).

### 2.6 LIPIDS

Obesity is associated with dyslipidemia (109). Dyslipidemia is a group of disorders of lipoprotein metabolism, including its overproduction and/or deficiency of certain lipoproteins and lipids in the blood (196). Before getting into the discussion of lipid disorders and obesity, it is necessary to describe how these components are normally metabolized in the tissues throughout the body.

### 2.6.1 Lipid Transport and Delivery

In the post-prandial state, short- and medium-chain fatty acids are transported from the small intestine to the blood. Long-chain fatty acids and cholesterol must be incorporated into chylomicrons before entering the bloodstream (Figure 8, step 1). Chylomicrons in the bloodstream encounter LPL on vessel walls which breaks down TGs into fatty acids and glycerol. The fatty acids then enter the surrounding cells to be stored or used as energy (Figure 8, step 2). Chylomicron remnants then go to the liver and are disassembled (Figure 8, step 3). TGs are reformed in the liver and are incorporated into lipoproteins; VLDL being the first lipoprotein from the liver. VLDLs transport lipids out of the liver and deliver TGs to tissue cells (Figure 8, step 4). Once TGs are removed from VLDL, a smaller, denser, intermediate-density lipoprotein (IDL) remains. Approximately two-thirds of the IDLs return to the liver, and the rest is converted into LDL. LDL primarily consists of cholesterol and is the main delivery system of cholesterol to the cells (Figure 8, step 5). Apoprotein B (apoB), a protein on the surface of LDL, must attach to a LDL-receptor, then LDL can be taken up by the cells where cholesterol and other components can be used (Figure 8, step 6). HDLs participate in reverse cholesterol transport by circulating in the blood collecting cholesterol from other lipoproteins and body cells, and return it to the liver for repackaging or disposal, or transfer it to organs with a high cholesterol requirement, such as those involved in steroid-hormone synthesis (Figure 8, step 7) (62).



Figure 8. Lipid transport. Retrieved from (47).

# 2.6.2 The Role of Dyslipidemia, Obesity and Development of CVD

Childhood obesity can increase the risk of CVD due to the abnormal levels of lipoproteins that circulate in the blood (114). As discussed in previous sections, the greater the adipose tissue mass (and the level of insulin resistance), the greater the release of FFAs. These are taken up by the liver and synthesized into TGs, which are packaged as VLDLs and secreted. Consequently, an OB individual will tend to have increased levels of VLDL in the blood compared to a lean individual (197,198). Over time, the elevated concentration of serum VLDL promotes the development of CVD and may lead to atypical lipoprotein metabolism (196). Cholesterol from HDL is not taken up by the liver as it normally would, but transferred back to VLDL, which results in a cholesterol-depleted HDL. The depleted-HDL molecule is cleared from the blood rapidly, decreasing the levels of circulating HDL (159). In addition, high levels of VLDL cause abnormal transfers of TGs from VLDL to LDL. Consequently, this TGs-enriched-LDL particle, rather than being directly taken up by the liver, interacts instead with hepatic lipase (an enzyme that acts like LPL but is found in the liver) to remove the TGs, leaving in the blood an LDL particle that is smaller in size than the original LDL particle and richer in cholesterol. This particle is called small dense [sd]-LDL. The sd-LDLs tend to be more atherogenic and accumulate more easily in blood vessel walls due to their small size, and are more rapidly oxidized. Hence, the smaller size and faster oxidation of sd-LDL particles promote the development of CVD and atherosclerosis more readily than normal LDL (62).

In the Bogalusa Heart Study, 58% of the OW children presented with at least one risk factor for CVD (52), which may suggest that excess adiposity is associated with early vascular complications, although it is not the only risk factor. OW is also predictive of accelerated atherosclerosis and of early cardiovascular events in adult life (105). Studies reveal that cardiovascular complications begin in childhood (202,203) and endothelial damage has been noted in children with lipid abnormalities (204). In two studies, the 'Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth Study' and the 'Bogalusa Heart Study', high TGs and low HDL were strongly correlated with evidence of premature atherosclerosis in youth (205–207). Thus, prevention and management of childhood dyslipidemia and obesity are important for

the prevention of future cardiometabolic diseases and complications (196). Table 8 shows the reference and cut-off values for blood lipids in children and adolescents.

	Acceptable	Borderline	High		
тс	< 4.40	4.40 - 5.15	> 5.18		
LDL-c	< 2.85	2.85 - 3.34	> 3.37		
<b>TGs</b> 0 - 9 years	< 0.85	0.85 - 1.12	> 1.13		
10 - 19 y	< 1.02	1.02 - 1.45	> 1.47		
HDL-c	> 1.17	1.04 - 1.17	< 1.04		
TC: total cholesterol, LDL: low density lipoprotein, TGs: triglycerides, HDL: high density lipoprotein.					

Table 8. Acceptable, borderline, and high plasma lipid concentrations (mmol/L) for children and adolescents. Adapted from (115).

In addition to standard lipid profile measures, the TGs to HDL-c ratio (TGs:HDL-c) has emerged as a useful tool to diagnose and monitor lipid levels in patients with CVD risk factors (208). In adults, the TGs:HDL-c has been shown to be a strong predictor of coronary heart disease (208,209). Quijada et al. showed that the TGs:HDL-c was useful in determining pre-pubertal children at risk for obesity, dyslipidemia, MetS and hypertension (210). Giannini et al. demonstrated that the TGs:HDL-c is associated with insulin resistance, particularly in white boys and girls, but not significantly in Hispanics or African Americans youth (211).

Lipoprotein ratios reflect the interactions between lipid fractions more accurately than isolated lipid values for assessment of CVD risk (208). In children, an elevated TGs:HDL-c is associated with insulin resistance, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and cardiometabolic risk factors, and has been used as a marker to monitor these conditions (114,208,212,213). In individuals with insulin resistance, TGs levels are normally high and HDL-c is low. Thus, the TGs:HDL-c ratio has been proposed to be an alternative assessment of insulin resistance, with a higher ratio demonstrating a lower health status, as it would show a high concentration of circulating fats and/or low concentration of 'healthy cholesterol' (HDL-c) (214). A TGs:HDL-c ratio of  $\geq$ 2 has been proposed to be closely associated with increased cardiometabolic risk (insulin resistance, high waist circumference, high blood pressure, impaired fasting glucose, high white blood count and MetS) in children and adolescents (212).

## 2.7 OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESES

The overall objective of this thesis was to examine metabolic variables in OW and OB adolescent girls before and after a 12-week intensive lifestyle modification program including exercise training and healthy nutrition advice with and without the consumption of the recommended number of dairy products. The specific objectives of this thesis were to determine whether dairy consumption during a weight management intervention combining healthy eating and exercise affected:

- fasting insulin levels.
- o fasting glucose levels.
- fasting TGs, TC, HDL-c and LDL-c levels.

The hypotheses of this thesis were that the metabolic variables of fasting glucose, insulin, TGs, TC and LDL-c would decrease and/or normalize, and HDL-c would increase and/or normalize in OW and OB adolescent girls following a nonenergy restricted, 12-week weight management, lifestyle modification intervention combining healthy eating and exercise training, with and without dairy consumption. It was also hypothesized that those consuming the recommended amount of dairy products would show greater improvements in lipids, insulin and glucose compared to those not consuming dairy products during the intervention.

# CHAPTER 3

# **METHODS**

### 3.1 Study Design

This study is part of the larger 'Improving Diet, Exercise And Lifestyle (IDEAL) for Adolescents' study, which is a 12-week randomized, controlled intervention study involving OW/OB adolescent girls. For this thesis, a total of 20 participants were recruited and assigned to one of two groups: Recommended Dairy (RDa) and Low Dairy (LDa). The two intervention groups (RDa and LDa) differed in the amount of dairy consumed (4 svgs/d RDa *vs* 0-1 svgs/d LDa). Participants in both groups underwent the same exercise program and were counselled on healthy eating at the same intervals.

# 3.2 Participants, Recruitment, Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Participants were recruited in the Niagara region by advertising in the local paper, on local radio, in public transit, on local TV stations, social media (Facebook), press release from Brock University and through flyers. We also recruited from pediatric and general practitioner physician clinics in the area and in the local elementary and high schools of the District School Board of Niagara. To be eligible for this study, participants needed to be menarcheal, OW ( $\geq$ 85-97 percentile BMI) or OB ( $\geq$ 97 percentile BMI) [On WHO growth charts (http://www.cps.ca/tools-outils/who-growth-charts)] and between the ages 10 and 18 years. Other general

criteria included low dairy consumption (0-2 servings per day and <700 mg calcium per day), inactive (0-2x/week) and otherwise healthy. Exclusion criteria included allergy to dairy foods or diagnosed lactose intolerance, taking medications related to a chronic condition or that affect bone health, and/or taking vitamin or mineral supplements that were not prescribed by a practitioner. Ethical clearance was obtained from the Brock University Biosciences Research Ethics Board (REB 14-284) and informed consent was obtained from the participants and their guardians.

# **3.3 Procedures and Consent Process**

Interested participants responded by contacting the study office by phone or email. They then answered a series of questions confirming their eligibility to participate. Once deemed eligible, informed consent was sought at the first scheduled visit. After receiving informed consent, each participant completed a general health questionnaire to document medical history and medication use (Appendix A). After screening the participants, and all entry criteria had been met, they were stratified by BMI-for-age percentile (85-97<sup>th</sup> or  $\geq$ 97<sup>th</sup>) (OW or OB) to ensure that an equal number of participants from each BMI category were in all groups, and then randomized to one of the two groups (LDa, RDa). Subsequently, the preliminary visits for baseline testing were scheduled before the intervention commenced. All testing took place at Brock University in the *Nutrition, Exercise and Lifestyle Improvement Laboratory*.

During the first visit, participants arrived at the laboratory in the morning (between 8:00 and 10:00 am) after an overnight fast. A venous blood sample was collected. Anthropometric and body composition measures were then performed including height, body mass, %BF, LM, FM and waist circumference. Participants were asked to fill out a 7-d food record (FR) to verify their low dairy/calcium intake and to learn about their daily diet prior to commencing the study.

Following this visit, participants came back to the laboratory for an exercise introduction session where the parent and participant met their personal trainer, went over the exercises that were going to be performed, and outlined an exercise schedule for the next 12 weeks. Pedometers (FitBit Zip) and iPod shuffles were also provided to the participant during this visit. After the exercise introduction session, participants had their first diet consultation with a registered dietitian (week 0). The dietitian reviewed the baseline 7-d FR with the participant and their parent/guardian, and gave instructions for beginning the diet protocol. If the participant was randomised to the RDa group, dairy products were provided during this visit.

### 3.4 Diet and Exercise Intervention for 12 Weeks

### **3.4.1. Diet Intervention**

The diets were designed for weight maintenance rather than for energy restriction. Energy expenditure was calculated per participant using predictive equations from the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics for OW and OB girls with a sedentary activity factor (http://www.andeal.org/topic.cfm?cat=3060). This was used to prescribe a diet for weight maintenance based on participant's age, height and body mass. LDa and RDa groups differed only in the type of protein consumed (and associated nutrients). The ratio of macronutrients was 20:55:25 (Protein:Carbohydrate:Fat), and participants were counselled on achieving a healthy dietary intake consisting of: fruit, vegetables, fibre, whole grains, lean meats and meat alternatives. Also, they were asked to avoid processed foods, high 'bad'

(trans/saturated fat [SFA]) fat foods, sugar-sweetened beverages, pastries and confection.

The LDa group maintained their low dairy intake of 0-2 svgs/d, and consumed protein from sources other than dairy, including: meat, egg, fish, chicken, legume and grains. They were asked to refrain from consuming calcium-fortified beverages/foods. Meanwhile, the RDa group consumed 4 svgs/d of dairy as recommended in Canada's Food Guide (Health Canada, 2016), including: 2 cups of milk (white and chocolate 1%), 2x100g cartons of 0% or 2% MF Greek yogurt (any flavour) and 50 g of cheese. All dairy products were provided to the participants. Participants picked them up from the *Nutrition, Exercise and Lifestyle Improvement Laboratory* on a weekly basis. Because of the intake of dairy, the RDa group was consuming at least 1250 mg of calcium and 240 IU of vitamin D, representing 96% (1250/1300 mg) and 40% (240/600 IU) of the RDAs for these nutrients, respectively. Participants were instructed not to take any vitamin or mineral supplements during the study.

Participants received individualized diet counselling by a registered dietitian, 5 times during the study (weeks 0, 2, 4, 8, 12). The initial 7-d FR was analyzed using the *Food Processor* Diet analysis program by ESHA (ESHA Research) and served as a starting point on which the diet counselling was based. Participants were provided with an individualized eating plan outlining their required macronutrient intakes in food group servings corresponding to their daily energy requirements. Participants provided 3-d FRs (7-d FR in week-12) before each counselling session to track compliance with the nutrition protocol. They received feedback about their intakes in the following diet consult. The same investigator analyzed all FRs using ESHA.

## 3.4.2. Exercise Training Intervention

Participants underwent exercise training over the 12 weeks, 3 times/week, at Brock University. On days that participants did not receive formal exercise training, they were assigned various forms of physical activity to achieve a predetermined number of steps during their leisure time. Steps were determined using the pedometers provided. Each formal training session lasted about 60-90 min and consisted of aerobic (e.g. treadmill, stationary bike, stairs), plyometric (jumping) and resistive exercise (e.g. thera bands, free weights, and body-weight exercises). Each session consisted of a warm-up (5 min), aerobic exercise (25 min), resistive exercise (20 min), and a cool down with stretching (10 min). The training sessions followed the principles of progressive overload (starting at 50-60% of maximal ability, based on baseline testing, and progressively increasing the intensity or load) and were facilitated by trained study personnel (students and/or volunteer personal trainers). The volunteer trainers completed resistance and aerobic exercise log sheets and participants completed the pedometer log sheet to be checked frequently by study personnel to ensure compliance. Both groups consumed a drink immediately post exercise. The RDa group had 1 cup of 1% chocolate milk, and LDa group had 1 cup of a non-dairy, vitamin D- and calcium-free, carbohydrate-based drink. These drinks were counted as part of their daily consumption.

### **3.5 Measurements**

### **3.5.1** Anthropometry and Body Composition

Anthropometric and body composition assessments took place at 0, 6 and 12 weeks. All measures of height (cm), seated height (cm), body mass (kg) and body

composition were assessed by the same investigator for each participant. Standing and sitting height were measured using a stadiometer to the nearest 0.1cm with light clothing and no shoes. Body mass, %BF, LM and FM were assessed using the BodyMetrix device which is a hand-held ultrasound probe that measures body fat in different areas of the body (BodyMetrix<sup>TM</sup> System, BX-2000, IntelaMetrix, Inc., Livermore, CA). Body composition was calculated by measuring subcutaneous fat thickness at 4 sites (triceps, hip, waist and thigh). Waist and hip circumference were measured using a flexible measuring tape to the nearest 0.1 cm at four body sites in duplicate: waist, midline between 11<sup>th</sup> rib and iliac crest (umbilicus line), high hip line (above iliac crest and below umbilicus), hip line (widest part of the hip, over the gluteus muscles). Each measurement was taken 2x and an average of the two was used. All body composition and anthropometric measures were done by the same investigator. BMI was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height (cm) squared.

### **3.5.2 Biochemical Analysis**

Fasting blood samples were obtained on two occasions (pre- and postintervention) between 8:00 and 10:00 am after an overnight fast of 10–12 h, using serum, oxalate and non-heparinized tubes. Blood was centrifuged between 30-60 minutes after the blood draw, at 3500 rpm and 4°C for 15-20 minutes. The serum/plasma was separated and aliquoted into 0.5ml polyethylene tubes, being stored at -80°C until analysis.

TC, TGs, HDL-c and glucose were measured using the Alere Cholestech LDX® System (ref. 10-991. San Diego, CA, USA). LDL-c was calculated by the Cholestech LDX® System. This system combines enzymatic methodology and solidphase technology. Specifically, the Cholestech LDX® system measures TC and HDLc by enzymatic methods based on the hydrolysis of cholesterol esters to free cholesterol. Similarly, TGs are measured based on the hydrolysis of TGs by lipase to glycerol and FFAs. For glucose, the system uses glucose oxidase to catalyze the oxidation of glucose to gluconolactone and hydrogen peroxide. The resultant colour in all the reactions is measured by reflectance photometry (215). Serum insulin was analyzed in duplicate using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA; R&D Systems®. Quantikine ELISA Human/Canine/Porcine Insulin. Catalog no. DINS00, Minneapolis, MN, USA). The average intra-assay coefficient of variation was 3.8%.

## **3.5.3 Calculations**

HOMA-IR uses the product of fasting insulin (mU/L) and fasting glucose (mmol/L) divided by 22.5 to measure insulin resistance (193). Insulin resistance was defined as a HOMA-IR value of >3.16 (195). QUICKI is a variation of HOMA-IR, but it assesses insulin sensitivity by calculating the log transformation of fasting insulin added to fasting glucose (1/(log10 insulin mU/L + log10 glucose mmol/L) (194). The ratio of TGs:HDL-c has been used to predict CVD risk because this ratio is inversely correlated with plasma levels of small, dense LDL particles (212). This ratio has also been correlated with insulin resistance in children and adolescents (214). Our study did not demonstrate significant changes in these indices after the 12-week intervention.

## **3.6 Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 22.0 for Windows (SPSS, Chicago, Illinois, USA). Data are presented at mean +/- standard deviations in the tables. Independent t-tests were used to assess baseline differences between the groups. Two-way analysis of variance for repeated measures (RM ANOVA) were conducted to examine the differences in BMI, body mass, waist circumference, body composition, TC, LDL-c, HDL-c, TGs, insulin, glucose and dietary nutrients (i.e. protein, carbohydrates, total fat, saturated fat, calcium and vitamin D) between the first and second time points (TIME/within effect) and between RDa and LDa groups (GROUP/between effect). Pearson correlations were performed on the change values and percentage change values for BMI, body mass, body composition, serum lipids, insulin and glucose to assess the relationship between them. Significance was assumed at or below an alpha level of 0.05.

### **3.6.1 Sample size justification**

No study has assessed cardiometabolic variables in adolescent girls after increased intakes of dairy products combined with exercise. Only one study carried out in 120 pre-pubertal, OB children (boys and girls) found a significant increase (p = 0.01) in HDL-c and a significant decrease in TGs (p < 0.0001) after low and high intakes of dairy products for 6 months, however no difference was found between groups (21). Other studies have investigated the effects of a lifestyle intervention (healthy diet and exercise) on cardiometabolic markers, but not combined with different intakes of dairy (see Table 5 in literature review). Therefore, for the sample size calculation, the study by Kelishadi et al. was chosen as its outcomes are most
similar to ours. The sample size calculation was done to see a change in TGs over the intervention between groups. An  $\alpha$  -value of 0.05 and a desired power of 0.80 was used. The calculated total sample size was 60 participants, with an effect size of 0.2 units (G\*Power, version 3.1). Therefore, with our current sample size we are underpowered to see this effect.

# CHAPTER 4

# RESULTS

#### **4.1 Descriptive Characteristics**

Twenty adolescent girls completed the intervention as of June 2017, and are therefore included in this thesis; nine in the Recommended Dairy (RDa) group who were all considered OB, and eleven in the Low Dairy (LDa) group, where 6 were OW and 5 were OB. Descriptive characteristics of the adolescents in the study sample are presented in Table 9. There were no differences between groups for lipid profile, fasting glucose and insulin and nutritional intake at baseline. However, adolescents in the RDa group had greater body mass (kg), FM (kg), LM (kg) and waist circumference (cm) compared with the LDa group at baseline (p = 0.03, p = 0.02, p = 0.04, and p = 0.02, respectively). BMI, waist:height ratio and saturated fat intake were trending towards significance between groups at baseline (p = 0.08, p = 0.06, and p = 0.06, respectively).

Variables	RDa (n=9)	LDa (n=11)	P-value	
Age (years)	$16.0 \pm 2.2$	15.9 ± 2.0	0.93	
Height (cm)	$165.1\pm6.5$	$162.2\pm4.7$	0.31	
BMI	$33.1 \pm 4.4$	$29.4\pm4.7$	0.08	
Body Mass (kg)	$89.7 \pm 11.2$	$77.2 \pm 12.1$	0.03*	
Waist Circumference (cm)	$109.6\pm10.3$	$97.4 \pm 10.9$	0.02*	
Waist:Height ratio	$0.67\pm0.07$	$0.60\pm0.07$	0.06	
Body Fat (%)	$41.0 \pm 3.4$	$38.3\pm4.0$	0.13	
Fat Mass (kg)	$36.7\pm6.8$	$28.9\pm6.1$	0.02*	
Lean Mass (kg)	$52.6\pm7.5$	$46.4\pm5.1$	0.04*	
Total Cholesterol (mmol/L)	$4.13\pm0.70$	$3.93\pm0.62$	0.50	
HDL-c (mmol/L)	$0.96\pm0.33$	$1.18\pm0.38$	0.19	
LDL-c (mmol/L)	$2.43 \pm 0.73$	$2.23 \pm 0.59$	0.51	
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	$1.62 \pm 0.86$	$1.14\pm0.43$	0.15	
TGs:HDL-c	$2.30 \pm 2.16$	$1.09\pm0.54$	0.14	
Glucose (mmol/L)	$4.67\pm0.29$	$4.65\pm0.25$	0.84	
Insulin (mU/L)	$21.5\pm20.6$	$13.6\pm5.3$	0.29	
HOMA-IR	$4.52\pm4.51$	$2.83 \pm 1.18$	0.30	
QUICK index	$0.54\pm0.08$	$0.58\pm0.08$	0.40	
Calcium (mg/day)	$535 \pm 156$	$487\pm224$	0.59	
Vitamin D (IU/day)	$27.3\pm28.4$	31.9 ± 33.4	0.74	
Energy (Kcal/day)	$1762\pm429$	$1470\pm356$	0.11	
Protein (g/day)	$79\pm27$	61 ± 19 0		
Protein (% Energy/day)	$18\pm4$	15 ± 3	0.19	
Carbohydrate (g/day)	$202\pm60$	$201\pm51$	0.97	
Carbohydrate (% Energy/day)	$45\pm 6$	$50\pm5$	0.10	
Total Fat (g/day)	$74\pm23$	$64 \pm 25$	0.39	
Total Fat (% Energy/day)	$37 \pm 5$	$35 \pm 4$	0.36	
Saturated Fat (g/day)	$25\pm8$	$18 \pm 6$	0.06	

*Table 9. Baseline Characteristics of the two intervention groups presented as mean*  $\pm$  *standard deviation.* 

All results are presented as mean ± standard deviation

\*Significance from Independent T-Test, significantly different with *p*-value < 0.05 LDa: low dairy group; RDa: recommended dairy group; BMI: body mass index; HDL-c: high density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-c: low density lipoprotein cholesterol; TGs:HDL-c: triglycerides:high density lipoprotein cholesterol; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; QUICKI: quantitative insulin sensitivity check index.

#### **4.2** Anthropometrics, Body Composition and Nutrition

Table 10 displays the anthropometric and body composition data for the RDa and LDa groups pre- and post-intervention. There were no significant interactions for any of the body composition measurements. With respect to the daily dietary intake, the RDa group had a significant increase in calcium and vitamin D, and the LDa group decreased calcium intake and increased the vitamin D. Significant interactions were observed for both calcium and vitamin D indicating that the change in the RDa group was greater than the change in the LDa group. As per the study diet protocol, both groups also increased protein intake per day by the end of the intervention, shown by a significant time effect. Lastly, there were significant group effects for protein and saturated fat intake indicating that the RDa group had increased intakes at both time points.

Table 10. Anthropometrics, body composition measures and dietary intake in both groups pre-intervention and post-intervention.

	RDa LDa		Da	<i>P</i> -value			
Variables	(r	1=9)	(n=	11)			
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Time	Group	Interaction
BMI	$33.1\pm4.4$	$32.7\pm5.0$	$29.4\pm4.7$	$28.7\pm3.8$	0.07	0.07	0.65
Height (cm)	$165.1\pm6.5$	165.3 ±6.5	$162.2\pm4.7$	$162.5\pm4.9$	0.03*	0.28	0.60
Body Mass (kg)	$89.7 \pm 11.2$	$88.9 \pm 11.7$	$77.2 \pm 12.1$	$75.4\pm9.6$	0.16	0.02*	0.57
Waist	$109.6\pm10.3$	$106.3\pm9.6$	$97.4 \pm 10.9$	$94.4\pm9.4$	0.003*	0.01*	0.89
Circumference							
(cm)							
Waist:Height	$0.67 \pm 0.07$	$0.65 \pm 0.07$	$0.60 \pm 0.07$	$0.58\pm0.06$	0.003*	0.05*	0.93
Body Fat (%)	$41.0 \pm 3.4$	38.6 ± 3.5	38.3 ± 4.0	36.0 ± 4.0	<0.001*	0.12	0.92
Fat Mass (kg)	$36.7 \pm 6.8$	$34.8 \pm 7.2$	$28.9 \pm 6.1$	$27.2\pm5.6$	<0.001*	0.02*	0.79
Lean Mass (kg)	$52.6\pm7.5$	$54.5\pm5.3$	$46.4\pm5.1$	$48.1\pm5.6$	0.01*	0.03*	0.89
Calcium (mg/day)	$535 \pm 156$	$1260\pm112$	$487 \pm 224$	$457\pm186$	<0.001*	<0.001*	<0.001*
Vitamin D	$27.3 \pm 28.4$	$343.0 \pm 98.2$	31.9 ± 33.4	39.7 ± 36.4	<0.001*	<0.001*	<0.001*
(IU/day)							
Energy (Kcal/day)	$1762 \pm 429$	$1750\pm448$	$1470\pm356$	$1594\pm296$	0.64	0.09	0.57
Protein (g/day)	$79\pm27$	$96\pm19$	$60 \pm 19$	$78\pm15$	0.01*	0.02*	0.97
Protein	$18 \pm 4$	$22 \pm 4$	15 ± 3	$20 \pm 3$	0.001*	0.06	0.99
(%Energy/day)							
Carbohydrate	$202 \pm 59$	$189 \pm 32$	$201 \pm 51$	$187 \pm 48$	0.36	0.93	0.97
(g/day)							
Carbohydrate	$45 \pm 6$	$44 \pm 6$	$50 \pm 5$	$45 \pm 6$	0.08	0.12	0.48
(%Ellergy/uay) Total Eat (g/day)	74 + 22	61 + 10	64 + 25	62 + 14	0.24	0.46	0.49
Total Fat (g/day)	74 ± 25	$01 \pm 18$	$64 \pm 23$	$62 \pm 14$	0.34	0.40	0.48
Total Fat	$37 \pm 5$	$34 \pm 7$	$35 \pm 4$	$35 \pm 4$	0.43	0.67	0.44
(%Energy/day)							
Saturated Fat	$25\pm8$	$25 \pm 7$	$18 \pm 6$	$17 \pm 5$	0.83	0.004*	0.84
(g/day)							

All results are presented as mean ± standard deviation \*Significance from 2-way repeated measures ANOVA (Group: RDa and LDa; Time: pre-to post-intervention), significantly different with p value < 0.05.

LDa: low dairy group; RDa: recommended dairy group; BMI; body mass index.

## 4.3 Metabolic Variables

Table 11 displays the metabolic and lipid variables for the RDa and LDa groups separately, before and after the intervention. There were no significant interactions or time effects for any of the variables. However, significant group effects were observed for TGs and TGs:HDL-c ratio.

Variables	R]	Da -9)	L	Da =11)		P-Value	e
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Time	Group	Interaction
Total Cholesterol (mmol/L)	$4.13\pm0.70$	$4.16\pm0.72$	$3.93\pm0.62$	$3.91\pm0.75$	0.96	0.47	0.77
HDL-c (mmol/L)	$0.96\pm0.33$	$0.97\pm0.38$	$1.18\pm0.38$	1.21 ±0.29	0.65	0.14	0.87
LDL-c (mmol/L)	$2.43\pm0.73$	$2.47\pm0.74$	$2.23\pm0.59$	$2.29\pm0.69$	0.54	0.53	0.88
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	$1.62\pm0.86$	$1.55\pm0.63$	$1.14\pm0.43$	$0.90\pm0.32$	0.17	0.03*	0.46
TGs:HDL-c ratio	$2.30\pm2.16$	$1.99 \pm 1.30$	$1.09\pm0.54$	$0.79\pm0.33$	0.17	0.03*	0.98
Glucose (mmol/L)	$4.67\pm0.29$	$4.79\pm0.37$	$4.65\pm0.25$	$4.53\pm0.28$	0.98	0.21	0.14
Insulin (mU/L)	$21.5\pm20.6$	$16.5\pm9.7$	$13.6\pm5.3$	11.3 ± 3.9	0.19	0.14	0.62
HOMA-IR	$4.52\pm5.51$	3.56 ±2.17	$2.83 \pm 1.18$	$2.27\pm0.79$	0.25	0.12	0.76
QUICKI	$0.54\pm0.08$	$0.56\pm0.09$	$0.58\pm0.08$	$0.59\pm0.04$	0.35	0.27	0.95

Table 11. Fasting blood values in both groups pre-intervention and post-intervention.

All results are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation

\*Significance from 2-way repeated measures ANOVA (Group: RDa and LDa; Time: pre-to post-intervention), significantly different with p value < 0.05. define acronyms

LDa: low dairy group; RDa: recommended dairy group; HDL-c: high density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-c: low density lipoprotein cholesterol; TGs:HDL-c: triglycerides:high density lipoprotein cholesterol; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; QUICKI: quantitative insulin sensitivity check index.

# 4.4 Correlations

Table 12 displays the significant correlations observed between some variables within all study participants (n=20). The change in TC was positively correlated with the change in waist circumference and the change in waist:height ratio. The change in insulin was correlated with change in waist circumference and waist:height. The change in HOMA-IR was correlated with the change in body mass and waist circumference. QUICKI change was correlated with body mass change and %BF change.

	Weight	Body Fat %	Waist Circumference	Waist:height Ratio
Total	0.38	0.21	0.48*	0.47*
Cholesterol	P = 0.95	P = 0.38	P = 0.04	P = 0.04
Insulin	0.53*	0.38	0.49*	0.46*
	P = 0.02	P = 0.09	P = 0.03	P = 0.04
HOMA-IR	0.53*	0.36	0.46*	0.43
	P = 0.02	P = 0.12	P = 0.04	P = 0.06
QUICKI	-0.51*	-0.58*	-0.39	-0.38
	P = 0.02	P = 0.008	P = 0.08	P = 0.10

Table 12. Correlations between the change values in all study participants (n=20).

\**P* value < 0.05

HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; QUICKI: quantitative insulin sensitivity check index



*Figure 9. Relationship between HOMA-IR change and body mass change of study participants,* r = 0.53, p = 0.02 (n=20).



HOMA-IR Change and Waist Circumference Change

Waist Circumference Change

*Figure 10. Relationship between HOMA-IR change and waist circumference change of study participants,* r = 0.46, p = 0.04 (n=20).

# CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION

The IDEAL for Adolescents study is a RCT that evaluates whether a 12-week lifestyle modification intervention, including a balanced diet for weight management (i.e. no energy restriction) and exercise training (resistance, aerobic and plyometric exercises, 3x/week), with and without dairy consumption (RDa: 4 svgs/d, 1200-1500mg/d Ca vs. LDa: 0-2 svgs/d, <700mg/d Ca), is effective at improving the metabolic profile of OW and OB adolescent girls aged 10-18 years. This is the first study to investigate the association between increased dairy consumption combined with exercise and a healthy diet on the metabolic profile in OW/OB adolescent girls. It was hypothesized that fasting insulin, glucose, TGs, TC and LDL-c levels would decrease in the RDa and LDa groups after the intervention, and that HDL-c levels would increase after the intervention. It was also hypothesized that differences would be observed between the two intervention groups such that the RDa group would show better outcomes. Since only a subset of twenty participants had completed the intervention by June 2017, the analyses in this thesis were carried out on only these participants. Thus, in a subset of 20 participants, results revealed that our intervention did not lead to significant reductions in TC, LDL-c, TGs, insulin and glucose, and increases in HDL-c in participants in either groups. Our analyses, thus far, are underpowered to detect changes in these cardiometabolic variables, which may explain, in part, why we failed to confirm our hypotheses. Another potential reason for this outcome may be explained by the fact that most of the adolescents were

within the normal range for TC, LDL-c and blood glucose at baseline (see Table 7 and Table 8 in literature review for blood glucose and lipids references, respectively), and consequently, major improvements were not likely to be seen after the intervention. Of note, TGs and HDL-c were outside the normal range of values only in the RDa group, however, we did not see greater improvements in this group. We also did not see significant adverse changes in any cardiometabolic marker with or without the addition of 4 servings of dairy per day in an intervention designed for weight maintenance. This suggests, in this small subset of participants, that consuming regular and low-fat dairy foods does not negatively affect blood lipids, glucose or insulin.

Despite the absence of significant changes in certain cardiometabolic markers, we did see improvements in body composition in both groups, such as a decreased waist circumference, waist:height ratio, %BF, FM and increased LM. Moreover, as it was a dietary goal in the study, protein intake per day increased in the RDa and LDa groups. Calcium and vitamin D increased in the RDa group, whereas calcium decreased in the LDa group alone with a small but significant increase in vitamin D. Since the RDa group was consuming 4 servings of dairy per day, we expected to see large increases in those nutrients. The RDa group, during the intervention, was consuming calcium at an adequate level, according to the Recommended Dietary Allowance for this age group which is 1200 mg/d. For the LDa group, the no change/slight decrease in calcium was also expected, as they were instructed to continue consuming 0-1 serving of dairy per day during the study. This reflected their baseline intakes, thus keeping their calcium intake consistent throughout the study. The increase in dietary vitamin D in the LDa group may be explained by the increased consumption of eggs and fish as part of a healthy diet that the dietitian recommended

based on our study guidelines. The vitamin D in the LDa group did not come from dairy foods. With regards to protein intake, it was recommended that both groups increased their intake of this macronutrient from baseline so that it made up 20% of their daily energy intake. The same macronutrient ratios were prescribed and encouraged for both groups. However, the RDa group were getting half of their daily protein from dairy sources and the rest from other healthy sources, whereas the LDa group were getting their protein from meat and meat alternatives (i.e. eggs, beans, chickpeas, quinoa and almonds/nuts), but not dairy.

Research has shown that the presence of unfavourable metabolic markers in OW/OB youth strongly influences the risk of CVD in adolescence, and this tracks into adulthood (52). In this regard, the aim of this thesis, within the larger intervention study, was to explore the effects of a healthy lifestyle modification intervention featuring the combination of positive changes in nutrition and exercise with a focus on incorporating dairy products in the diets of female adolescents. We hoped this would have improved the metabolic profile in these girls. Thus far, our findings suggest that increased dairy consumption, as part of a healthy diet and lifestyle pattern, might be an effective strategy for improving the quality of the diet in OW/OB adolescents (by increasing calcium and vitamin D levels as well as other micronutrients [data not shown]), however, from a subset of 20 participants, we failed to see significant differences between RDa and LDa groups in blood lipids (TC, LDLc, HDL-c and TGs), fasting insulin and glucose, and anthropometric and body composition components. Despite the absence of significant changes in the metabolic markers, our results demonstrated that when both intervention groups were combined (i.e., time effect in RM ANOVA, Table 10), we did see significant improvements in body composition and anthropometry, presented by the decreased waist

circumference, waist:height ratio, %BF, FM and increased LM. However, again no significant changes were seen between the RDa and LDa groups, thus, the dairy did not amplify/modify these effects in the RDa group, negatively or positively. We can conclude, thus far, in a subset of participants, that improvements in body composition were a result of the overall exercise intervention along with healthy changes in eating patterns (i.e. to include more protein, fruit and vegetables, and less junk food, processed food and SSB), and not from the addition of dairy per se. Also, the current study showed that the RDa group had the same gains in LM as the LDa group. There was a small but significant increase (p=0.03) in height over time in both groups (RDa mean change 0.2cm and LDa mean change 0.3cm). This increase could be physiological and/or error in the measurement. Nevertheless, this small average height increase is unlikely to significantly impact our LM or FM results. Thus, it is still believed that the improvement in LM in the study participants is most likely due to the 12-week mixed exercise program and not growth.

Only one other RCT has been carried out assessing the effect of dairy on metabolic markers in a pediatric population. Kelishadi et al. showed that 6 consecutive monthly family-centered educational sessions promoting healthy eating and increased physical activity (by a pediatrician and a nutritionist), with different intakes of dairy, was effective in reducing TGs, fasting insulin, HOMA-IR, and increasing HDL-c. No changes were observed for fasting glucose (21). We did not find similar results to Kelishadi et al., however, it is important to note that the baseline values for TGs and HDL-c in their study were abnormal for all groups (>3.11 mmol/L and <0.97 mmol/L, respectively). Our current study had TGs values around the normal cut-offs at baseline for the LDa group (1.14 mmol/L) and above normal for the RDa group (1.62 mmol/L). The LDa presented normal values for HDL-c (1.18

mmol/L), but the RDa group presented an abnormal/lower mean (0.96 mmol/L). In addition, Kelishadi et al. presented a sample of 40 participants per group (n=120), meanwhile the current study only had a sample of 20 participants total, with 9 in the RDa and 11 in the LDa group.

In summary, our study shows no correlation of increased dairy intake on lipid and glucose homeostasis variables in OW/OB adolescent girls. It is worth mentioning again that our study sample was only a subset of the total sample for the IDEAL for Adolescents Study, therefore we were statistically underpowered for the metabolic variable analyses. Further analysis with a greater sample size is necessary to make conclusions between the relationship of dairy and cardiometabolic markers in our pediatric sample.

### 5.1 Insulin & Glucose

A systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs by Ho et al. evaluated the effectiveness of lifestyle modification interventions including a combination of behavioural change, exercise and healthy diet in OW/OB youth (8-16 years) (88). The meta-analysis revealed that comparing the lifestyle modification programs to control groups, the concentrations of fasting insulin lowered after 4 months to 1 year (88). By contrast, in our study, we did not see a significant mean change in fasting insulin or fasting glucose in LDa or RDa groups at week 12. The difference in results of this meta-analysis to ours might be due to study design differences. Ho et al. found significant improvement in fasting insulin in favour of lifestyle modification over 1-year duration (-7.9 mU/L, 95% CI: -10.3 to -5.6,  $I^2 = 0\%$ ) (88), whereas our study was 12 weeks. Moreover, the mean concentration of fasting insulin at baseline was 21.5 ±

20.6 mU/L and  $16.5 \pm 9.70$  mU/L by the end of the intervention in the RDa group, and  $13.6 \pm 5.30$  mU/L at baseline and  $11.3 \pm 3.90$  mU/L at week 12 in the LDa group. As it is observed, the standard deviations are high, particularly in the RDa group, indicating that there is variability (Figure 9).



Figure 11. Fasting insulin concentrations at baseline and at week 12 for each participant in the RDa group (numbers in x-axis represent the individual participant numbers). Each bar corresponds to a participant at baseline and at week 12. Baseline in light bars and post-study in dark bars.



Figure 12. Fasting insulin concentrations at baseline and at week 12 for each participant in the LDa group (numbers in x-axis represent the individual participant numbers). Each bar corresponds to a participant at baseline and at week 12. Baseline in light bars and post-study in dark bars.

Of the 9 participants in the RDa group, 3 increased their fasting insulin levels after the 12-week trial, 1 remained the same and 5 decreased their concentrations (Figure 9). The fact that 5 participants had their insulin reduced suggests that this study may have affected these adolescents positively. On the other hand, the 3 participants that increased their post-study insulin levels were most likely not following the study recommendations, particularly with respect to the diet. The participant that increased her insulin concentration by 9.90 mU/L (#13 on Figure 9) had a death in the family at week 9 of intervention, which affected her daily routine and dietary pattern until the end of study. Her food choices were not in line with the recommendations of the study (i.e. she was consuming more fast-food, cookies and pastries than we would have liked). She was still consuming the 4 servings of dairy per day that the study provided (~1365mg of calcium/day), however she had trouble restricting other foods and

compensating for the increased calories from dairy. She started the study consuming 1774 kcal/day and ended the study consuming 2587 kcal/day. Despite the increased energy intake, this participant improved her body composition by week 12, with a decrease of 1kg of FM and an increase of 2.4kg of LM. The participant whose insulin increased by 7.70 mU/L (#22 on Figure 9) was a first-year university student living on campus. In week 8 of study she started her final exams and was highly stressed. She did not focus as much on eating a healthy and balanced diet as the dietitian and study staff recommended. She was consistently eating the dairy (1380 mg of calcium/day). Based on her food diaries, overall, she was eating a healthier diet by end of study compared to baseline, however she still consumed fast-food and pastries. This participant did not change her body composition by the end of the intervention. Finally, the participant whose insulin increased by 3.95 mU/L (#25 on Figure 9) started working part-time in a fast food restaurant after school and on weekends. She was not as focused on the study by the end (due to her busy schedule) and was making poor food choices. Because she was working in a fast-food restaurant she was consuming these foods more often. Her dairy intake was maintained during the intervention (~1315 mg of calcium/day). She started the intervention with a mean energy intake of 1782 kcal/day and ended the study with 2022kcal/d. Nonetheless, she improved her body composition, with a decrease of 2.4 kg in FM and an increase of 5kg in LM. Despite our best efforts to track and monitor our participants' diets (and facilitate exercise compliance), some participants still may not adhere to the study protocol as well as we would like. On the other hand, the participant who had a decrease of 46.3 mU/L in insulin (#12 on Figure 9) was following the study guidelines very well. At baseline, she was consuming an average of 2000kcal/day and by week 12 she had a self-induced decrease of 400kcal/day, still incorporating the

dairy appropriately (~1365 mg of calcium/day). She decreased FM by 4 kg and decreased LM by of 3.2 kg. This corresponds to a weight loss of 7kg. Although weight loss of this magnitude was not intended to occur in the study, it could greatly improve fasting insulin levels. Nonetheless, the high variability in insulin concentrations affected the total group mean and the standard deviation, which had an impact on the statistical analysis with such small subject numbers.

Of the 11 adolescents in the LDa group, 6 reduced their insulin concentration, 2 remained the same and 3 increased (Figure 10). When examining the data of the two groups together, the LDa and RDa groups followed the same trend, most participants decreased their insulin levels after the intervention (n=11), a few had a neutral effect (n=3) and some had increased their levels (n=6). In the total sample, of the 11 participants that decreased insulin levels, 9 lost FM by an average of -2.4 kg and two participants increased FM by 0.1 and 0.5 kg. Regarding LM, 8 participants gained LM by an average of 3.6 kg and 3 decreased the LM by 0.1, 0.6 and 3.2 kg. It is important to note that this study was not designed for weight loss, which is a larger driver of metabolic change. But it was designed to achieve a change in body composition, which we observed (albeit not between groups as yet). Therefore, the mean reductions in insulin occurred following a healthy approach to lifestyle change; better quality nutrition changes without a prescribed energy restriction and the incorporation of regular exercise 3x/week.

Regardless of the subtle individual differences, the groups overall did not statistically differ between each other. It is possible that the study was not long enough to detect significant changes in fasting insulin levels with lifestyle change, as was seen in the Ho et al. meta-analysis (78), or that the results are attenuated since our study was not designed for weight loss which can independently improve insulin (and

other metabolic variables) (216). For example, a study by Luo et al. demonstrated that an intense 6-week hypocaloric diet and exercise intervention can significantly improve fasting insulin concentrations (*p*<0.05) in OB boys and girls (11-13 years). These children performed a high volume of exercise 6 days/week (twice daily, for 3h each), and were consuming a hypocaloric diet, where 3 meals per day were provided (no emphasis on dairy). Insulin levels improved in as little as 6 weeks in OB Chinese children, but this intervention was much more controlled and rigorous compared to our study, which was not calorie-restricted, included a more realistic prescription of exercise, and included the increased intake of dairy in a real-life environment. In addition, studies that found significant changes in fasting insulin also had larger sample sizes. The study by Luo et al. included 215 children, with 167 participants in the intervention group. The meta-analyses by Ho et al. included 372 (88) and 519 (3) OW/OB children and adolescents (<18 years). It is likely that a larger sample size will provide greater power to detect differences between groups.

Regarding fasting glucose levels, there was no difference between groups or pre-to post intervention. Participants' blood glucose levels were within the normal range at baseline, which likely contributed to the absence of change post-intervention. Our findings supported the meta-analysis by Ho et al., who did not see changes in fasting glucose concentrations (88), as well as the study by Reinehr et al. who found that after 1-year of a lifestyle intervention involving physical activity, nutritional education and behavioural therapy in OB youth (10-16 years), fasting glucose concentrations did not change significantly (2).

#### 5.2 Insulin Sensitivity & Resistance

In our study, average HOMA-IR and QUICKI changes were not significant from pre- to post-intervention or between groups. HOMA-IR and QUICKI are derived from calculations involving fasting insulin and fasting glucose. Therefore, it is unlikely that these measurements would change since mean insulin and glucose concentrations did not change significantly in this study. Nonetheless, when assessing the results of the individual participants, the prevalence of insulin resistance did decrease from 35% at baseline (7 adolescents, 3 in RDa and 4 in LDa) to 25% at week 12 (5 adolescents, 4 in RDa and 1 in LDa). The reduction in insulin resistance occurred mostly in the adolescents from the LDa group. It is possible that we did not see a greater decrease in insulin resistance in the RDa, or the same trend as seen in LDa group because the RDa girls started the intervention with higher body fat/weight compared to the LDa girls. As well, weight loss, which is usually associated with improved insulin levels, was not the focus of this study. However, body fat did decrease, but this decrease may not have been large enough to appreciably affect insulin levels.

There were significant correlations between change in HOMA-IR and change in body mass (r = 0.53; p = 0.02, Figure 11), and waist circumference (r = 0.46; p = 0.04, Figure 12) when study participants were combined into one intervention group (n=20). These correlations suggest that a global decrease in adiposity is associated with a decrease in insulin resistance. Similar to our findings, Ling et al. investigated the potential predictors of high fasting insulin and insulin resistance (as HOMA-IR) in 173 OW/OB Asian adolescents, using waist circumference measures, bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) and the Modified Harvard Step Test (MHST) (190). They assessed blood lipids, fasting insulin, HOMA-IR, waist circumference, %BF and

physical fitness scores in these youths. They found that BMI had the highest, statistically significant, positive correlation with fasting insulin (r = 0.51, p < 0.0001) and HOMA-IR (r = 0.48, p < 0.0001). They also found a positive significant correlation between %BF and fasting insulin (r = 0.34, p < 0.0001) and HOMA-IR (r = 0.32, p < 0.0001), as well as positive correlations for waist circumference with fasting insulin (r = 0.41, p < 0.0001) and HOMA-IR (r = 0.39, p < 0.0001), and waist:height ratio with fasting insulin (r = 0.35, p < 0.0001) and HOMA-IR (r = 0.34, p < 0.0001) (190). Therefore, these findings from Ling et al. along with ours, indicate that a greater body fat/weight is associated with higher plasma insulin concentrations and insulin resistance in OW and OB adolescents. Despite similar findings, there are some critical differences between the Ling study and ours. First, Ling et al is a cross sectional study, whereas ours is a RCT. Second, Ling et al correlated absolute values for these variables, whereas we correlated change values. For these reasons, even with a smaller number of subjects, our study may present stronger findings due to study design differences.

### 5.3 Lipids

From a subset of 20 participants, the current study showed no significant improvements in TC, LDL-c, HDL-c and TGs after the intervention. Our findings are generally in contrast with the meta-analysis of Ho et al., which observed improvements in TC and TGs in intervention studies up to 2 years in duration, and in LDL-c in intervention studies that lasted 4-12 months. But like us, there was no change in HDL-c (88). The authors indicated that the improvements in serum lipids were possibly due to the improvements observed in aspects of the lifestyle intervention such as increased physical activity or dietary improvements, as well as the effect of fat loss (88).

In our study, the mean HDL-c concentration  $(0.96 \pm 0.33 \text{ mmol/L})$  was below the normal cut-off at baseline, and the mean for TGs concentration  $(1.62 \pm 0.86)$ mmol/L) was above the normal cut-off in the RDa group This may be explained by their greater baseline body mass/FM in this group, suggesting a greater risk for CVD in these adolescents. After the intervention, there were minimal improvements in these markers in the RDa group (HDL-c  $\Delta = 0.01 \pm 0.22$  mmol/L and TGs  $\Delta = -0.07 \pm$ 0.64 mmol/L), with no negative changes. The LDa group had all lipid variables within normal ranges at baseline, except for TGs levels which were just above the normal cut-off (1.14  $\pm$  0.43 mmol/L), by week 12 there was a reduction of -0.23  $\pm$  0.29 mmol/L in TGs in the LDa group. Despite body mass, waist circumference and body composition being greater at baseline in the RDa group vs the LDa group, this difference did not affect the response to the intervention in the cardiometabolic variables between groups. That is, the improvements in metabolic variables in the RDa group were not larger than in the LDa group, in fact, we observed the opposite in these participants. It is possible that we saw an attenuated decrease in TGs concentration in the RDa group compared to the LDa group because the RDa group was consuming a higher amount of added sugar from the dairy products provided by the study (14g from 1 cup of chocolate milk and 16g from 2 containers of yogurt, per day). When sugar is ingested, plasma insulin is increased, which activates lipoprotein lipase and inhibits hormone-sensitive lipase. This effect leads to increased lipogenesis and inhibition of lipolysis, which can subsequently increase circulating TGs and lipoproteins, and promote the storage TGs in the adipose tissue and liver (62).

Although different than the current study design, Chen et al. examined the effects of a 2-week residential program with daily aerobic exercise (2 - 2.5h/d) along with a high fibre, low-fat diet where food was provided *ad libitum* to 16 OW youths (10-17 years) (11). After the 2-week, rigorous diet and exercise program, the participants presented significant reductions in BMI, waist circumference and %BF (p < 0.01 for all), with improvements in serum lipids (>20% decrease in TC, LDL and TGs, p < 0.01 for all), apart from HDL-c that remained the same. Fasting insulin concentration also decreased significantly (32.6%, p < 0.01). Similarly, Luo et al. presented significant decreases for TGs, LDL-c, TC and fasting insulin (p < 0.05) in boys and girls, except for fasting blood glucose in boys (p = 0.09), compared to controls, after 6 weeks of a program involving high volume aerobic exercise (6 days/week, twice daily, for 3h each session) and a low calorie diet (1600-2000 kcal/day) in 167 OB Chinese children aged 11 to 13 years (9).

Therefore, the absence of significant changes in blood lipids in our study may be explained by a few reasons: 1) the small number of participants analyzed for this thesis may have contributed to lower statistical power in the lipid analyses; 2) most adolescents presented normal values at baseline for most blood lipid markers, which may contribute to less room for improvement; 3) the study was not designed for weight loss. Therefore, it is not surprising that we did not see large changes in blood lipids. However, it is important to note that we did not see any significant increases, not even with the addition of 4 svgs/d of dairy products to the diet (which added an additional 27 g of total fat, 17 g of saturated fat and 30 g of sugar); 4) the intensity of the intervention regarding the diet and exercise design was not as strong as other cited studies where positive changes were observed. Possibly, if the current study had implemented a weight loss diet and/or more than 3x/week of structured exercise, we

would have seen significant positive changes in blood lipids. Additionally, it is worth noting that the diet for both the Chen et al. and Luo et al. studies was highly controlled, with all the meals provided for participants (9,11). In contrast, our study employed a lifestyle modification-based diet which reflected normal life situations, with standard dietary counselling by a dietitian and a commonly prescribed schedule of exercise. Thus, the environment was not as controlled (to help mimic real-life). We see this as a critical, intentional feature of our study that will make the results more translatable to the public. With that said, we did monitor our participants well by maintaining constant communication with them, and recording ample amounts of information, such as FRs, exercise plans, step logs and goal setting, frequently.

#### 5.4 Anthropometric and Body Composition Changes

Reinehr and colleagues investigated the effects of a 1-year lifestyle modification program (exercise, nutritional education and behaviour therapy) and the prevalence of MetS in 288 OB children (mean age 12.5 years) (2). Their findings suggest that the improvement of MetS components was correlated with the degree of weight loss in the program. In particular, they found that in a subgroup of children who improved their standard deviation score BMI (SDS-BMI) by 0.5, they showed improvements in all components of the MetS (TGs, HDL-c, blood pressure, fasting glucose, impaired glucose tolerance and waist circumference). Also, children with a minimal weight reduction (<0.25 of SDS-BMI) presented with better glucose tolerance and blood pressure levels (2). Children that participated in the lifestyle modification program that did not reduce body mass, did not improve any of the metabolic variables (apart from a minimal reduction in blood pressure). Thus, the authors concluded that the amount of body mass reduction is a predictive factor for the improvement of MetS components (2). Other studies support this by also indicating that a reduction of  $\geq 0.25$  in BMI z-score is needed for minimal improvement in metabolic markers among OB adolescents (217) and that a decrease of  $\geq 0.5$  units is needed for greater improvements (2,217).

The current study did not present significant changes in BMI after the 12-week lifestyle intervention program. Although, a positive change in BMI was observed; it is important to note that, currently, the analyses are likely underpowered to detect a significant change. Moreover, the study was not designed to greatly affect BMI or body mass (only body composition). It is possible that this study would have demonstrated decreases in cardiometabolic factors if the participants had decreased their BMI. The diets prescribed by the dietitian in this study were designed for weight maintenance which could still promote better weight management and body composition change, but not necessarily weight loss. The main goal of the study was to focus on healthy eating (with and without dairy), along with increased physical activity, which would allow for an increase in energy expenditure, affecting energy balance, and in turn decreasing body fat (with a possible increase in LM). As was expected, reductions in BMI and body mass after the 12-week intervention were not observed, but there were improvements in body composition components. Both intervention groups decreased their waist circumference (p = 0.003), %BF (p < 0.001) and FM (p < 0.001), and increased their LM (p = 0.01).

BMI  $(kg/m^2)$  is widely used as a measure to evaluate the impact of obesity on cardiometabolic risk factors, but does not always reflect obesity per se, and cannot make the distinction between muscle mass, FM and bone (218). Waist circumference is an anthropometric measure used as an indicator of abdominal obesity, with its

related index in children, the waist:height ratio (63). Waist:height ratio has been used as an easy and accessible measurement to detect central adiposity and is associated with cardiometabolic risk in pediatric populations (218). Waist circumference is included in the calculation and adjustment is made for an individual's size by dividing by their height. This may also be advantageous over BMI and waist to hip ratio in children (63,65,218). It is known that higher central adiposity is associated with a greater risk of cardiometabolic diseases such as T2D and CVD (59,63,64,190). Our findings demonstrate an average decrease in waist circumference (102.9 ± 12.1 to 99.8 ± 11.1 cm, p = 0.003) and in waist:height ratio (0.63 ± 0.08 to 0.61 ± 0.07, p =0.003) after the intervention in all study participants, indicating that a weight management, healthy diet, with regular physical activity, is effective in reducing central obesity, which also reduces CVD risk in children and adolescents.

A systematic review of RCTs by Kouvelioti et al. examined the effects of dairy consumption on body size, body composition and bone in children and adolescents (119). From the 11 studies that focused in body composition, only one found a significant increase in LM of OW/OB boys and girls, but no significant decrease in FM was found after replacing the regular consumption of SSB with milk for 16 weeks. Therefore, in a pediatric population, the review found no positive association between dairy intake and improvements of body fat and LM, but presented a beneficial effect of dairy on bone tissue (119). Similarly, a recent 12-month intervention study by Lappe et al. did not find an association between increased dairy consumption (>1200mg calcium/d) and improvements in body fat in 274 OW adolescent girls (219). However, during adolescence, girls need calcium and protein (and other essential micronutrients) for maximizing peak bone mass. Dairy products are very good sources of these nutrients (115,122,220).

Many adolescent girls avoid dairy because they are afraid of gaining weight (130). With our findings, it is demonstrated that the daily consumption of milk, yogurt and cheese for 12 weeks had no negative impact on body mass. This shows that while incorporation of dairy into the diet may not significantly improve body composition in this sample of adolescent girls, it does not appear to be detrimental to body composition, and should be used as a nutritional strategy for youth to increase the nutrient quality of their daily diets. A study by Marette et al. showed that dairy foods, such as yogurt are nutrient-dense, accessible, tasty and satiating for children and adolescents, and can be easily incorporated into diets as snacks (221).

#### 5.5 Strengths & Limitations

This is the first study to investigate the effects of increased dairy combined with a lifestyle modification intervention on cardiometabolic variables in OW/OB adolescent girls. This study was a RCT which is the only type of study able to establish causation in a human population. Furthermore, it affords us the ability to carry out an intervention in a controlled manner (as controlled as possible for a lifestyle intervention study design), to manipulate a particular variable of interest, and explore a specific hypothesis relating to it. Thus, the careful design of our study to manipulate only the consumption of dairy between the groups, with lifestyle modification and behavioural support is a strength.

The collection of 3-day and 7-day FRs were a great asset to the study. These diaries gave us the ability to investigate and measure, in-depth, the nutritional intake and habits of our participants. We were able to assess all the nutrients consumed on an ongoing basis, and use these data to reinforce the diet parameters of the study. In

some respects, the study had high compliance, which was measured based on participants' attendance for the exercise sessions and collection of FRs throughout the study. Out of 36 exercise training sessions, the mean attendance was 32 sessions (89% attendance). For the FRs, compliance was greater than 95% with respect to the consumption (or not for the LDa group) of dairy foods. The high compliance can be explained by the support of the study dietitian, personal trainers, Fitbit device and study staff. The adolescents (and, most often, their parents) had 5 1-hour diet consults with a registered dietitian throughout the study, who gave them important information regarding dietary recommendations, helped them set personal goals (i.e. increase or decrease the consumption of certain foods like fruit and vegetables and chips, respectively) and overcome barriers to achieve these. In addition, the girls had a personal trainer for all exercise sessions during the 12-week intervention, which also gave them support and encouragement to keep active, not only on the exercise session days, but on a regular basis through the logging of steps from their Fitbit device. Beyond the dietitian and the personal trainer, the participants also had support from the study staff that met with them frequently and gave them tools to achieve their goals.

Quality control was also assured by study staff. It was always confirmed whether participants had followed the study guidelines before the data was collected, however, response bias may still be a concern. Working with an adolescent population, while not a study limitation or strength, per se, did pose some difficulties with lifestyle compliance. To facilitate change in this population, there is a heavy reliance on parental support and availability, as well as a strong commitment from the participants to attend the training sessions and follow a healthy diet and routine. Every effort was made by the study team to ensure compliance from all participants,

however, working with a human population will always introduce the potential for non-compliance and response bias. We always did our best to mitigate these factors.

A main limitation of this thesis is the small sample size. Only a subset of the total sample for the IDEAL study (20 participants out of 50 in the intervention), could be used in the analyses. Another limitation, specific to the metabolic variables, was the 'normality' of the baseline blood values of participants. Most adolescents presented with baseline metabolic variables within the normal range, which may have contributed to the lack of change (including reduced statistical power and absence of overt weight loss) after the 12-week intervention. Of note, this is only to be seen as a limitation with respect to the detection of differences post-intervention. We are pleased that these adolescents, despite being classified as OW/OB, do not, for the most part, have abnormal levels of common cardiometabolic disease markers.

Another potential limitation is the duration and intensity of the study. Previous studies that investigated the effectiveness of diet and exercise interventions (without dairy intake) in OW/OB children and adolescents that presented significant changes in blood lipids and glucose metabolism had a duration of 4 months to 2 years (3,5,10,88), or implemented a calorie-restricted diet (3,10,88), or implemented a more rigourous regimen of exercise (9,215). It is possible that the study duration and exercise/nutritional strategy of the current study was not sufficient to detect changes in the metabolic variables.

#### **5.6 Implications and Future Directions**

The IDEAL for Adolescents study, within this thesis, has several practical implications. It assessed the difference between two groups in a real-life context by

comparing how adolescent girls normally consume dairy (0-1 serving/d the LDa group) (13) to what the nationally recommended amount is based on Canada's Food Guide (4 svgs/d, the RDa group). So far (in a subset of participants), the outcomes reveal that the increased intake of dairy compared to low intakes has no added benefit or deleterious effect on body composition or the metabolic profile of OW/OB female adolescents. Since a major limitation of this thesis was a relatively small sample size, further analysis should be performed with an increased number of participants so more substantial conclusions can be made with adequate power. In addition, a longer study duration may allow us to obtain better quality results. It may be possible that some physiological changes, such as insulin and glucose, may take longer to become apparent than this study allowed. Studies that used a lifestyle intervention approach, with implementation of regular physical activity and a hypoenergetic diet, with longer duration showed significant improvements in cardiometabolic variables and body composition in pediatrics (3,10,88). It would also be interesting to include male adolescents and investigate the effects of increased dairy with regular physical activity on cardiometabolic variables in this population and compare to the female adolescents. Lastly, the use of an energy restricted diet combined with regular exercise for OW/OB adolescents, instead of a weight management design may yield better cardiometabolic outcomes, including intentional weight loss. In addition, it may be beneficial to combine an energy-restricted diet with varied servings of dairy in an attempt to find an optimal dietary strategy to improve cardiometabolic health in OW/OB adolescent girls.

### **5.7 Conclusion**

This thesis investigated the effects of increased dairy consumption combined with exercise and healthy eating on cardiometabolic variables in OW/OB adolescent girls over 12 weeks. From a subset of 20 participants, the analyses in this thesis did not reveal any significant metabolic profile changes, and no differences were seen between the two intervention (LDa and RDa) groups. On the other hand, significant improvements were observed pre-to post-intervention in waist circumference, FM and LM of all study participants (main time effects). Improvements in body composition can be attributed to the lifestyle intervention that included exercise and the consumption of a healthy diet. Dairy did not seem to further amplify these positive effects in the RDa group. In addition, it is important to note that the increased dairy consumption did not show any negative changes regarding cardiometabolic variables or body composition components. The lack of significant improvements in the metabolic variables in both groups is likely due to the absence of energy restriction to produce intentional weight loss and/or the shorter duration of the study. Thus, to attain clinically significant improvements in blood lipids and other metabolic markers, the intervention should have included a larger sample with baseline characteristics of participants without significant differences, had implemented a restriction of calories to induce intentional weight loss, and implemented a longer duration trial of at least 16 weeks to 6 months. Despite the lack of change, the girls consuming dairy did improve their intakes of key nutrients, such as calcium and vitamin D, which contributes to a higher diet quality. Further analysis with a larger sample size is required to determine the true effect of a lifestyle intervention with and without dairy on OW/OB pediatric populations.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Han JC, Lawlor D a, Kimm SYS. Childhood Obesity 2010 : Progress and Challenges. Lancet. 2010;375(9727):1737–48.
- Reinehr T, Kleber M, Toschke AM. Lifestyle intervention in obese children is associated with a decrease of the metabolic syndrome prevalence. Atherosclerosis [Internet]. 2009 Nov [cited 2016 Dec 25];207(1):174–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19442975
- Ho M, Garnett SP, Baur LA, Burrows T, Stewart L, Neve M, et al. Impact of Dietary and Exercise Interventions on Weight Change and Metabolic Outcomes in Obese Children and Adolescents. JAMA Pediatr [Internet]. 2013 Aug 1 [cited 2016 Dec 24];167(8):759. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23778747
- 4. August GP, Caprio S, Fennoy I, Freemark M, Kaufman FR, Lustig RH, et al. Prevention and Treatment of Pediatric Obesity: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline Based on Expert Opinion. J Clin Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2008 Dec [cited 2016 Dec 22];93(12):4576–99. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18782869
- 5. Verduci E, Lassandro C, Giacchero R, Miniello VL, Banderali G, Radaelli G. Change in metabolic profile after 1-year nutritional-behavioral intervention in obese children. Nutrients. 2015;7(12):10089–99.
- 6. Wills B. Dieting in adolescence. [Internet]. Vol. 100, New Zealand Medical Journal. 1987 [cited 2017 Mar 26]. p. 31. Available from: http://www.cps.ca/en/documents/position/dieting-adolescence
- American Dietetic Association. Pediatric Weight Management. Evid Anal Libr [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2017 Mar 26];(December 28, 2009). Available from: http://www.andeal.org/topic.cfm?cat=2721
- 8. Government of Canada HC. Eating Well with Canada's Food Guide [Health Canada, 2007] [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2017 Mar 26]. Available from: http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/food-guide-aliment/index-eng.php
- Luo B, Yang Y, Nieman DC, Zhang Y, Wang J, Wang R, et al. A 6-week diet and exercise intervention alters metabolic syndrome risk factors in obese Chinese children aged 11-13 years. J Sport Heal Sci [Internet]. 2013;2(4):236– 41. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2013.05.001
- Saavedra JM, Garcia-Hermoso A, Escalante Y. Effects of Exercise and/or Diet Programs on Kinanthropometric and Metabolic Parameters in Obese Children: a Pilot Study. J Hum Kinet. 2011;29(September):67–78.
- Chen AK, Roberts CK, Barnard RJ. Effect of a short-term diet and exercise intervention on metabolic syndrome in overweight children. Metabolism. 2006;55(7):871–8.
- 12. Nicklas TA, O'Neil CE, Fulgoni VL. The role of dairy in meeting the recommendations for shortfall nutrients in the american diet. J Am Coll Nutr [Internet]. 2009 Feb [cited 2016 Dec 23];28(sup1):73S-81S. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07315724.2009.10719807
- Statistics Canada. Canadians' eating habits: Findings [Internet]. Health Canada. 2007 [cited 2016 Dec 23]. Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-003-x/2006004/article/habit/4148989-eng.htm
- 14. Abreu S, Santos R, Moreira C, Vale S, Santos PC, Soares-Miranda L, et al. Association between dairy product intake and abdominal obesity in Azorean adolescents. Eur J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2012;66(7):830–5. Available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22434052

- 15. Abreu S, Santos R, Moreira C, Santos PC, Vale S, Soares-Miranda L, et al. Relationship of milk intake and physical activity to abdominal obesity among adolescents. Pediatr Obes. 2014;9(1):71–80.
- Bel-Serrat S, Mouratidou T, Jiménez-Pavón D, Huybrechts I, Cuenca-García M, Mistura L, et al. Is dairy consumption associated with low cardiovascular disease risk in European adolescents? Results from the HELENA Study. Pediatr Obes. 2014;9(5):401–10.
- 17. Zhu Y, Wang H, Hollis JH, Jacques PF. The associations between yogurt consumption, diet quality, and metabolic profiles in children in the USA. Eur J Nutr. 2015;54(4):543–50.
- 18. Abreu S, Moreira P, Moreira C, Mota J, Moreira-Silva I, Santos P-CC, et al. Intake of milk, but not total dairy, yogurt, or cheese, is negatively associated with the clustering of cardiometabolic risk factors in adolescents. Nutr Res [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2016 Dec 23];34(1):48–57. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24418246
- 19. Hirschler V, Oestreicher K, Beccaria M, Hidalgo M, Maccallini G. Inverse Association between Insulin Resistance and Frequency of Milk Consumption in Low-Income Argentinean School Children. J Pediatr. 2009;154(1):101–5.
- 20. Kelishadi R, Gouya MM, Adeli K, Ardalan G, Gheiratmand R, Majdzadeh R, et al. Factors associated with the metabolic syndrome in a national sample of youths: CASPIAN Study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2008;18(7):461–70.
- Kelishadi R, MB Z, Hashemipour M, Hosseini M, Mohammadifard N, Poursafa P. Can a dairy-rich diet be effective in long-term weight control of young children? J Am Coll Nutr [Internet]. 2009;28(5):601–10. Available from:

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=105193768 &site=ehost-live&scope=site

Scholz-Ahrens KE, Schrezenmeir J. Milk minerals and the metabolic syndrome. Int Dairy J [Internet]. 2006 Nov 1 [cited 2017 Oct 28];16(11):1399–407. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0958694606001531

- Zemel MB. Mechanisms of dairy modulation of adiposity. J Nutr [Internet].
  2003 Jan [cited 2016 Dec 23];133(1):252S-256S. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12514303
- Zemel MB. Regulation of Adiposity and Obesity Risk By Dietary Calcium: Mechanisms and Implications. J Am Coll Nutr [Internet]. 2002 Apr [cited 2016 Dec 23];21(2):146S–151S. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07315724.2002.10719212
- Zemel MB, Shi H, Greer B, Dirienzo D, Zemel PC. Regulation of adiposity by dietary calcium. FASEB J [Internet]. 2000 Jun [cited 2016 Dec 23];14(9):1132–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10834935
- Xue B, Moustaid-moussa N, Wilkison WO, Zemel MB. The agouti gene product inhibits lipolysis in human adipocytes via a Ca2+-dependent mechanism. Faseb J [Internet]. 1998 [cited 2016 Dec 23];12:1391–6. Available from: http://www.fasebj.org/content/12/13/1391.short
- 27. Zemel MB. Role of calcium and dairy products in energy partitioning and weight management. Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2004 May 1;79(5):907S–912S. Available from: http://ajcn.nutrition.org/content/79/5/907S.abstract

- 28. Jacobsen R, Lorenzen JK, Toubro S, Krog-Mikkelsen I, Astrup A. Effect of short-term high dietary calcium intake on 24-h energy expenditure, fat oxidation, and fecal fat excretion. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2005 Mar 18 [cited 2016 Dec 23];29(3):292–301. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15672116
- 29. Ricci-Cabello I, Olalla Herrera M, Artacho R. Possible role of milk-derived bioactive peptides in the treatment and prevention of metabolic syndrome [Internet]. Vol. 70, Nutrition Reviews. 2012 [cited 2016 Dec 23]. p. 241–55. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22458697
- 30. Kratz M, Baars T, Guyenet S. The relationship between high-fat dairy consumption and obesity, cardiovascular, and metabolic disease. Eur J Nutr [Internet]. 2013 Feb 19 [cited 2016 Dec 23];52(1):1–24. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22810464
- 31. Monteiro PA, Chen KY, Lira FS, Saraiva BTC, Antunes BMM, Campos EZ, et al. Concurrent and aerobic exercise training promote similar benefits in body composition and metabolic profiles in obese adolescents. Lipids Health Dis [Internet]. 2015 Nov 26 [cited 2017 Feb 5];14(1):153. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26611872
- 32. Escalante Y, Saavedra JM, García-Hermoso A, Domínguez AM. Improvement of the lipid profile with exercise in obese children: A systematic review. Prev Med (Baltim) [Internet]. 2012;54(5):293–301. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.02.006
- 33. Volek J, Gomez A, Scheett TP, Sharman MJ, French DN, Rubin MR, et al. Increasing fluid milk favorably affects bone mineral density responses to resistance training in adolescent boys. J Am Diet Assoc. 2003;103(10):1353–6.
- 34. Stear SJ, Prentice A, Jones SC, Cole TJ. Effect of a calcium and exercise intervention on the bone mineral status of 16-18-y-old adolescent girls. Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2003;77(4):985–92. Available from: http://ajcn.nutrition.org/content/77/4/985.long
- 35. Josse AR, Atkinson SA, Tarnopolsky MA, Phillips SM. Increased consumption of dairy foods and protein during diet- and exercise-induced weight loss promotes fat mass loss and lean mass gain in overweight and obese premenopausal women. J Nutr [Internet]. 2011 Sep [cited 2017 Mar 26];141(9):1626–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21775530
- 36. WHO | Obesity and overweight. [cited 2016 Dec 22]; Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/#.WFxgagWmwDs.mende ley
- 37. CDC Using BMI to Assess Overweight BMI for Age Training Course -DNPAO [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2016 Dec 22]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpao/growthcharts/training/bmiage/page3.html
- Dietitians of Canada. BMI for Children/Teens [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2016 Dec 22]. Available from: http://www.dietitians.ca/Your-Health/Assess-Yourself/Assess-Your-BMI/BMI-Children.aspx
- 39. Smetanina N, Albaviciute E, Babinska V, Karinauskiene L, Albertsson-Wikland K, Petrauskiene A, et al. Prevalence of overweight/obesity in relation to dietary habits and lifestyle among 7--17 years old children and adolescents in Lithuania. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2015;15(1):1001. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-2340-y
- 40. Carroll MD, Navaneelan T, Bryan S, Ogden CL. Prevalence of Obesity Among

Children and Adolescents in the United States and Canada. Centers Dis Control Prev [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2016 Dec 22];(211). Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db211.pdf

- 41. Peirson L, Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, Morrison K, Ciliska D, Kenny M, Usman Ali M, et al. Treatment of overweight and obesity in children and youth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. C Open [Internet]. 2015 Feb 24 [cited 2016 Dec 22];3(1):E23–33. Available from: http://www.cmajopen.ca/content/3/1/E23.full
- 42. Zoair AM, Muhammad KT, Abu-Ammo DE, Motawea MM. Lipid profile and some cardiac functions in children with obesity. Egypt Pediatr Assoc Gaz [Internet]. 2013;61(1):15–22. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1110663813000062
- 43. Tailor AM, Peeters PHM, Norat T, Vineis P, Romaguera D. An update on the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents. Int J Pediatr Obes IJPO An Off J Int Assoc Study Obes [Internet]. 2010 May 3;5(3):202–13. Available from: http://proxy.library.brocku.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx

?direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=19878092&site=eds-live&scope=site

- 44. Government of Canada PHA of C. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and its risk factors in Canadian children and adolescents: Canadian Health Measures Survey Cycle 1 (2007-2009) and Cycle 2 (2009-2011) Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada: Research, Policy and Pract [Internet]. Vol. 36. 2016 [cited 2016 Dec 22]. Available from: http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/hpcdp-pspmc/36-2/ar-03-eng.php#toc\_9
- 45. Ford ES. Risks for all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes associated with the metabolic syndrome: A summary of the evidence [Internet]. Vol. 28, Diabetes Care. 2005 [cited 2016 Dec 22]. p. 1769–78. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15983333
- 46. Johnson WD, Kroon JJM, Greenway FL, Bouchard C, Ryan D, Katzmarzyk PT. Prevalence of Risk Factors for Metabolic Syndrome in Adolescents. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med [Internet]. 2009 Apr 6 [cited 2016 Dec 22];163(4):371. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19349567
- 47. INTERNATIONAL DIABETES FEDERATION. The IDF consensus definition of the metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents [Internet]. IDF COMMUNICATIONS. 2007 [cited 2016 Dec 22]. Available from: http://www.idf.org/webdata/docs/Mets\_definition\_children.pdf
- 48. Burke V, Beilin LJ, Simmer K, Oddy WH, Blake K V, Doherty D, et al. Predictors of body mass index and associations with cardiovascular risk factors in Australian children: a prospective cohort study. Int J Obes (Lond) [Internet]. 2005 Jan [cited 2016 Dec 22];29(1):15–23. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15314630
- 49. Barlow CE, Kohl HW, Gibbons LW, Blair SN. Physical fitness, mortality and obesity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord [Internet]. 1995 Oct [cited 2016 Dec 22];19 Suppl 4:S41-4. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8581093
- 50. Froberg K, Andersen LB. Mini review: physical activity and fitness and its relations to cardiovascular disease risk factors in children. Int J Obes (Lond) [Internet]. 2005 Sep [cited 2016 Dec 22];29 Suppl 2:S34-9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16385750
- 51. Gow ML, Ho M, Burrows TL, Baur LA, Stewart L, Hutchesson MJ, et al.

Impact of dietary macronutrient distribution on BMI and cardiometabolic outcomes in overweight and obese children and adolescents: A systematic review. Nutr Rev. 2014;72(7):453–70.

- 52. Freedman DS, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. The relation of overweight to cardiovascular risk factors among children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatrics [Internet]. 1999 Jun [cited 2016 Dec 22];103(6 Pt 1):1175–82. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10353925
- 53. Shiwaku K, Anuurad E, Enkhmaa B, Kitajima K, Yamane Y. Appropriate BMI for Asian populations. Lancet [Internet]. 2004 Mar 27 [cited 2016 Dec 22];363(9414):1077. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15051297
- 54. Wang Y. Epidemiology of childhood obesity—methodological aspects and guidelines: what is new? Int J Obes [Internet]. 2004 Nov [cited 2016 Dec 22];28:S21–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15543215
- 55. Duren DL, Sherwood RJ, Czerwinski SA, Lee M, Choh AC, Siervogel RM, et al. Body Composition Methods: Comparisons and Interpretation. J Diabetes Sci Technol [Internet]. 2008 Nov [cited 2016 Dec 22];2(6):1139–46. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19885303
- 56. Wells JCK, Fewtrell MS. Measuring body composition. Arch Dis Child [Internet]. 2006 Jul [cited 2016 Dec 22];91(7):612–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16790722
- 57. McCarthy HD, Cole TJ, Fry T, Jebb SA, Prentice AM. Body fat reference curves for children. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2006;30(4):598–602. Available from: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803232
- 58. Rodríguez G, Moreno LA, Blay MG, Blay VA, Garagorri JM, Sarría A, et al. Body composition in adolescents: measurements and metabolic aspects. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2004;28:S54–8. Available from: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/sj.ijo.0802805
- 59. Maffeis C, Pietrobelli A, Grezzani A, Provera S, Tatò L. Waist Circumference and Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Prepubertal Children. Obes Res [Internet]. 2001 Mar [cited 2016 Dec 22];9(3):179–87. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11323443
- 60. Smith SR, Lovejoy JC, Greenway F, Ryan D, De Jonge L, De La Bretonne J, et al. Contributions of total body fat, abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue compartments, and visceral adipose tissue to the metabolic complications of obesity. Metabolism [Internet]. 2001 Apr [cited 2016 Dec 22];50(4):425–35. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11288037
- 61. Fabbrini E, Sullivan S, Klein S. Obesity and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Biochemical, Metabolic and Clinical Implications NIH Public Access. Hepatology. 2010;51(2):679–89.
- 62. Smolin, Grosvenor, Gurfinkel, Daries. Introduction to Nutrition. Third. John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 2017.
- 63. Freedman DS, Kahn HS, Mei Z, Grummer-Strawn LM, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, et al. Relation of body mass index and waist-to-height ratio to cardiovascular disease risk factors in children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2007;86(1):33–40. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17616760
- 64. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson

GS. Racial differences in the tracking of childhood BMI to adulthood. Obes Res. 2005;13(5):928–35.

- 65. Heart N. Expert panel on integrated guidelines for cardiovascular health and risk reduction in children and adolescents: summary report. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2016 Dec 24];128 Suppl(S 5):S213-56. Available from: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/files/docs/peds\_guidelines\_sum.pdf
- 66. Sharma AK, Metzger DL, Daymont C, Hadjiyannakis S, Rodd CJ. LMS tables for waist-circumference and waist-height ratio Z-scores in children aged 5-19y in NHANES III: Association with cardio-metabolic risks. Pediatr Res [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2017 Jul 24];78(May):1–7. Available from: http://cpeggcep.net/sites/default/files/upload/bookfiles/Pediatr Res 2015%3B78%286%29723-729.pdf
- 67. Kovacs VA, Gabor A, Fajcsak Z, Martos E. Role of waist circumference in predicting the risk of high blood pressure in children. Int J Pediatr Obes [Internet]. 2010 Apr [cited 2016 Dec 22];5(2):143–50. Available from: http://informahealthcare.com/doi/abs/10.3109/17477160903111771
- 68. Monzani A, Rapa A, Prodam F, Fuiano N, Diddi G, Petri A, et al. High discrepancy in abdominal obesity prevalence according to different waist circumference cut-offs and measurement methods in children: Need for agerisk-weighted standardized cut-offs? PLoS One. 2016;11(1).
- 69. International Diabetes Federation. Criteria of metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2016 Dec 25]. Available from: http://www.idf.org/metabolic-syndrome/children/criteria
- Elena, M. D.; Stana, A. B.; Alice, A.; Evelina M. Lipid profile and therapeutic implications in obese children. Ther Pharmacol Clin Toxicol. 2012;XVI(2):106–10.
- 71. Munsters MJM, Saris WHM. Body Weight Regulation and Obesity: Dietary Strategies to Improve the Metabolic Profile. Annu Rev Food Sci Technol [Internet]. 2014;5:39–51. Available from: http://food.annualreviews.org
- Morrison JA, Friedman LA, Gray-McGuire C. Metabolic Syndrome in Childhood Predicts Adult Cardiovascular Disease 25 Years Later: The Princeton Lipid Research Clinics Follow-up Study. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2007 Aug 1 [cited 2016 Dec 25];120(2):340–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17671060
- 73. Bjorge T, Engeland A, Tverdal A, Smith GD. Body Mass Index in Adolescence in Relation to Cause-specific Mortality: A Follow-up of 230,000 Norwegian Adolescents. Am J Epidemiol [Internet]. 2008 May 13 [cited 2016 Dec 22];168(1):30–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18477652
- 74. Berenson GS. Health Consequences of Obesity [Internet]. Vol. 58, Pediatric Blood and Cancer. 2012 [cited 2016 Dec 22]. p. 117–21. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12937090
- Paes ST, Marins JCB, Andreazzi AE. Metabolic effects of exercise on childhood obesity: a current view. Rev Paul Pediatr (English Ed [Internet]. 2015;33(1):122–9. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2359348215300385

Martinez-Gomez D, Gomez-Martinez S, Puertollano MA, Nova E, Wärnberg J, Veiga OL, et al. Design and evaluation of a treatment programme for Spanish adolescents with overweight and obesity. The EVASYON Study. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2009 Dec 15 [cited 2016 Dec 22];9(1):414. Available from:
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19912668

- Sabin MA, Kao K-T, Juonala M, Baur LA, Wake M. Viewpoint article: Childhood obesity - looking back over 50 years to begin to look forward. J Paediatr Child Health [Internet]. 2015 Jan [cited 2016 Dec 22];51(1):82–6. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/jpc.12819
- 78. Oen G, Stormark KM, rg, Stormark KM. Participatory action research in the implementing process of evidence-based intervention to prevent childhood obesity: project design of the "Healthy Future" study. J Obes [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2016 Dec 22];2013:437206. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23956843
- 79. Sonneville KR, La Pelle N, Taveras EM, Gillman MW, Prosser LA. Economic and other barriers to adopting recommendations to prevent childhood obesity: results of a focus group study with parents. BMC Pediatr [Internet]. 2009 Dec 21 [cited 2016 Dec 22];9(1):81. Available from: http://bmcpediatr.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2431-9-81
- Sylvetsky AC, Hennink M, Comeau D, Welsh JA, Hardy T, Matzigkeit L, et al. Youth understanding of healthy eating and obesity: a focus group study. J Obes [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2016 Dec 22];2013:670295. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23956844
- 81. Tremblay MS, Willms JD. Is the Canadian childhood obesity epidemic related to physical inactivity? Int J Obes [Internet]. 2003 Sep [cited 2016 Dec 22];27(9):1100–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12917717
- Raine KD. Overweight and Obesity in Canada: A Population Health Perspective [Internet]. Canadian Population Health Iniciative. 2004 [cited 2016 Dec 22]. Available from: https://secure.cihi.ca/free\_products/CPHIOverweightandObesityAugust2004\_e. pdf
- Brynes AE, Adamson J, Dornhorst A, Frost GS. The beneficial effect of a diet with low glycaemic index on 24 h glucose profiles in healthy young people as assessed by continuous glucose monitoring. Br J Nutr [Internet]. 2005 Feb [cited 2016 Dec 22];93(2):179–82. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15788110
- 84. Peirson L, Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, Morrison K, Warren R, Usman Ali M, Raina P. Treatment of overweight and obesity in children and youth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. C Open [Internet]. 2015 Feb 24;3(1):E35–46. Available from: http://www.cmajopen.ca/content/3/1/E23.full
- 85. Lobstein T, Baur L, Uauy R. Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health SUMMARY: THE RISING CRISIS. Obes Rev . 2004;5(Suppl 1):4–85.
- 86. Bauer B, Maffeis C. Interdisciplinary outpatient management. EME. 2002;61.
- Moreno LA, Ochoa MC, Wärnberg J, Marti A, Martínez JA, Marcos A. Treatment of obesity in children and adolescents. How nutrition can work? Int J Pediatr Obes [Internet]. 2008 Jan [cited 2016 Dec 22];3(s1):72–7. Available from: http://informahealthcare.com/doi/abs/10.1080/17477160801897158
- 88. Ho M, Garnett SP, Baur L, Burrows T, Stewart L, Neve M, et al. Effectiveness of Lifestyle Interventions in Child Obesity: Systematic Review With Meta-analysis. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2012 Dec 1 [cited 2016 Dec 22];130(6):e1647–71. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23166346
- 89. Oude LH, Baur L, Shrewsbury VA, O'Malley C, Stolk RP, Summerbell CD.

Interventions for treating obesity in children (review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009;(1).

- 90. U.S Department of Health and Human Services, U.S. Department of Agriculture. Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2005, 6th ed. Washington, DC US Gov Print Off [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2016 Dec 22]; Available from: https://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/dga2005/document/pdf/DGA2005.pdf?\_ga =1.207907154.1762077842.1482458175
- 91. Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology. CANADIAN 24-HOUR MOVEMENT GUIDELINES FOR CHILDREN AND YOUTH [Internet].
   2016 [cited 2016 Dec 23]. Available from: http://www.csep.ca/CMFiles/Guidelines/24hrGlines/Canadian24HourMoveme ntGuidelines2016.pdf
- 92. Statistics Canada. Directly measured physical activity of children and youth, 2012 and 2013 [Internet]. Health Canada. 2015 [cited 2016 Dec 23]. Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625-x/2015001/article/14136-eng.htm
- 93. American College of Sports Medicine. Physical activity in children and adolescents. 2015.
- 94. Church T. Exercise in Obesity, Metabolic Syndrome, and Diabetes. Prog Cardiovasc Dis [Internet]. 2011 May [cited 2016 Dec 23];53(6):412–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21545927
- 95. Alberga AS, Farnesi B-C, Lafleche A, Legault L, Komorowski J. The Effects of Resistance Exercise Training on Body Composition and Strength in Obese Prepubertal Children. Phys Sportsmed [Internet]. 2013 Sep 13 [cited 2016 Dec 23];41(3):103–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24113708
- 96. Alberga AS, Sigal RJ, Kenny GP. A Review of Resistance Exercise Training in Obese Adolescents. Phys Sportsmed [Internet]. 2011 May 13 [cited 2016 Dec 23];39(2):50–63. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21673485
- 97. Kelley GA, Kelley KS. Effects of exercise in the treatment of overweight and obese children and adolescents: a systematic review of meta-analyses. J Obes [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2016 Dec 23];2013:783103. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24455215
- 98. Kim Y, Park H. Does Regular Exercise without Weight Loss Reduce Insulin Resistance in Children and Adolescents? Int J Endocrinol [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2016 Dec 23];2013:402592. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24454364
- 99. Zorba E, Cengiz T, Karacabey K. Exercise training improves body composition, blood lipid profile and serum insulin levels in obese children. J Sport Med Phys Fit [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2016 Dec 23];51(4):664–9. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=108161278 &site=ehost-live
- 100. Guinhouya BC. Physical Activity in the Prevention of Childhood Obesity. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol [Internet]. 2012 Sep [cited 2016 Dec 23];26(5):438–47. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2012.01269.x
- 101. Guinhouya BC, Hubert H. Insight into physical activity in combating the infantile metabolic syndrome. Environ Health Prev Med [Internet].
  2011;16(3):144–7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12199-010-

0185-7

- Brambilla P, Pozzobon G, Pietrobelli A. Physical activity as the main therapeutic tool for metabolic syndrome in childhood. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2011;35(1):16–28. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21139560
- 103. Prentice A, Schoenmakers I, Ann Laskey M, de Bono S, Ginty F, Goldberg GR, et al. Symposium on "Nutrition and health in children and adolescents" Session 1: Nutrition in growth and development Nutrition and bone growth and development. Proc Nutr Soc [Internet]. 2006 Nov 21 [cited 2016 Dec 23];65(4):348–60. Available from: http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract\_S0029665106005192
- 104. Javaid MK, Cooper C. Prenatal and childhood influences on osteoporosis. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2002 Jun [cited 2016 Dec 23];16(2):349–67. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12064897
- 105. Loureiro C, Godoy A, Martínez A, Campino C, Aglony M, Bancalari R, et al. Metabolic Syndrome and its individual components are strongly associated with a pro-inflammatory and insulin -resistant state in pediatric population. Nutr Hosp [Internet]. 2015;32(4):1513–8. Available from: http://www.aulamedica.es/gdcr/index.php/nh/article/view/8264/pdf 7946
- 106. Government of Canada, Health Canada, Health Products and Food Branch O of NP and P. Do Canadian Adolescents Meet their Nutrient Requirements through Food Intake Alone? [Internet]. Health Canada. 2012 [cited 2016 Dec 23]. Available from: http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/surveill/nutrition/commun/art-nutr-adol-eng.php
- 107. Weaver CM, Campbell WW, Teegarden D, Craig B a, Martin BR, Singh R, et al. Calcium, dairy products, and energy balance in overweight adolescents: a controlled trial 1 4. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;
- 108. Hill KM, Jonnalagadda SS, Albertson AM, Joshi NA, Weaver CM. Top food sources contributing to vitamin D intake and the association of ready-to-eat cereal and breakfast consumption habits to vitamin D intake in Canadians and United States Americans. J Food Sci [Internet]. 2012 Aug [cited 2016 Dec 23];77(8):H170–5. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2012.02787.x
- 109. Weiss R, Dziura J, Burgert T, Tamborlane W, Taksali S, Yeckel C. Obesity and the metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents. N Engl J Med. 2004;350(23):2362–74.
- Bianchini JAA, da Silva DF, Nardo CCS, Carolino IDR, Hernandes F, Junior NN. Multidisciplinary therapy reduces risk factors for metabolic syndrome in obese adolescents. Eur J Pediatr [Internet]. 2013 Feb 25 [cited 2016 Dec 23];172(2):215–21. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00431-012-1865-7
- 111. Williams CL, Hayman LL, Daniels SR, Robinson TN, Steinberger J, Paridon S, et al. Cardiovascular Health in Childhood. Circulation [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2016 Dec 23];106(1):143–60. Available from: http://circ.ahajournals.org/content/106/1/143
- 112. Haksing Ip E, Leng X, Zhang Q, Schwartz R, Chen S-H, Dai S, et al. Risk profiles of lipids, blood pressure, and anthropometric measures in childhood and adolescence: project heartBeat! BMC Obes [Internet]. 2016;3(1):9. Available from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/2052-9538/3/9

- 113. Canadian Obesity Network. 5As of Obesity Management [Internet]. Vol. 37, Canadian Journal of Diabetes. 2011 [cited 2016 Dec 23]. p. S221. Available from: http://www.obesitynetwork.ca/5As
- 114. Kavey REW. Combined dyslipidemia in childhood. J Clin Lipidol. 2015;9(5):S41–56.
- 115. Gaucheron F. Milk and dairy products: A unique micronutrient combination. J Am Coll Nutr [Internet]. 2011 Oct [cited 2016 Dec 23];30(sup5):400S-409S. Available from:

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07315724.2011.10719983

- 116. Fulgoni VL, Keast DR, Auestad N, Quann EE. Nutrients from dairy foods are difficult to replace in diets of Americans: Food pattern modeling and an analyses of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2003-2006. Nutr Res. 2011;31(10):759–65.
- 117. Moore LL, Bradlee ML, Gao D, Singer MR. Effects of Average Childhood Dairy Intake on Adolescent Bone Health. J Pediatr. 2008;153(5):667–73.
- 118. Ross AC, Taylor CL, Yaktine AL et al. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. Institute of Medicine, Food and Nutrition Board. 2010.
- 119. Kouvelioti R, Josse AR, Klentrou P. Effects of Dairy Consumption on Body Composition and Bone Properties in Youth: A Systematic Review. Curr Dev Nutr. 2017;1(8).
- 120. USDA, Agricultural Research Service. Food Composition Databases Show Foods List [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2016 Dec 23]. Available from: https://ndb.nal.usda.gov/ndb/search/list
- 121. Prentice A. Vitamin D deficiency: a global perspective. Nutr Rev. 2008;66(suppl 2).
- 122. Spence LA, Cifelli CJ, Miller GD. The Role of Dairy Products in Healthy Weight and Body Composition in Children and Adolescents. Curr Nutr Food Sci [Internet]. 2011;7(1):40–9. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3267168&tool=pm centrez&rendertype=abstract
- 123. Gao X, Wilde PE, Lichtenstein AH, Tucker KL. Meeting Adequate Intake for Dietary Calcium without Dairy Foods in Adolescents Aged 9 to 18 Years (National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2001-2002). J Am Diet Assoc. 2006;106(11):1759–65.
- 124. Weaver CM. Role of dairy beverages in the diet. Physiol Behav [Internet].
  2010 Apr 26 [cited 2016 Dec 23];100(1):63–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20138073
- 125. Dror DK, Allen LH. Dairy product intake in children and adolescents in developed countries: Trends, nutritional contribution, and a review of association with health outcomes. Nutr Rev. 2014;72(2):68–81.
- 126. Barr SI. Associations of social and demographic variables with calcium intakes of high school students. J Am Diet Assoc. 1994;94(3):260–9.
- 127. Forshee RA, Storey ML. Total beverage consumption and beverage choices among children and adolescents. Int J Food Sci Nutr [Internet]. 2003 Jan 6 [cited 2016 Dec 23];54(4):297–307. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09637480120092143
- 128. Fulgoni V, Nicholls J, Reed A, Buckley R, Kafer K, Huth P, et al. Dairy Consumption and Related Nutrient Intake in African-American Adults and Children in the United States: Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals 1994-1996, 1998, and the National Health and Nutrition

Examination Survey 1999-2000. J Am Diet Assoc. 2007;107(2):256-64.

- 129. Novotny R, Boushey C, Bock MA, Peck L, Auld G, Bruhn CM, et al. Calcium Intake of Asian, Hispanic and White Youth. J Am Coll Nutr [Internet]. 2003 Feb [cited 2016 Dec 23];22(1):64–70. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07315724.2003.10719277
- 130. Nicklas TA. Calcium Intake Trends and Health Consequences from Childhood through Adulthood. J Am Coll Nutr [Internet]. 2003 Oct [cited 2016 Dec 23];22(5):340–56. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07315724.2003.10719317
- 131. Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M, Perry C, Casey MA. Factors influencing food choices of adolescents: Findings from focus- group discussions with adolescents. J Am Diet Assoc. 1999;99(8):929–37.
- 132. Yen ST, Lin B. Beverage consumption among US children and adolescents: full-information and quasi maximum-likelihood estimation of a censored system. Eur Rev Agric Econ [Internet]. 2002 Mar 1 [cited 2016 Dec 23];29(1):85–103. Available from: http://erae.oupjournals.org/cgi/doi/10.1093/erae/29.1.85
- 133. Lasater G, Piernas C, Popkin BM, Slining M, Popkin null, Barry M, et al. The Use and Misuse of Fruit Juice in Pediatrics. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2001 May 1 [cited 2016 Dec 23];107(5):1210–3. Available from: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/cgi/doi/10.1542/peds.107.5.1210
- 134. Evans AE, Springer AE, Evans MH, Ranjit N, Hoelscher DM. A Descriptive Study of Beverage Consumption among an Ethnically Diverse Sample of Public School Students in Texas. J Am Coll Nutr [Internet]. 2010 Aug [cited 2016 Dec 23];29(4):387–96. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07315724.2010.10719856
- 135. Lioret S, Dubuisson C, Dufour A, Touvier M, Calamassi-Tran G, Maire B, et al. Trends in food intake in French children from 1999 to 2007: results from the INCA (étude Individuelle Nationale des Consommations Alimentaires) dietary surveys. Br J Nutr [Internet]. 2010 Feb 9 [cited 2016 Dec 23];103(4):585. Available from:

http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract\_S0007114509992078

- Mrdjenovic G, Levitsky DA. Nutritional and energetic consequences of sweetened drink consumption in 6- to 13-year-old children. J Pediatr. 2003;142(6):604–10.
- 137. Huang TTK, McCrory MA. Dairy intake, obesity, and metabolic health in children and adolescents: knowledge and gaps. Nutr Rev [Internet]. 2005;63(3):71–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15825809
- Roper WL, Holtzman D, John Iglehart GK, Maki DG, Remington PL, Barbara Rimer WK, et al. Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance — United States, 2005 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Editorial and Production Staff. 2006;55.
- Malik VS, Schulze MB, Hu FB. Intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain: a systematic review. Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2006 Aug [cited 2016 Dec 23];84(2):274–88. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16895873
- 140. Forshee RA, Anderson PA, Storey ML. Changes in Calcium Intake and Association with Beverage Consumption and Demographics: Comparing Data from CSFII 1994–1996, 1998 and NHANES 1999–2002. J Am Coll Nutr

[Internet]. 2006 Apr [cited 2016 Dec 23];25(2):108–16. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07315724.2006.10719520

- 141. Moore LL, Bradlee ML, Gao D, Singer MR. Low Dairy Intake in Early Childhood Predicts Excess Body Fat Gain\*. Obesity [Internet]. 2006 Jun [cited 2016 Dec 23];14(6):1010–8. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1038/oby.2006.116
- 142. O'Connor TM, Yang SJ, Nicklas TA. Beverage intake among preschool children and its effect on weight status. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2016 Dec 23];118(4):e1010-8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&d opt=Citation&list\_uids=17015497
- 143. Yakoob MY, Shi P, Willett WC, Rexrode KM, Campos H, Orav EJ, et al. Circulating Biomarkers of Dairy Fat and Risk of Incident Diabetes Mellitus Among Men and Women in the United States in Two Large Prospective Cohorts. Circulation. 2016;133(17):1645–54.
- Mozaffarian D, Cao H, King IB, Lemaitre RN, Song X, Siscovick DS, et al. Trans-Palmitoleic Acid, Metabolic Risk Factors, and New-Onset Diabetes in US Adults. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2017 Jun 14];153(12):790– 9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3056495/pdf/nihms275186.pd
- 145. Astrup A, Chaput JP, Gilbert JA, Lorenzen JK. Dairy beverages and energy balance. Physiol Behav. 2010;100(1):67–75.
- 146. Drouin-Chartier J-P, Côté JA, Labonté M-E, Brassard D, Tessier-grenier M, Desroches S, et al. Comprehensive Review of the Impact of Dairy Foods and Dairy Fat on Cardiometabolic Risk. Adv Nutr. 2016;7:1041–51.
- 147. Denke MA, Fox MM, Schulte MC. Short-term dietary calcium fortification increases fecal saturated fat content and reduces serum lipids in men. J Nutr [Internet]. 1993 Jun [cited 2016 Dec 23];123(6):1047–53. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8505664
- 148. Welberg JW, Monkelbaan JF, de Vries EG, Muskiet FA, Cats A, Oremus ET, et al. Effects of supplemental dietary calcium on quantitative and qualitative fecal fat excretion in man. Ann Nutr Metab [Internet]. 1994 [cited 2016 Dec 23];38(4):185–91. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7832578
- Rego OA, Portugal P V, Sousa MB, Rosa HJD, Vouzela CM, Borba AES, et al. Effect of diet on the fatty acid pattern of milk from dairy cows. Anim Res. 2004;53:213–20.
- McLeod RS, LeBlanc AM, Langille MA, Mitchell PL, Currie DL. Conjugated linoleic acids, atherosclerosis, and hepatic very-low-density lipoprotein metabolism. [Internet]. Vol. 79, The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2004 [cited 2016 Dec 23]. p. 1169S–1174S. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15159253
- 151. Jacome-Sosa MM, Lu J, Wang Y, Ruth MR, Wright DC, Reaney MJ, et al. Increased hypolipidemic benefits of cis-9, trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid in combination with trans-11 vaccenic acid in a rodent model of the metabolic syndrome, the JCR:LA-cp rat. Nutr Metab (Lond) [Internet]. 2010 Jul 16 [cited 2016 Dec 23];7:60. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20633302
- 152. Reynolds CM, Roche HM. Conjugated linoleic acid and inflammatory cell

signalling. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fat Acids [Internet]. 2010 Apr [cited 2016 Dec 23];82(4–6):199–204. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20207526

- 153. Gao Z, Yin J, Zhang J, Ward RE, Martin RJ, Lefevre M, et al. Butyrate Improves Insulin Sensitivity and Increases Energy Expenditure in Mice. Diabetes [Internet]. 2009 Jul 1 [cited 2016 Dec 23];58(7):1509–17. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19366864
- 154. Di Sabatino A, Morera R, Ciccocioppo R, Cazzola P, Gotti S, Tinozzi FP, et al. Oral butyrate for mildly to moderately active Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther [Internet]. 2005 Nov 1 [cited 2016 Dec 23];22(9):789–94. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16225487
- 155. Segain J-P. Butyrate inhibits inflammatory responses through NFkappa B inhibition: implications for Crohn's disease. Gut [Internet]. 2000 Sep [cited 2016 Dec 23];47(3):397–403. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10940278
- 156. Nishi T, Hara H, Hira T, Tomita F. Dietary protein peptic hydrolysates stimulate cholecystokinin release via direct sensing by rat intestinal mucosal cells. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) [Internet]. 2001 Dec [cited 2017 Oct 28];226(11):1031–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11743139
- 157. Visioli F, Strata A. Milk, dairy products, and their functional effects in humans: a narrative review of recent evidence. Adv Nutr [Internet]. 2014;5(2):131–43. Available from: http://advances.nutrition.org/content/5/2/131.long
- 158. Mozaffarian D, Cao H, King IB, Lemaitre RN, Song X, Siscovick DS, et al. Trans-palmitoleic acid, metabolic risk factors, and new-onset diabetes in U.S. adults: a cohort study. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2010 Dec 21 [cited 2017 Mar 25];153(12):790–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21173413
- 159. Phelan M, Kerins D. The potential role of milk-derived peptides in cardiovascular disease. Food Funct [Internet]. 2011 Apr 8 [cited 2017 Dec 16];2(3–4):153. Available from: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=c1fo10017c
- 160. Pal S, Ellis V. The chronic effects of whey proteins on blood pressure, vascular function, and inflammatory markers in overweight individuals. Obesity [Internet]. 2010;18(7):1354–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/oby.2009.397
- 161. Xu J-Y, Qin L-Q, Wang P-Y, Li W, Chang C. Effect of milk tripeptides on blood pressure: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Nutrition [Internet]. 2008;24(10):933–40. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0899900708002025
- 162. Aronoff SL, Berkowitz K, Shreiner B, Want L. Glucose Metabolism and Regulation: Beyond Insulin and Glucagon. Diabetes Spectr [Internet]. 2004;17(3):183 LP-190. Available from: http://spectrum.diabetesjournals.org/content/17/3/183.abstract
- 163. Giugliano D, Ceriello A, Esposito K. Glucose metabolism and hyperglycemia 1
   5. Glucose Metab hyperglycemia 1 5. 2008;87:217–22.
- 164. Radziuk J, McDonald TJ, Rubenstein D, Dupre J. Initial splanchnic extraction of ingested glucose in normal man. Metabolism [Internet]. 1978 Jun [cited 2016 Dec 24];27(6):657–69. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/651653

- 165. Sherwood LM, Parris EE, Unger RH. Glucagon Physiology and Pathophysiology. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1971 Aug 19 [cited 2016 Dec 24];285(8):443–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4997492
- 166. Rizza RA, Mandarino LJ, Gerich JE. Dose-response characteristics for effects of insulin on production and utilization of glucose in man. Am J Physiol [Internet]. 1981 Jun [cited 2016 Dec 24];240(6):E630–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7018254
- 167. Hardy OT, Czech MP, Corvera S. What causes the insulin resistance underlying obesity? Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2012;19(2):81–7.
- 168. Hays NP, Galassetti PR, Coker RH. Prevention and treatment of type 2 diabetes: Current role of lifestyle, natural product, and pharmacological interventions. Pharmacol Ther [Internet]. 2008 May [cited 2016 Dec 23];118(2):181–91. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18423879
- 169. Li N, Fu J, Koonen DP, Kuivenhoven JA, Snieder H, Hofker MH. Are hypertriglyceridemia and low HDL causal factors in the development of insulin resistance? Atherosclerosis [Internet]. 2014 Mar [cited 2016 Dec 23];233(1):130–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24529133
- 170. Wilcox G. Insulin and insulin resistance. Clin Biochem Rev [Internet].
   2005;26(2):19–39. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16278749%5Cnhttp://www.pubmedcentr al.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC1204764
- 171. Makki K, Froguel P, Wolowczuk I. Adipose Tissue in Obesity-Related Inflammation and Insulin Resistance: Cells, Cytokines, and Chemokines. ISRN Inflamm [Internet]. 2013 Dec 22 [cited 2016 Dec 23];2013:1–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24455420
- Hunter SJ, Garvey WT. Insulin action and insulin resistance: diseases involving defects in insulin receptors, signal transduction, and the glucose transport effector system. Am J Med [Internet]. 1998 Oct [cited 2016 Dec 24];105(4):331–45. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9809695
- 173. Davis CL, Pollock NK, Waller JL, Allison JD, Dennis BA, Boyle CA, et al. Exercise Dose and Diabetes Risk in Overweight and Obese Children. 2012;308(11):1103–12.
- 174. Sjaarda LA, Michaliszyn SF, Lee S, Tfayli H, Bacha F, Farchoukh L, et al. HbA1c diagnostic categories and beta-cell function relative to insulin sensitivity in overweight/obese adolescents. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(12):2559– 63.
- 175. Dohm GL. Invited review: Regulation of skeletal muscle GLUT-4 expression by exercise. J Appl Physiol [Internet]. 2002 Aug 1 [cited 2016 Dec 24];93(2):782–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12133892
- Schenk S, Saberi M, Olefsky JM. Insulin sensitivity: Modulation by nutrients and inflammation [Internet]. Vol. 118, Journal of Clinical Investigation. American Society for Clinical Investigation; 2008 [cited 2016 Dec 24]. p. 2992–3002. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18769626
- 177. Cusi K. The Role of Adipose Tissue and Lipotoxicity in the Pathogenesis of Type 2 Diabetes. Curr Diab Rep [Internet]. 2010 Aug 18 [cited 2016 Dec

24];10(4):306–15. Available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20556549

- 178. Kurtoglu S, Hatipoglu N, Mazcoglu M, Kendirci M, Keskin M, Kondolot M. Insulin resistance in obese children and adolescents: HOMA-IR cut-off levels in the prepubertal and pubertal periods. JCRPE J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. 2010;2(3):100–6.
- 179. Peplies J, Börnhorst C, Günther K, Fraterman A, Russo P, Veidebaum T, et al. Longitudinal associations of lifestyle factors and weight status with insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) in preadolescent children: the large prospective cohort study IDEFICS. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2016;13(1):97. Available from: http://ijbnpa.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12966-016-0424-4
- 180. Kahn SE. The relative contributions of insulin resistance and beta-cell dysfunction to the pathophysiology of Type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia [Internet]. 2003 Jan 11 [cited 2016 Dec 23];46(1):3–19. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12637977
- 181. Kahn SE. The importance of the beta-cell in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Med [Internet]. 2000 [cited 2016 Dec 24];108(s6a):2S-8S. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/labs/articles/10764844/
- 182. CDA Clinical Practice Guidelines. Type 2 Diabetes in Children and Adolescents. Can J Diabetes [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2016 Dec 24];37:S341–2. Available from: http://guidelines.diabetes.ca/browse/chapter35
- 183. Cheng AYY. Canadian Diabetes Association 2013 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada. Introduction. Can J diabetes [Internet]. 2013 Apr [cited 2016 Dec 24];37:S1–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24070926
- 184. Lee JM, Okumura MJ, Davis MM, Herman WH, Gurney JG. Prevalence and Determinants of Insulin Resistance Among U.S. Adolescents: A populationbased study. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2006 Nov 1 [cited 2016 Dec 24];29(11):2427–32. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17065679
- 185. Ten S, Maclaren N. Insulin Resistance Syndrome in Children [Internet]. 2004 Jun [cited 2016 Dec 24] p. 2526–39. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15181020
- 186. Srinivasan SR, Myers L, Berenson GS. Predictability of childhood adiposity and insulin for developing insulin resistance syndrome (syndrome X) in young adulthood: The Bogalusa Heart Study. Diabetes [Internet]. 2002 Jan [cited 2016 Dec 24];51(1):204–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11756342
- 187. Jéquier E, Tappy L. Regulation of body weight in humans. Physiol Rev [Internet]. 1999 Apr [cited 2016 Dec 24];79(2):451–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10221987
- 188. Giorgino F, Laviola L, Eriksson J. Regional differences of insulin action in adipose tissue: insights from in vivo and in vitro studies. Acta Physiol Scand. 2005;183:13–30.
- 189. Perseghin G, Petersen K, Shulman GI. Cellular mechanism of insulin resistance: potential links with inflammation. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2003 Dec [cited 2016 Dec 24];27:S6–11. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14704736
- 190. Ling JCY, Mohamed MNA, Jalaludin MY, Rampal S, Zaharan NL, Mohamed Z. Determinants of High Fasting Insulin and Insulin Resistance Among

Overweight/Obese Adolescents. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2017 Aug 16];6(October):36270. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/srep36270.pdf

- 191. Lee JM, Okumura MJ, Davis MM, Herman WH, Gurney JG. Prevalence and determinants of insulin resistance among U.S. adolescents: A population-based study. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(11):2427–32.
- 192. Reinehr T, de Sousa G, Toschke AM, Andler W. Long-term follow-up of cardiovascular disease risk factors in children after an obesity intervention. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006;84(1):490–6.
- 193. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski a S, Naylor B a, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia. 1985;28(7):412–9.
- 194. Katz A, Nambi SS, Mather K, Baron AD, Follmann DA, Sullivan G, et al. Quantitative Insulin Sensitivity Check Index : A Simple, Accurate Method for Assessiong Insulin Sensitivity In Humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(7):2402–10.
- 195. Keskin M, Kurtoglu S, Kendirci M, Atabek ME, Yazici C. Homeostasis Model Assessment Is More Reliable Than the Fasting Glucose/Insulin Ratio and Quantitative Insulin Sensitivity Check Index for Assessing Insulin Resistance Among Obese Children and Adolescents. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2005 Apr 1 [cited 2017 Sep 20];115(4):e500–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15741351
- 196. Singh A, Singh S, Singh N, Agrawal N, Gopal K. Obesity and Dyslipidemia. 2011;2(3):824–8.
- 197. Zavaroni I, Dall'Aglio E, Alpi O, Bruschi F, Bonora E, Pezzarossa A, et al. Evidence for an independent relationship between plasma insulin and concentration of high density lipoprotein cholesterol and triglyceride. Atherosclerosis [Internet]. 1985 Jun [cited 2016 Dec 25];55(3):259–66. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3893447
- 198. Sadur UN, Yost TJ, Eckel RH. Insulin responsiveness of adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase is delayed but preserved in obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 1984 Dec [cited 2016 Dec 25];59(6):1176–82. Available from: http://press.endocrine.org/doi/10.1210/jcem-59-6-1176
- 199. Singh A, Singh S, Singh N, Agrawal N, Gopal K, Feingold K, et al. Obesity and Dyslipidemia. 2011;2(3):824–8.
- 200. Mendis S, Puska P, Norrving B. Global Atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control. World Heal Organ Geneva [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2016 Dec 24];162(3):164. Available from: http://www.world-heartfederation.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/images/CVD\_Health/Global\_CVD\_Atlas .pdf
- 201. Grundy SM. What is the contribution of obesity to the metabolic syndrome? [Internet]. Vol. 33, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America.
  2004 [cited 2016 Dec 25]. p. 267–82. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15158519
- 202. McGill Jr. HC, McMahan CA, Zieske AW, Malcom GT, Tracy RE, Strong JP. Effects of nonlipid risk factors on atherosclerosis in youth with a favorable lipoprotein profile. Circulation [Internet]. 2001 Mar 20 [cited 2016 Dec 24];103(11):1546–50. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11257083

- 203. Kavey R-EW. American Heart Association Guidelines for Primary Prevention of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Beginning in Childhood. Circulation [Internet]. 2003 Mar 25 [cited 2016 Dec 24];107(11):1562–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12654618
- 204. Cuomo S, Guarini P, Gaeta G, De Michele M, Boeri F, Dorn J, et al. Increased carotid intima-media thickness in children-adolescents, and young adults with a parental history of premature myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J [Internet].
  2002 [cited 2016 Dec 24];23(17):1345–50. Available from: http://www.idealibrary.com
- 205. McGill HC, McMahan CA, Zieske AW, Sloop GD, Walcott J V, Troxclair DA, et al. Associations of Coronary Heart Disease Risk Factors With the Intermediate Lesion of Atherosclerosis in Youth. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol [Internet]. 2000 Aug [cited 2017 Jan 25];20(8):1998–2004. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10938023
- 206. Newman WP, Freedman DS, Voors AW, Gard PD, Srinivasan SR, Cresanta JL, et al. Relation of serum lipoprotein levels and systolic blood pressure to early atherosclerosis. The Bogalusa Heart Study. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1986 Jan 16 [cited 2017 Jan 25];314(3):138–44. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3455748
- 207. Berenson GS, Srinivasan SR, Bao W, Newman WP, Tracy RE, Wattigney WA. Association between Multiple Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Atherosclerosis in Children and Young Adults. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1998 Jun 4 [cited 2017 Jan 25];338(23):1650–6. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJM199806043382302
- 208. Pacifico L, Bonci E, Andreoli G, Romaggioli S, Di Miscio R, Lombardo C V, et al. Association of serum triglyceride-to-HDL cholesterol ratio with carotid artery intima-media thickness, insulin resistance and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in children and adolescents. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2017 Sep 20];24(7):737–43. Available from: https://journals-scholarsportal-

info.proxy.library.brocku.ca/pdf/09394753/v24i0007/737\_aosterldicaa.xml

- 209. Luz PL da, Favarato D, Faria-Neto Junior JR, Lemos P, Chagas ACP. High ratio of triglycerides to hdl-cholesterol predicts extensive coronary disease. Clinics [Internet]. 2008;63(4):427–32. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci\_arttext&pid=S1807-59322008000400003&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=en
- 210. Quijada Z, Paoli M, Zerpa Y, Camacho N, Cichetti R, Villarroel V, et al. The triglyceride/HDL-cholesterol ratio as a marker of cardiovascular risk in obese children; association with traditional and emergent risk factors. Pediatr Diabetes. 2008;9(5):464–71.
- 211. Giannini C, Santoro N, Caprio S, Kim G, Lartaud D, Shaw M, et al. The triglyceride-to-HDL cholesterol ratio: Association with insulin resistance in obese youths of different ethnic backgrounds. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(8):1869– 74.
- 212. Di Bonito P, Moio N, Scilla C, Cavuto L, Sibilio G, Sanguigno E, et al. Usefulness of the high triglyceride-to-HDL cholesterol ratio to identify cardiometabolic risk factors and preclinical signs of organ damage in outpatient children. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2016 Dec 24];35(1):158–62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22040842
- 213. Hannon TS, Bacha F, Lee SJ, Janosky J, Arslanian SA. Use of markers of

dyslipidemia to identify overweight youth with insulin resistance. Pediatr Diabetes. 2006;7(5):260–6.

- 214. Iwani NAKZ, Jalaludin MY, Zin RMWM, Fuziah MZ, Hong JYH, Abqariyah Y, et al. Triglyceride to HDL-C Ratio is Associated with Insulin Resistance in Overweight and Obese Children. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2017;7(November 2016):40055. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/srep40055
- 215. Alere Cholestech LDX. Alere Cholestech LDX [Internet]. Alere Cholestech LDX. 2013. Available from: https://www.alere.com/en/home/product-details/cholestech-ldx-system.html
- 216. Kelley GA, Kelley KS, Roberts S, Haskell W. Combined effects of aerobic exercise and diet on lipids and lipoproteins in overweight and obese adults: A meta-analysis. J Obes. 2012;2012(1).
- 217. Ford AL, Hunt LP, Cooper A, Shield JPH. What reduction in BMI SDS is required in obese adolescents to improve body composition and cardiometabolic health? Arch Dis Child [Internet]. 2010;95(4):256–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19966092
- 218. Mokha JS, Srinivasan SR, Dasmahapatra P, Fernandez C, Chen W, Xu J, et al. Utility of waist-to-height ratio in assessing the status of central obesity and related cardiometabolic risk profile among normal weight and overweight/obese children: the Bogalusa Heart Study. BMC Pediatr [Internet]. 2010;10(1):73. Available from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2431/10/73
- 219. Lappe JM, Rafferty KA, Davies KM, Lypaczewski G. Girls on a high-calcium diet gain weight at the same rate as girls on a normal diet: A pilot study. J Am Diet Assoc. 2004;104(9):1361–7.
- 220. Weaver CM. Role of dairy beverages in the diet. Physiol Behav [Internet]. 2010;100(1):63–6. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2010.01.020
- 221. Marette A, Picard-Deland E. Yogurt consumption and impact on health: Focus on children and cardiometabolic risk. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014;99(5).

## APPENDICES

Appendix A – Ethics Clearance



Brock University Research Ethics Office Tel: 905-688-5550 ext. 3035 Email: reb@brocku.ca

**Bioscience Research Ethics Board** 

Certificate of Ethics Clearance for Human Participant Research

DATE:	7/17/2015		
PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR:	JOSSE, Andrea - Kinesiology		
CO-INVESTIGATORS:	Nota Klentrou, Bareket Falk, Wendy Ward, Sandra Sacco		
FILE:	14-284 - JOSSE		
TYPE:	Faculty Research	STUDENT:	Rozalia Kouvelioti

TITLE: Effects of a weight management intervention with increased dairy intake on body composition and bone health in overweight and obese girls

## ETHICS CLEARANCE GRANTED

Type of Clearance: NEW Expiry Date: 7/29/2016

The Brock University Bioscience Research Ethics Board has reviewed the above named research proposal and considers the procedures, as described by the applicant, to conform to the University's ethical standards and the Tri-Council Policy Statement. Clearance granted from 7/17/2015 to 7/29/2016.

The Tri-Council Policy Statement requires that ongoing research be monitored by, at a minimum, an annual report. Should your project extend beyond the expiry date, you are required to submit a Renewal form before 7/29/2016. Continued clearance is contingent on timely submission of reports.

To comply with the Tri-Council Policy Statement, you must also submit a final report upon completion of your project. All report forms can be found on the Research Ethics web page at <u>http://www.brocku.ca/research/policies-and-forms/research-forms</u>.

In addition, throughout your research, you must report promptly to the REB:

- a) Changes increasing the risk to the participant(s) and/or affecting significantly the conduct of the study;
- b) All adverse and/or unanticipated experiences or events that may have real or potential unfavourable implications for participants;
- New information that may adversely affect the safety of the participants or the conduct of the study;
- d) Any changes in your source of funding or new funding to a previously unfunded project.

We wish you success with your research.

Approved:

Brian Roy, Chair Bioscience Research Ethics Board

<u>Note:</u> Brock University is accountable for the research carried out in its own jurisdiction or under its auspices and may refuse certain research even though the REB has found it ethically acceptable.

If research participants are in the care of a health facility, at a school, or other institution or community organization, it is the responsibility of the Principal Investigator to ensure that the ethical guidelines and clearance of those facilities or institutions are obtained and filed with the REB prior to the initiation of research at that site.